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SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Background

The role of the Board and management

Spark Infrastructure was listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (“ASX”) in December 2005. Spark Infrastructure’s
particular legal framework and structure are important to
understanding its governance framework. Spark Infrastructure
comprises three companies and a trust, the securities of which are
stapled together. The companies are Spark Infrastructure Holdings
No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited and
Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited. The trust is
Spark Infrastructure Trust. These entities are referred to as the
“Stapled Entities”. A share in each of the companies, a unit in
Spark Infrastructure Trust and a loan note issued by the responsible
entity for Spark Infrastructure Trust are each “stapled” together
to form the “Stapled Securities” of Spark Infrastructure which
trade on the ASX effectively as one security. Spark Infrastructure
is managed by Spark Infrastructure Management Limited
(“Manager”). The Manager and Spark Infrastructure RE Limited
(the responsible entity of Spark Infrastructure Trust) are ultimately
owned 50% each by Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(“CKI”) and (“RREEF”) Infrastructure, which is ultimately owned
by Deutsche Bank AG. Under the Management Agreement, the
Manager is contracted, for a fee, to provide management services
to Spark Infrastructure including making available appropriately
qualified individuals to perform the functions allocated to the
Manager under the Management Agreement.

Spark Infrastructure has adopted a Board Charter which sets out
the functions and responsibilities of the Board and the role of
the Manager. Spark Infrastructure’s Board Charter is available on the
Spark Infrastructure website. The role of the Board is to optimise Spark
Infrastructure’s performance and to increase securityholder wealth. In
doing so its responsibilities include monitoring financial performance
and prudent capital management, overseeing the activities of Spark
Infrastructure and its policies and practices, overseeing the operation
of the Spark Infrastructure’s system of internal controls and risk
management, monitoring the performance of the Manager, and
reporting to securityholders. The role of the Manager is to provide
management services to Spark Infrastructure including making
available appropriately qualified individuals to perform the functions
allocated to the Manager under the Management Agreement. Under
the terms of the Management Agreement, the Manager manages each
of Spark Infrastructure Group’s investments including all decisions
other than those reserved to the Board as set out in the Board Charter.
Spark Infrastructure does not have senior executives. Other than
review of performance of the Chief Executive Officer of the Manager
pursuant to the Board Charter, the performance evaluation of staff is
the responsibility of the Manager. The Board reviews annually the
performance of the CEO of the Manager.

Corporate Governance
The Board is responsible for Spark Infrastructure’s corporate
governance including its policies and charters. Spark Infrastructure’s
corporate governance policies were set out in its Prospectus/
Product Disclosure Statement document and are regularly
reviewed by the Board. The key elements of Spark Infrastructure’s
governance framework are set out below. Spark Infrastructure
has set out its governance framework with reference to the
revised ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and Recommendations (August 2007)
(“Guidelines”). For ease of reference below, the term the “Board”
is used in reference to the Boards of Spark Infrastructure Holdings
No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited,
Spark Infrastructure RE Limited as responsible entity for Spark
Infrastructure Trust and Spark Infrastructure Holdings International
Limited. Where a particular entity has different arrangements from
those described, this is mentioned specifically.

Composition of the Board
The Board of Spark Infrastructure is comprised of a majority of
independent directors.
Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure
Holdings No. 2 Limited and Spark Infrastructure RE Limited share
common directors comprised of two CKI representatives, two RREEF
Infrastructure representatives and five independent Directors. In
the case of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, Spark
Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited and Spark Infrastructure Holdings
International Limited, Stapled securityholders elect the independent
directors and the Manager appoints the representatives of CKI and
RREEF Infrastructure through a special voting share which grants
the right to appoint one less than half of the maximum number of
Directors. In the case of Spark Infrastructure RE Limited, CKI and RREEF
Infrastructure have the right to appoint all of the directors. CKI and
RREEF Infrastructure have undertaken to ensure that all of the Directors
of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure
Holdings No. 2 Limited, Spark Infrastructure RE Limited, and to the
extent relevant, Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited are
common. Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited currently
has three directors, an independent director, a CKI representative
and a RREEF Infrastructure representative. The Directors of Spark
Infrastructure Holdings International Limited are Stephen Johns,
Timothy Keith and Andrew Hunter. The Board composition of Spark
Infrastructure Holdings International Limited is of an interim nature and
will be reviewed once a decision is made to acquire an offshore asset.
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The Chairman of the Board, Stephen Johns, is an independent Director.
The role of the Chairman is not combined with the Chief Executive
Officer of the Manager, and may not be so under the Board Charter.
Stephen Johns, Don Morley, Cheryl Bart, Anne McDonald and Keith
Turner are independent Directors.
Hing Lam Kam and Andrew Hunter are the CKI representatives
and Timothy Keith and John Dorrian are the RREEF Infrastructure
representatives. The independent directors bring a broad range of
expertise, skills and experience from diverse backgrounds including
those appropriate to the activities of Spark Infrastructure. The CKI and
RREEF Infrastructure representatives on the Board bring vital expertise
and resources for Spark Infrastructure to fulfil its investment mandate.
In addition, Spark Infrastructure maintains internal procedures to
guide the Board in considering transactions that involve CKI or RREEF
Infrastructure whether directly in an acquisition or disposal or indirectly
such as through co-participation in a transaction or appointment as
adviser for the purposes of a transaction. The procedures set out
how the Board considers and votes on such matters and reinforce the
obligation of directors to avoid conflicts of interest.
The composition of the Board provides an appropriate balance of skills
and experience with the additional rigour and assurance provided by a
majority of independent directors. Each Director brings skills relevant
to the successful conduct of the Spark Infrastructure business. These
include, on a combined basis, experience in infrastructure, financial
analysis and reporting skills, knowledge of the asset companies,
experience in corporate activity such as mergers, acquisitions and
structuring of transactions, experience in corporate governance
and disclosure matters, experience in financial services and licence
obligations. The qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
of directors together with their appointment dates are set out in the
Directors’ Report.

Independence of directors
Spark Infrastructure has adopted the definition of independence from
the Guidelines. Spark Infrastructure believes that all of its directors
act independently in the best interests of Spark Infrastructure. Each
director regularly notifies and discloses to the Board their interests
including any matter relating to their independence. Directors’
stapled security holdings are set out in the Directors’ Report. The
Board operates independently of management and the directors
meet independently of management from time to time, as deemed
appropriate. The independent directors are identified above and full
details including their term as a director are set out in the Directors’
Report. Details of related party transactions are set out in note 35 to
the Financial Statements.

Appointment and election of Board members
Given the size, structure and nature of Spark Infrastructure, the
Board has not established a Nomination Committee. The role and
responsibilities typically delegated to a Nomination Committee are
undertaken by the Board. As stated above Stapled Securityholders
elect the independent directors to the Board and the Manager appoints
the representatives of CKI and RREEF Infrastructure through a special
voting share. Where the requirement to appoint an independent
director arises or a vacancy exists for an independent director, the
Board identifies candidates with the appropriate skills, expertise and
experience to fulfil the role. The Board may use external consultants
to assist it. The nominated candidate is then appointed by the
Board but must stand for election by Stapled Securityholders at the
next annual general meeting. Further details of the nomination and
appointment process for the independent directors is described in
Spark Infrastructure’s Board Charter which is available on the Spark
Infrastructure website.
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The process for re-election of a director is in accordance with
company’s constitution which includes a process of rotation requiring
that at each annual general meeting any director holding office for
three years or more or if no director is due to stand for re-election the
longest serving director, must retire and stand for re-election. Directors
appointed during the year must retire and stand for election. The
Board assesses the performance of each director due to stand for reelection before each annual general meeting and decides whether to
recommend to Stapled Securityholders that they vote in favour of the
re-election of each director.
Spark Infrastructure has letters of appointment with its directors
that set out the key terms and conditions of appointment. The letter of
appointment states that, with the approval of the Chairman, Directors
may seek independent professional advice at the expense of the
relevant company within Spark Infrastructure, on any matter connected
with the discharge of a director’s responsibilities as a member of
the Board.

Board meetings
The number of board meetings and directors’ attendance at each
meeting is set out in the Directors’ Report. Directors are expected to
devote appropriate time to preparing for each meeting and to attend
and participate at scheduled Board and committee meetings.
Directors are also invited to attend site visits of the asset companies.
From time to time the Board holds a meeting of directors at the
location of its investments to coincide with a board meeting of the
relevant asset company. This gives directors the opportunity to meet
with management of the asset companies and to enhance their
understanding of the businesses and their stakeholders.

Performance of the Board, committees and
individual directors
Under the Board Charter, the Board is required to review its own
performance, the performance of individual directors and the
performance of Board committees, at least annually. A description
of Spark Infrastructure’s performance evaluation process is available
on the Spark Infrastructure website.
The Board conducts an annual evaluation of the performance and
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its committees. Performance
of each committee is discussed at first instance by the Committee
with the results report to and reviewed by the Board as part of
its overall Board performance assessment. Results of the Board’s
evaluation including quantitative and qualitative analysis are compiled
independently with the aggregate results reported to the Chairman
for review and discussion with the Board. The Chairman separately
discusses individual performance with each director from time to time.
A Board and committee evaluation process has taken place for the
relevant year in accordance with the process outlined in
this statement.

Induction and continuing education
The Board with management provides an orientation program for
new directors including discussions with management and provision
of relevant material. Management from time to time provides
presentations to the Board to afford directors the opportunity to
understand specific issues and their impact on the business. Directors
also independently maintain their own knowledge and specific skills.
Directors have unfettered access to management. The Company
Secretary of Spark Infrastructure provides support and advice to the
Board and is responsible for the corporate governance framework on
a day to day basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued

Promote Ethical and responsible decision
making
Spark Infrastructure is committed to high standards of ethics and
conduct on the part of its directors and employees of the Manager.
Spark Infrastructure has established a Code of Conduct that applies
to both directors and employees of the Manager. The Code of Conduct
states Spark Infrastructure’s key objectives to include: to maintain and
optimise the performance of the portfolio of assets according to agreed
criteria over time, to grow the fund portfolio of businesses in line with
a well-defined strategy; to maintain the market positioning of Spark
Infrastructure Group, and to maintain best practice compliance and
governance standards.
The Code of Conduct covers matters such as responsibility to Stapled
Securityholders, honesty and fairness, compliance with the regulatory
environment, responsibility to the community, responsibilities to third
parties and reporting of unethical behaviour. Spark Infrastructure’s
Code of Conduct is available on the website.

Conflicts of Interest and Trading Policy
Spark Infrastructure’s Code of Conduct requires directors and
employees of the Manager to avoid conflicts of interest and where
a conflict arises to ensure it is appropriately disclosed.
Directors are expected to avoid any matter that conflicts with an
interest of Spark Infrastructure. Directors are required to disclose
their material personal interests relating to Spark Infrastructure
including any matter that may conflict with their duties as a director
of the Board. This is an ongoing obligation. Directors comply with
the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) regarding matters
of material personal interest. In addition, directors and employees
of the Manager are subject to the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
restrictions on dealing in securities if they are in possession of inside
information. Spark has also adopted a Trading Policy which applies
to directors of Spark Infrastructure and employees of the Manager.
Directors and employees of the Manager are prohibited from trading
in Spark Infrastructure stapled securities during prescribed blackout
periods prior to release of the Stapled Entities half year and full year
results announcements. In addition, directors and certain employees
of the Manager are required to notify their intention to trade in
stapled securities prior to trading at other times outside the blackout
periods. Spark Infrastructure’s Trading Policy is available on Spark
Infrastructure’s website.

Related party transactions
Due to its structure, Spark Infrastructure may have related party
transactions during any year. These transactions are consistent with
the terms of the Management Agreement and Spark Infrastructure’s
constituent documents. Full details of Related Party Disclosures are set
out in Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

Board and committee operations
To assist it to carry out its responsibilities the Board has
established an Audit and Risk Management Committee and a
Compliance Committee. The Board has adopted charters setting
out the requirements regarding membership of the committee,
responsibilities and other administrative matters.
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Audit & Risk Management Committee
Spark Infrastructure’s Audit and Risk Management Committee
comprises three independent directors and two non executive director
members. There are no executive members of the Committee.
The Committee’s independent chair is not the Chairman of the Board.
The standard adopted by the Board for independence is consistent with
the Guidelines. The Audit & Risk Management Charter is available on
the Spark Infrastructure website.
The members of the Audit & Risk Management Committee are
Don Morley (Chairman), Cheryl Bart, Anne McDonald, Andrew
Hunter and John Dorrian. The skills and experience of Audit & Risk
Management Committee members is set out in the Directors’ Report,
including their financial background and proficiency.
The Audit & Risk Management Committee’s role and responsibilities
are set out in its Charter. The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible
for the oversight of management in the preparation of the financial
statements and financial disclosures. In doing so, the Audit &
Risk Management Committee relies on information provided by
management and the external auditor.
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is responsible for the
selection, evaluation and remuneration of the external auditor
together with assessment of the external auditor’s independence.
The Committee meets with the external auditor without management
present at least twice per annum to allow an opportunity to discuss
any matters that the Committee or the external auditor believes should
be discussed privately. The Audit & Risk Management Committee
ensures that the audit partner rotates at least every five years in
accordance with the External Auditor procedures approved by the
Board. The External Auditor Procedure is available on the Spark
Infrastructure website.
The Manager is responsible for providing the internal function
under the terms of the Management Agreement. The Audit & Risk
Management Committee is responsible for assessing the performance
of the internal audit function and its independence from management.
The Committee meets at least annually with the internal auditor
independent of management to discuss any matters that the
Committee or internal auditor feel require discussion.
The Board is responsible for overseeing the processes in place to
manage risk. It has delegated the detailed performance of this function
to the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Committee and
the Board have both approved Spark Infrastructure’s Risk Management
Policy. A summary of Spark Infrastructure’s Risk Management Policy is
available on Spark Infrastructure’s website.
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is responsible for review
and oversight of the risk profile of Spark Infrastructure within the
context of the risk appetite, as determined by the Board. The Audit
& Risk Management Committee receives regular reports from
management on its risk management plans and ongoing assessment
of the risk profile.
Specifically, the Audit & Risk Management Committee is responsible
for reviewing and assessing Spark Infrastructure’s internal control
and risk management systems and processes. The Committee
must assess the internal process for determining and managing
key operational risk areas. The Committee must also review the
effectiveness of the risk management system and ensure that major
financial and non-financial risks are monitored and updated regularly
and reported, at least annually, to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued
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Compliance Committee

Remuneration of directors

The Compliance Committee has been established to satisfy the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the Spark
Infrastructure Trust. A Compliance Committee must have at least three
members a majority of whom are external. The Compliance Committee
comprises a total of four members - two external members, one of
whom is the chair, plus an independent director of the Board and an
executive member. The Compliance Committee also forms part of the
risk management strategy of Spark Infrastructure to mitigate its legal
and compliance risk. The Compliance Committee is responsible for the
oversight of compliance activities for Spark Infrastructure including
license compliance and the obligations under the Compliance Plan for
the Spark Infrastructure Trust.
The Compliance Committee meets at least four times each year and
reports regularly to the Board. The independent director member
of the Compliance Committee is also a member of the Audit & Risk
Management Committee. Details of Audit & Risk Management
Committee and Compliance Committee meetings and attendance
by members are set out in the Director’s Report.

The maximum aggregate fees payable to directors is $2,000,000
per annum. Any increase to this limit must be approved by Stapled
Securityholders at an annual general meeting. The remuneration
of each director is set out in the Remuneration Report in the
Directors’ Report.
The Board has not established a Remuneration Committee. Given
the limited exposure to remuneration expenses, the Board does not
consider it necessary or appropriate to establish a Remuneration
Committee. Spark Infrastructure does not have an equity compensation
scheme in place for its directors and there are no retirement benefit
schemes in existence. The directors’ fees are reviewed annually
by the Board. Fees and payments to directors reflect the demands
and responsibilities of directors. The remuneration of directors and
the Board remuneration policy is set out at pages 16-17 of the
Directors’ Report.

Continuous Disclosure
Spark Infrastructure seeks to ensure that Stapled Securityholders and
the financial markets generally are informed of all major developments
that impact its business. The Board has established a Disclosure Policy
which is available on the Spark Infrastructure website.
Spark Infrastructure’s Disclosure Policy together with supporting
procedures are designed to ensure compliance with the ASX
Listing Rule 3.1 and all other laws about disclosure, compliance
with Corporations Act requirements for financial reporting and
securityholder meetings, and prompt and transparent communications
in all respects, especially with regard to financial results.

Communicating with Stapled Securityholders
Spark Infrastructure aims to communicate openly, honestly and on
a timely basis with its Stapled Securityholders. Spark Infrastructure
has developed a Stapled Securityholder Communication Policy.
Spark Infrastructure’s website also contains information designed
to assist Stapled Securityholders to understand Spark Infrastructure
and keep abreast of latest developments. For example, all ASX
announcements are posted on the Spark Infrastructure website, as are
web-casts of briefings to analysts and annual general meetings. Spark
Infrastructure’s Stapled Securityholder Communication Policy
is available on Spark Infrastructure’s website.
In order to respond to Stapled Securityholders Spark Infrastructure
has developed a Fact Book. The Fact Book is published on the Spark
Infrastructure website in addition to the Shareholder Review, Financial
Statements and Annual Report. The notice of annual general meeting
details the business to be considered by stapled securityholders and
details of each candidate standing for election or re-election as a
director. For securityholders unable to attend, the meeting will be
webcast.
The external auditor of Spark Infrastructure will attend all annual
general meetings of Spark Infrastructure and will be available to
answer stapled securityholders’ questions about the conduct of
the audit and the preparation and content of the Auditor’s Report.

Performance and Remuneration of senior
executives
Spark Infrastructure does not have senior executives. One of the
responsibilities of the Manager under the Management Agreement
is to make available senior executives to the Stapled Entities. Spark
Infrastructure pays the Manager a management fee disclosed in
Note 36 to the Financial Statements which is calculated by reference
to the enterprise value of Spark Infrastructure and its performance as
a listed structure with no reference to the remuneration paid to senior
executives of the Manager. The Manager is responsible for and must
bear the continued costs incurred by it in providing the management
services, including staff costs. On the basis of this structure, the
remuneration details of individuals employed by the Manager are not
disclosed in the financial reports. The Manager does not pay equity
based compensation to its staff.
It is the Manager’s responsibility to ensure that an appropriate
performance management framework is in place for its employees.
The Board will separately review the performance of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Manager at least annually pursuant to the
Board Charter.

Meeting the Guidelines (ASX Corporate
Governance Committee Principles)
Spark Infrastructure has complied with the Guidelines to the extent
outlined in this statement. Where specific exceptions are noted, an
explanation for non compliance has been provided.
Pursuant to Recommendation 7.2 of the Guidelines, management has
reported to the Board on the effectiveness of Spark Infrastructure’s
management of its material business risks.
Pursuant to Recommendation 7.3 of the Guidelines, the Board has
received the declarations under section 295A of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth) and assurances from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Manager that those declarations are founded
on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that
the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation
to financial reporting risks.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited (“SIH No. 1” or “Company”) as the parent entity of Spark Infrastructure provide
this financial report for the year ended 31 December 2009 (“Financial Year”) for the following entities:
• SIH No. 1 and its controlled entities;
• Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited (“SIH No. 2”) and its controlled entities;
• Spark Infrastructure Trust (“Spark Trust”); and
• Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited (“Spark International”)
(together the above entities form “Spark Infrastructure”)
In order to comply with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate director for Mr Kam).
The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are provided below:
Mr Stephen Johns BEc, FCA
Chairman and independent director (since November 2005)
Mr Johns had a long executive career with Westfield where he held a
number of positions including that of Finance Director from 1985 to 2002.
He was appointed an executive Director of Westfield Holdings Limited
and Westfield Trust in 1985 and Westfield America Trust upon its listing
in 1996. He became a non-executive Director of the three Westfield
boards in October 2003. He is currently a non-executive Director of the
Westfield Group, which resulted from the merger of the three listed
entities in July 2004.
Mr Johns was a non-executive Director of Brambles Industries Limited
and Brambles Industries plc from August 2004 to December 2006, at
which time he became a non-executive Director of Brambles Limited,
the new holding company of the Brambles Group following a corporate
reorganisation which became effective in December 2006.
Mr Johns was appointed to the Board of Leighton Holdings Limited on
21 December 2009.
He is also a Director of Sydney Symphony Limited.
Mr Johns has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Brambles Limited
Westfield Group:
– Westfield Holdings Limited
– Westfield America Trust (Director
of responsible entity, Westfield
America Management Limited)
– Westfield Trust (Director
of responsible entity, Westfield
Management Limited)
Leighton Holdings Limited

August 2006 to current
November 1985 to current

February 1996 to current

November 1985 to current
21 December 2009 to current

Ms Cheryl Bart AO, BCom, LLB, FAICD
Independent director (since November 2005)
Ms Bart is a lawyer and has been a non-executive Director on the
board of ETSA Utilities (“ETSA”) since 1995.
She has significant utilities industry experience and is Chairman
of the Audit Committee of ETSA and a member of its Risk and
Compliance Committee.
Ms Bart is Chairman of ANZ Trustees Limited, the Environment
Protection Authority (EPA), the South Australian Film Corporation, the
Adelaide Film Festival and the Adelaide Film Festival Investment Fund
and Deputy Chair of the Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation.
Her other current directorship positions include the William Buckland
Foundation and Global Properties Limited.
Her previous directorships include the Economic Development Board
(SA), Sydney Ports Corporation, the Australian Sports Foundation,
Soccer Australia, the Information Economy Advisory Board and Defence
Industries Advisory Board (DIAB).
Ms Bart is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
(“ARMC”).
Ms Bart was awarded the Order of Australia in the Australia Day
Honours in January 2009.
Ms Bart has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Global Properties Limited
ANZ Trustees Limited

2004 to current
2006 to current

Directors’ Report continued

Mr John D Dorrian BA, FCA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since August 2007)
John Dorrian is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG, Head
of RREEF Alternative Investments Australia and Head of RREEF
Infrastructure Investments, Asia Pacific. RREEF is the alternative
investment management division of Deutsche Asset Management,
a member of the Deutsche Bank Group.
He is an Executive Director of Deutsche Asset Management (Australia)
Limited and a non executive director of a number of Australian
companies including, Australia Pacific Airports Corporation Limited,
CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”), the holding company of
CitiPower and Powercor Australia (“Powercor”), CitiPower, Powercor
and ETSA. He is also a director of DWS Global Agricultural Land and
Opportunities Fund Limited.
Mr Dorrian is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Dorrian has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Mr Andrew Hunter MA, MBA, MICAS, MHKICPA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2006)
Mr Hunter is currently an executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of Cheung Kong Infrastructure (“CKI”). In addition, he serves
as Chief Financial Officer of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited and is an
executive Director of Hong Kong Electric (Holdings) Limited.
Mr Hunter has more than 24 years experience in accounting and financial
management and holds a range of directorships in CKI related companies.
He is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
Mr Hunter was also an alternate Director for Mr Kam on the Spark
Infrastructure Group Boards up until 13 February 2009.
Mr Hunter is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Hunter has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Mr Hing Lam Kam BSc, MBA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2005)
Mr Kam has been Managing Director of CKI since its incorporation
in May 1996 and the Deputy Managing Director of Cheung Kong
(Holdings) Limited since February 1993. He has played a leading role in
developing the Cheung Kong Group’s corporate and strategic direction.
Mr Kam is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of CK Life
Sciences International (Holdings) Inc. and an executive Director of
Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Hong Kong Electric Holdings Limited.
In Australia, Mr Kam is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor,
ETSA and Aqua Tower.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

1999 to August 2007
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Ms Anne McDonald BEc, FCA
Independent Director (since January 2009)
Ms McDonald served as a partner of Ernst & Young for 15 years until
2005. She has broad based business and financial experience, gained
through working with a wide cross section of international and local
companies, assisting them with audit, transaction due diligence and
regulatory and accounting requirements. She was a Board member of
Ernst & Young Australia for 7 years.
Ms McDonald is a non-executive Director of listed entities, including
the GPT Group and Speciality Fashion Group Limited. She is also a
non-executive Director of Westpac Bank’s Life and General Insurance
businesses, St Vincent’s Health Australia and Health Super.
Ms McDonald is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower and Powercor. In
addition, she is Chairman of the Audit Committee of CHEDHA and a
member of its Risk and Compliance Committee.
Ms McDonald is a member of the ARMC and the Compliance
Committee.
Ms McDonald has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
GPT Group
Specialty Fashion Group Limited

2006 to current
2007 to current

Mr Don Morley BSc, MBA, Hon. FAustIMM
Independent Director (since November 2005)
Mr Morley is the Chairman of Alumina Limited (since 2002) and an
independent Director of Iluka Resources Limited (since 2002).
He was previously a Director of Finance at WMC Limited with over
30 years of service.
Mr Morley is the Chairman of the ARMC.
Mr Morley has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Alumina Limited
Iluka Resources Limited

2002 to current
2002 to current

Directors’ Report continued

Dr Keith Turner BE(Hons), ME, PhD ElecEng
Independent Director (since March 2009)
Dr Turner was appointed to the Spark Infrastructure Boards on
13 March 2009.
Dr Turner possesses extensive experience in the New Zealand energy
sector. Most recently, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Meridian
Energy Limited from 1999 to 2008. Prior to that, he worked as a
private energy expert advising a range of large corporate clients and
Government. He has previously served in a number of senior roles in
establishing Contact Energy, and in the Electricity Corporation of New
Zealand, and the New Zealand Electricity Department, as well as many
industry reform roles.
He is currently the Deputy Chairman of Auckland International Airport
and is Chairman of Flight Experience Group, Oceania Dairy Group and
Waitaki Wind.
Dr Turner was appointed as a Director of ETSA, CHEDHA, CitiPower
and Powercor on 17 November 2009. Prior to that, Dr Turner served
as a consultant to the Spark Infrastructure Board attending ETSA and
CHEDHA Board meetings by invitation from March 2009.
Dr Turner has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Auckland International Airport Limited 2004 to current
Mr Dominic Loi Shun Chan FCPA, FCCA
Alternate Director to Mr Hing Lam Kam (since December 2008)
Mr Chan currently is Chief Financial Officer of CKI and has over
20 years experience in the accounting profession.
In Australia, Mr Chan is a Director of Envestra Limited. He is an
alternate Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
In the UK, Mr Chan is a Director of Cambridge Water plc.
Mr Chan has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

2005 to current

spark infrastructure
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Mr Timothy B Keith BA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since March 2008 – resigned 15 March 2010)
Mr Keith is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG and the
Chief Executive Officer of RREEF Infrastructure and Private Equity
Investments, based in New York. He is responsible for managing
the global operations of these businesses for RREEF Alternative
Investments, which is the fiduciary investment operation within
Deutsche Asset Management.
Prior to taking this position, he was the Global Chief Investment Officer
of RREEF Infrastructure and Head of Business Development of RREEF
Alternative Investments and the co-chair of the RREEF Alternative
Assets Investment Committee. Formerly, Mr Keith was a partner of
RREEF America LLC prior to its acquisition by Deutsche Bank; Chief
Executive Officer of Cabot Industrial Trust after its privatisation and
de-listing; and Regional Vice President of Meridian Industrial Trust.
Mr Keith has over 14 years experience in the funds management
industry and managing public companies and over 20 years’ experience
in investment markets. He has specialised in real estate markets for
most of his career, with substantial experience in direct investments,
formation of long term operating partnerships, initial public offerings
and privatisations of public companies. He has had executive
management and investment roles in infrastructure for five years.
Mr Keith is a non-executive Director of Maher Terminals LLC.
Mr Keith has not held any directorships of any other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.

Company Secretary
Ms Alexandra Finley Dip Law, MLM
Ms Finley is an experienced corporate governance professional with
over 15 years legal and commercial experience gained in private
practice and in-house. Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, she spent
almost 10 years with National Australia Bank/MLC in various senior
legal and commercial roles, most recently as Company Secretary of
the MLC Group of Companies.
Ms Finley has extensive experience in the financial services sector
including mergers and acquisitions, risk management and regulatory
compliance and has held strategic, operational and management
roles. As a senior lawyer and senior associate in private practice, her
experience includes property and construction, banking and finance,
workplace relations and corporate advisory.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of Spark Infrastructure during the Financial Year
was investment in electricity distribution businesses in Victoria and
South Australia. There has been no change in the principal activity
during the Financial Year.

Stapled Securities
Spark Infrastructure Group is a stapled structure, wherein:
• one share in SIH No. 1;
• one share in SIH No. 2;
• one unit in Spark Trust;
• one Loan Note issued by the responsible entity of Spark Trust; and
• one CHESS Depositary Interest (“CDI”) representing one share in
Spark International
are “stapled” and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX”) as if they were a single security.

Directors’ Report continued
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Review of Operations
The table below provides a summary of key financial performance data:
		Change Compared
	Financial Year Ended 31 December
to Underlying 2008
Actual
2009
$’000

Underlying
2009
$’000

Underlying
2008
$’000

$’000

%

Interest Income from Associates
Share of Equity Accounted Profits

83,530
197,531

83,530
180,205

88,839
139,629

(5,309)
40,576

(6.0)
29.1

Other Income

281,061
2,292

263,735
2,292

228,468
3,945

35,267
(1,653)

15.4
(41.9)

Total Income
Management Fees
Interest Expense – Other
General and Administrative Expenses

283,353
(7,905)
(29,265)
(4,819)

266,027
(7,905)
(29,265)
(4,819)

232,413
(9,795)
(28,967)
(3,296)

33,614
1,890
(298)
(1,523)

14.5
19.3
(1.0)
(46.2)

241,364
(138,364)

224,038
(138,364)

190,355
(137,390)

33,683
(974)

17.7
(0.7)

Profit before Loan Note Interest and Performance Fee
Loan Note Interest (“LNI”)
Profit before Performance Fee
Performance Fee

103,000
–

85,674
–

52,965
(16,544)

32,709
16,544

61.8
100.0

Profit before Tax
Income Tax Benefit/(Expense)

103,000
19,548

85,674
(4,239)

36,421
(2,101)

49,253
(2,138)

135.2
(101.8)

Profit Attributable to Stapled Securityholders

122,548

81,435

34,320

47,115

137.3

23.79¢

22.08¢

18.87¢

3.21¢

17.0%

Operating Cash Flow including Investing Activities

196,923

196,923

181,877

15,046

8.3

Total distributions for the year (cents)
Total distributions for the year ($’000)

13.56¢
138,364

13.56¢
138,364

18.51¢
186,702

(4.95 ¢)
(48,338)

(26.7¢)
(25.9)

Net Capital Expenditure – Asset Companies (100%)

467,700

467,700

437,700

30,000

6.9

Profit per security before LNI and Performance Fee (cents)

Underlying Results
The underlying income and profit summary reflects the operating results of Spark Infrastructure by excluding certain non-cash and non-operating
items which do not relate to the respective year’s underlying performance. The Directors consider that the underlying results provide users of these
reports with a clearer explanation of Spark Infrastructure’s operating performance for the year. The following adjustments have been made to the
reported results for 2009 in order to calculate the underlying results (2008 figures have been provided for comparative purposes):
	Impact on Share 	Impact on Net Profit
after Tax Attributable
of Equity
Accounted Profit
to Securityholders
		
Underlying Adjustments		
‘Mark-to-Market’ gain/(loss) on value of financial instruments in the
Asset Companies which do not qualify for hedge accounting		
Income tax benefit in CHEDHA resulting from recognition of previously
non-depreciable assets as depreciable assets		
Income tax benefit/(expense) on items recognised directly in equity
in Spark No. 2 Group		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

17,326

(22,085)

17,311

(21,726)

–

18,278

–

12,795

–

–

23,802

(15,936)

17,326

(3,807)

41,113

(24,867)
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Underlying Profit
The Underlying Profit before Loan Note Interest and Performance Fee
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (“Current Year”) increased by
17.7% from $190,355,000 to $224,038,000 compared to the previous
year. The improved performance was a result of higher profits from the
Asset Companies.
Performance of the Asset Companies
The underlying share of equity accounted profit grew by 29.1% from
$139,629,000 to $180,205,000 in the Current Year.
In ETSA, the earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) increased by 16.0% from $538,410,000 to
$624,409,000. The increase in EBITDA was a result of increases in
both regulated and non-prescribed revenues. Prescribed or regulated
revenue increased by 5.2% from $511,624,000 to $538,467,000. This
increase was principally due to higher tariffs (“Duos”), which moved
up in line with the regulatory formula (ie. CPI), and higher residential
volumes. The total volume delivered increased by 0.6% from 11,379
GWh to 11,447 GWh in the Current Year.
Non-prescribed revenue, which includes customer contributions,
semi-regulated meter reading and the provision of construction
and maintenance services to third parties, grew by 11.8% from
$280,232,000 to $313,361,000. Customer contributions increased
by 57.4% from $107,044,000 to $168,471,000 principally as a result
of two large customer projects underway in South Australia being
the Desalination Plant and the Hardened Army project, while other
non-prescribed revenues decreased by 16.3% from $173,188,000 to
$144,890,000, due to a reduction in construction and maintenance
activity during the year, particularly in the resource sector.
Cash operating expenses decreased by 10.3% from $253,446,000 to
$227,419,000. This was largely due to a reduction in construction and
maintenance services costs and increased capitalisation of internal
costs to capital projects, partially offset by an increase in labour costs
including increased superannuation contributions.
In CHEDHA, EBITDA increased by 7.4% from $591,450,000 to
$635,497,000 largely as a result of increases in prescribed revenues,
including revenue recognised in relation to the rollout of Advanced
Metering Infrastructure. These revenue increases were partially offset
by an increase in operating costs.
During the current year, prescribed revenue increased by 9.4% from
$641,959,000 to $702,301,000, despite the total volume delivered
decreasing by 0.1% from 16,610 GWh to 16,587 GWh. Metering
related revenue, which has been classified as prescribed revenue,
increased from $28,318,000 in the prior year to $60,407,000 in the
current year, largely due to revenue increases flowing from the rollout
of Advanced Metering Infrastructure (ie. smart meters). Growth in
DuOS revenue exceeded volume growth due to a favourable change
in mix, with consumption increasing in the higher tariff segments.
Volumes increased in the domestic, small commercial and large low
voltage segments, offset by falls in the high voltage and
sub-transmission segments.
The non-prescribed revenue, which includes customer contributions,
semi-regulated activities and other unregulated revenue such as
the provision of network services to third parties, grew by 0.9%
from $205,961,000 to $207,878,000. Customer contribution revenue
increased by 4.9% from $87,617,000 to $91,889,000. Other
non-prescribed revenue decreased by 2.0% from $118,344,000
to $115,989,000.
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Operating expenditure increased by 7.1% from $256,471,000 to
$274,682,000 largely due to anticipated cost increases related to
operations of the regulated business, being partially offset by higher
levels of capitalisation of internal costs to capital projects.
Across the Asset Companies, depreciation and amortisation grew by
11.8% from $311,903,000 to $348,589,000 due to the increase in the
asset base over the last few years. The underlying net interest expense
(i.e. excluding the impact from mark-to-market movements in interest
rate hedges) was slightly lower than the prior year. This included the
impact of loan principal repayments by CHEDHA to Spark Infrastructure
during the year. Income tax expense increased primarily due to higher
pre-tax profits in CHEDHA.
Corporate Expenses
The corporate expenses of Spark Infrastructure include a
management fee, interest on senior debt and other general and
administrative expenses.
The management fee is calculated quarterly based on the volume
weighted average price (“VWAP”) of stapled securities for the last 15 trading
days of the quarter. The average VWAP calculated for the prior year
was $1.52, compared to an average of $1.14 (per security) for the Current
Year, which resulted in a reduction in the management fees in 2009.
No performance fee was payable in the current year (2008:
$16,544,000). The Performance Fee is an incentive fee payable
for market outperformance and is not related to the operational
performance of the Asset Companies. The outperformance is
measured each half year by the movement in the Spark Infrastructure
Accumulation Index relative to the benchmark index, which is the S&P/
ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation Index. The fee represents 20% of
the outperformance.
During the half year ended 30 June 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s
accumulation index underperformed the benchmark index by 5.9%
reflecting a deficit for the period of $67,978,000. After taking into
account the carried forward deficit of $34,819,000 at 31 December
2008, this resulted in a carried forward deficit at 30 June 2009 of
$102,797,000.
During the half year ended 31 December 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s
Accumulation Index outperformed the benchmark index by 2.0%
reflecting a surplus of $20,594,000 for the half year period. After
taking into account the brought forward deficit at 30 June 2009 of
$102,797,000 this resulted in a carried forward deficit at 31 December
2009 of $82,203,000.
General and administration expenses increased in the current year by
$1,523,000 to $4,819,000. The prior year saw little corporate activity
with the onset of the global financial crisis in the current year. Spark
has further strengthened its corporate governance with the addition of
another independent director – the Board now comprises a majority of
independent directors.
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Cashflow
Spark Infrastructure’s cashflow from operating and investing activities
was $196,923,000 which was $15,046,000 higher than the prior year
of $181,877,000. This equates to an operating cashflow per security
of 19.41 cents per security (“cps”), an increase of 1.38 cps on the prior
year of 18.03 cps.
Spark Infrastructure paid cash distributions during the Financial Year
of $135,916,000 (2008: $189,424,000) to Securityholders. The cash
distribution paid during the year represents the payment of the final
distribution from 2008 and the interim distribution for the Current Year.
The 2009 distribution is fully covered by operating and investing
cashflows of the business. On a full year basis, the distribution in
relation to 2009 amounts to $138,364,000 (13.56 cps) down from
$186,702,000 (18.51 cps) in the prior year. The reduction in the
distribution was announced by the Board in May 2009 as part of its
capital funding initiatives to finance the increasing growth capital
expenditure requirements of the Asset Companies. The distribution
equates to a payout ratio of approximately 70% of operating and
investing cashflow for the year (2008: 103%).
The distribution reinvestment plan was activated for the first time in
May 2009 and applied to the 2009 interim distribution. The distribution
reinvestment plan raised $25,266,000 from the interim distributions,
equating to a take up rate of 37%.
Retained operating and investing cash is available for use in the business,
including for equity contributions for the funding of capital expenditure.

Equity and Reserves
Total equity including Loan Notes attributable to Securityholders
increased by $210,818,000 during the Current Year to $1.83 billion at
31 December 2009 largely as a result of the net profit of $122,548,000
for the year. Other movements also included an increase in Loan
Notes of $25,277,000 following the issue of securities pursuant to the
distribution reinvestment plan; favourable mark-to-market movements
in the value of interest rate derivatives in Spark Infrastructure and its
Asset Companies which act as hedges on interest paid on borrowings;
and from actuarial gains on defined benefit superannuation plans of the
Asset Companies. The mark-to-market movements and actuarial gains
are non-cash impacts and result from the application of Australian
Accounting Standards.

Debt, Gearing and Hedging
A $225,000,000 tranche of Spark Infrastructure’s syndicated
bank facilities matures in December 2010. This amount has been
reclassified as a current liability within Spark Infrastructure’s
accounts, as the debt matures within the next 12 months. The remaining
$200,000,000 tranche of the facility expires in June 2011, and is classified
as non-current in the accounts. Spark Infrastructure is in the process
of refinancing the December 2010 debt maturity. In addition, Spark
Infrastructure has undrawn revolving debt facilities of $100,000,000, of
which $50,000,000 matures in October 2010 with the balance maturing
in November 2011. At 31 December 2009, Spark Infrastructure had
$114,349,000 of cash available for use in the business.
Spark Infrastructure’s net look through gearing, including its proportionate
share of net debt of CHEDHA and ETSA, was 60.7% as at 31 December 2009
(2008: 58.9%). Cash held by the Asset Companies as at 31 December 2009
includes proceeds from the recent ETSA debt issuance in the US Private
Placement Market, which has been placed temporarily on deposit until it is
used to repay maturing notes in April 2010.
All debt at the Spark Infrastructure level is hedged for the remaining
duration of its loans. On a proportionate basis, 93.0% of net debt is
currently hedged (2008: 92.0%). This substantially limits the impact of
volatility in the movement of interest rates on the financial results of
Spark Infrastructure and its Asset Companies. There is no exposure to
foreign currency risk.

Impairment Testing
The Directors have undertaken a detailed review of the carrying
values of Spark Infrastructure’s assets at year end to determine
whether any impairment has arisen, and are satisfied that no
impairment exists at 31 December 2009. The discounted cash flow
analysis undertaken as part of this review included the impact of the
draft Australian Energy Regulator (“AER”) determination on ETSA’s
regulatory submission for the 5 year regulatory period commencing
on 1 July 2010, and CHEDHA’s regulatory submissions to the AER for
both the CitiPower and Powercor networks for the five year regulatory
period commencing on 1 January 2011.

Capital Expenditure
CHEDHA and ETSA continue to invest in the expansion of their
networks, improving asset performance and reliability, and for
replacement of existing assets. In addition, CHEDHA is investing
capital in the rollout of the Advance Metering Infrastructure (smart
meters). During the Current Year, $467,700,000 (Spark share:
$229,173,000) was invested in capital expenditure on a net basis, i.e.
after deducting customer contributions), compared to $437,700,000
(Spark share: $214,473,000) in the prior year. This represents an
increase of 6.9%. Capital expenditure is added to the Regulated Asset
Base of the Asset Companies, which generates increased revenue in
future periods.

Future Growth
Spark Infrastructure’s focus in the short to medium term remains
on the organic growth opportunities arising from reinvestment in its
Asset Companies.
During the current regulatory period, which extends to mid-2010 for
ETSA and the end of 2010 for CHEDHA, the Asset Companies in total
are expected to have annualised net capital expenditure of around
$450 million (Spark share:$220.5 million). In addition, the Advanced
Metering Infrastructure (“AMI”) rollout program in CHEDHA is expected
to require an investment of approximately $630 million (Spark share:
$309 million) from 2009 to 2013, with approximately half of the
capital expenditure outlay to occur in 2012-13.
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In the next regulatory period (mid 2010–2015), the Asset Companies
are expected to have significant increases in capital expenditure.
ETSA’s regulatory proposal for the next regulatory period, submitted
to the AER on 1 July 2009, proposed a significant increase in capital
expenditure. The AER draft determination on the ETSA submission
which was released on 30 November 2009 allows for capital
expenditure of $1.63 billion (real) over the next five year reset period.
This compares to allowed capital expenditure of approximately $0.9
billion (real) for the current regulatory period. This proposed growth
in ETSA’s capital expenditure is due to a range of factors including
economic growth in South Australia resulting in the need for capacity
enhancement, changes to the transmission code which are designed
to ensure security of supply to the Adelaide CBD and surrounding
suburbs, and refurbishment of networks. As a result, the AER draft
determination for ETSA currently provides for a substantial increase in
regulated revenue from approximately $2.5 billion (nominal) expected
in the current regulatory period to approximately $3.5 billion (nominal)
(40% increase) for the next period (mid 2010 to mid 2015). The draft
determination from the AER on CHEDHA’s regulatory submission is
expected to be handed down in May 2010. In CHEDHA, the growth
in proposed capital expenditure is being driven by an increase in
customer demand together with security of supply enhancements and
the AMI project.
The Asset Companies continue to pursue non-prescribed business
activities by providing highly skilled construction, maintenance and

asset management services to customers in a range of industries and
sectors including mining, electricity transmission and government,
including defence and water projects. Whilst the non-prescribed
business does not have the inbuilt protections of the regulated
business, activity and margins were resilient in 2009.
Capital Management, Distributions and Distribution
Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”)
On 29 May 2009, Spark Infrastructure provided updated distribution
guidance for 2009 and information on its capital funding plans.
This included a reduction in the level of distributions and the activation
of its DRP for the June 2009 half year distribution. The Directors
believe that these two measures should be sufficient to meet
Spark Infrastructure’s funding requirements until the end of 2010
for the increased growth capital expenditure requirements of the
Asset Companies.
An interim cash distribution of 6.72 cps was paid on 15 September 2009
and was fully comprised of interest on the Loan Notes. Approximately
37.3% of stapled securities participated in the DRP and were issued
with 23,260,086 stapled securities at a VWAP of $1.0862 per security,
which included a discount of 2.5%, totalling $25,266,000.
The directors have declared a final distribution of 6.84 cps which will
be paid on 15 March 2010 taking the aggregate distribution for the
year to 13.56 cps. The final distribution comprises interest on the Loan
Notes only. The DRP has been suspended as of 25 February 2010.

Distributions paid to Securityholders during the year were:
	Final 2008
distribution paid
13 March 2009
Cents per		
security
$’000
Interest on Loan Notes
Capital distribution
Total
Distributions reinvested
Total (net of DRP)

13

6.85
2.41
9.26
–
9.26

Interim 2009	Total
distribution paid
Distribution
15 September 2009	Paid
Cents per		
security
$’000

69,093
24,308
93,401
–
93,401

6.72
–
6.72
–
6.72

67,781
–
67,781
(25,266)
42,515

$’000
136,874
24,308
161,182
(25,266)
135,916

Distributions paid and payable to Securityholders in respect of the year were:
2009

2008

Cents per		
security
$’000

Cents per
security

$’000

Interim distribution paid		
Final distribution proposed		

6.72
6.84

67,781
70,583

9.25
9.26

93,301
93,401

Total		

13.56

138,364

18.51

186,702

All distributions were unfranked and made by Spark Infrastructure Trust.
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Outlook and Strategic Review
Underlying operational performance of the Asset Companies in
Spark Infrastructure’s portfolio is expected to remain robust in 2010.
However, the Directors note that future operating returns, as well
as the future funding requirements of the Asset Companies will be
impacted by the AER’s final determinations for the next regulatory
resets which are not expected until April 2010 and October 2010 for
ETSA and CHEDHA respectively.
Spark Infrastructure has also announced it will undertake a Strategic
Review with the view to maximising Securityholder value in light of
changing market conditions. The review follows steps taken by the
Board in May 2009 to address capital and regulatory developments.
Spark Infrastructure and its 51% partners at the Asset Company level
(Cheung Kong Infrastructure and Hong Kong Electric) are reviewing
business plans for the three Asset Companies. In doing so, Spark
Infrastructure recognises that the environment for infrastructure
investment (particularly in the listed market) has changed significantly
in the past 18–24 months as has the approach to the funding of
investment and capital expenditure post the global financial crisis. In
addition, the total amount of required capital expenditure of the Asset
Companies is expected to roughly double in the next regulatory period.
The Asset Companies have indicated their desire to retain a greater
proportion of cash from operations to modestly reduce their gearing
levels and to contribute to the funding of this capital expenditure. This
would limit their cash distributions to their shareholders during the next
regulatory period. In turn, this would affect the level of distributions
Spark Infrastructure is able to pay to its Securityholders from the cash it
receives from the Asset Companies. Notwithstanding the impact that this
would have on the cash resources of Spark Infrastructure, it is important
to note that the increased capital expenditure enhances the long term
value of the Asset Companies through a higher revenue base.
As part of the Strategic Review, it is expected that a wide range of
options will be explored and evaluated. These options include changes
in corporate structure, changes in capital structure, capital raisings and
proposals that involve asset sales or a change of control of
Spark Infrastructure.
Future distribution policy will be subject to the outcomes of the
Strategic Review and therefore guidance for 2010 cannot be provided
at this stage. The Strategic Review is likely to take several months and
the Board will keep the market appropriately informed of developments
in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations.

Information Applicable to Registered Schemes
The fees paid to Spark Infrastructure RE Limited (“Spark RE”), the
responsible entity of Spark Trust, and its associates (including
Directors) are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.
Spark RE does not hold any Stapled Securities. The number of Stapled
Securities at the beginning and end of the Financial Year are disclosed
in Note 15 to the financial statements.

Changes in State of Affairs
Except as otherwise disclosed, there was no significant change in the
state of affairs of Spark Infrastructure during the Financial Year.

Subsequent Events
The Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not
otherwise dealt with in this report that has significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations or the state of affairs in the
period since 31 December 2009.
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Future Developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the
operations of the Company not otherwise disclosed elsewhere in this
report is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice. Accordingly, such
information has not been disclosed in this report.

Environmental Regulations
Spark Infrastructure is not subject to any environmental regulations.
However, the Asset Companies are subject to various environmental
regulations. The Directors are not aware of any material breaches of
those regulations by the Asset Companies.

Non-Audit Services
Details of amounts paid or payable to the external auditor for non-audit
services provided during the Financial Year are outlined in Note 18 to
the financial statements.
The Directors are satisfied that the non-audit services provided by the
auditor are compatible with the general standard of independence for
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are of
the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 18 to the Financial
Statements do not compromise the external auditor’s independence,
based on advice received from the Audit and Risk Management
Committee (“ARMC”), for the following reasons:
• non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that
they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and
comply with Spark Infrastructure’s policy on auditor independence;
and
• none of the services undermines the general principles relating
to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES
110, “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” issued by
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, which
includes reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a
management or decision-making capacity, acting as an advocate or
jointly sharing economic risks and rewards of Spark Infrastructure.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
The Company’s Constitution permits the Company, to the extent
permitted by law, to indemnify any current or former Directors or
officers against liability incurred by them in that capacity and indemnify
them for all legal costs incurred in defending or resisting proceedings,
whether civil or criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature,
in which they become involved because of that capacity. The Company
may pay a premium for a contract insuring a Director or officer against
such liability, unless prohibited by law. The Company may enter into
an agreement with a Director or officer in respect of such matters and
including provisions relating to rights of access to books of the Company.
During the Financial Year, the Company paid a premium in respect of
a contract of insurance indemnifying the Directors against a liability
incurred as such a Director to the extent permitted by the Corporations
Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature
of the liability and the amount of the premium.
Spark Infrastructure has not otherwise, during or since the end of the
Financial Year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of
the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred
as such an officer or auditor, except to the extent permitted by law.
The Company has entered into Deeds of Access, Indemnity and
Insurance with Directors.
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Options over Securities
No options have been granted over the unissued Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure.

Directors’ Meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings held during the Financial Year and the number of meetings attended by each Director
for which they were eligible to attend (i.e. in the case of Directors, while they were appointed and where they were not disqualified from attending
due to observation of processes to guard against any perceived conflict of interests, and in the case of Alternate Directors (if any), while they were
appointed and meetings for which they were nominated to attend as alternate).
During the Financial Year, 7 Board meetings, 2 Board Sub-Committee meetings, 5 ARMC meetings and 4 Compliance Committee meetings of the
Company were held. References to meetings “Held” means the number of meetings a Director was eligible to attend.
			
Audit and Risk
		Board	Management	Compliance
	Board of Directors
Sub-Committee	Committee (“ARMC”)	Committee d
Directors	Held
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a d
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
(as alternate Director)
a
b
c
d

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
6

7
7
7
5
2
6
7
7
6

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

–
5
5
5
–
–
5
5
–

–
5
5
2
–
–
5
5
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

5

3

–

–

–

–

–

–

Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009.
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.
During the year, Ms McDonald was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a Committee of the Board).

Directors’ Stapled Security Holdings
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure as at the date of this report:
		
Directors 	Opening Balance (No.)
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
a
b
c

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Net Movement
Acquired/(Disposed) (No.)	Closing Balance (No.)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Directors’ Report continued

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE

16

Remuneration Report
Remuneration of Directors
The fees and payments to Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities as Directors.
The Directors’ fees are reviewed annually by the Board and are subject to an aggregate fees pool limit of $2,000,000 per annum (inclusive
of superannuation). Any increase to this limit will be submitted to the Stapled Securityholders at an annual general meeting for approval.
The Directors do not receive securities, options or any performance related incentives. The Alternate Directors are not paid any fees.
Details of remuneration (including superannuation) of each Director paid or accrued in respect of the Financial Year are set out below:
		
Short Term	Post		Employment	Employment
		Benefits 	Benefits
		Directors’ Fees
Directors		
$
Chairman
Mr Stephen Johns
Non-executive Directors
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian a
Mr Andrew Hunter a
Mr Hing Lam Kam a
Mr Timothy Keith a b
Mr Shaun Mays a b
Ms Anne McDonald c
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner d
Mr Peter St George e
Total
a
b
c
d
e

Superannuation	Total
$
$

2009
2008

210,897
211,563

14,103
13,437

225,000
225,000

2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008

100,917
97,708
110,000
106,500
110,000
106,500
100,000
100,000
100,000
79,121
–
20,879
110,092
–
110,092
103,668
80,205
–
–
106,500

9,083
8,792
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
9,908
–
9,908
9,332
–
–
–
–

110,000
106,500
110,000
106,500
110,000
106,500
100,000
100,000
100,000
79,121
–
20,879
120,000
–
120,000
113,000
80,205
–
–
106,500

2009
2008

1,032,203
932,439

43,002
31,561

1,075,205
964,000

The Directors’ fees for Mr Kam and Mr Hunter were paid to CKI, while the fees for Mr Keith, Mr Dorrian and Mr Mays were paid to RREEF Infrastructure.
Mr Mays resigned on 17 March 2008. Mr Keith was appointed on the same date.
Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009. She was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a sub-committee of the Board).
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009 (see also Note 23 Related Party Disclosures).
Mr St George resigned on 31 December 2008.

The remuneration paid to Directors is shared equally by the three operating entities in Spark Infrastructure. The Company’s share of the
remuneration was $358,402 for the Financial Year (2008: $321,334).

Directors’ Report continued
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Board and Committee Remuneration Policy
The remuneration of Spark Infrastructure’s Directors is benchmarked
to the remuneration of Directors of comparable enterprises periodically
using an independent external consulting firm. A broad cross section
of parameters is used by the external firms in determining comparable
entities, including:
• market capitalisation;
• revenue; and
• total assets.
The Directors’ remuneration also takes into consideration the following
matters:
• fee levels for all non-executive Directors to be positioned
between the median and the 75th percentile of the general market
comprising comparable Board roles in listed companies within the
range of half to twice the market capitalisation, revenue and total
assets of Spark Infrastructure;
• the Chairman’s fee to be in the range of 2.0 and 2.5 times that of
non-executive Directors;
• the Chairman of Board Committees (other than the Chairman of the
Board) shall be eligible to receive a committee chair fee in addition
to the base non-executive Director fee;
• members of Board Committees shall be eligible to receive a
committee membership fee in addition to the base non-executive
Director fee, set at half the fee of the Committee Chair (excluding
the Compliance Committee which has an external chair); and
• in setting the fees applicable to Committee Chairs and Committee
members, the Board is to consider the relative workloads of
Committees.
The Directors and Board Committee members are paid a fixed
remuneration as disclosed above. None of the remuneration is linked
to the financial performance of Spark Infrastructure or its security price.
The annual remuneration, including post-employment benefits payable
to Directors, is as follows:
Role
$
Chairman
Non-executive Director
Additional fee for enhanced responsibility:
– Chairman of ARMC
– ARMC member
– Chairman of Compliance Committee
(external specialist appointment and not
a Spark Director)
– Compliance Committee member (external
specialist appointment and not a Spark Director)
– Compliance Committee member (independent
Director on the Board)

225,000
100,000
20,000
10,000

Remuneration of Executives
Spark Infrastructure does not have any employees. Spark Infrastructure
Management Limited (“the Manager”), as the manager of Spark
Infrastructure, makes employees (including senior executives) available
under the Management Agreement. Spark Infrastructure is not liable
for expenses referable to the executives. Accordingly, executive
remuneration details are not provided in this report. The Manager
is paid management fees as detailed in Note 23.
Performance of Spark Infrastructure
The following table provides details of Spark Infrastructures’
performance for the last three years:
	Financial Year
	Ended 31 December

Underlying Profit before
Loan Note Interest and
Performance Fee
Operating cashflow including
investing activities
Underlying Profit after
tax attributable to
Securityholders
Security Price a ($)
Distribution per
security (cents)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

224,038

190,355

179,554

196,923

181,877

180,422

81,435
1.38

34,320
1.30

36,889
1.98

13.56

18.51

18.06

a Security price is based on last trading day of each year.			

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C
of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 18.

Rounding of Amounts
As permitted by ASIC Class Order 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998,
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to
section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

35,000
30,000
10,000

The table includes remuneration paid to external specialist members
of the Compliance Committee who are appointed to provide specialist
knowledge and expertise and to meet the independence requirements
for the Committee under the Corporations Act 2001.
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S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director

auditor’s independence declaration
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Income from associates:
–	share of equity profits
7 (c)
–	interest income
3 (a)
Other income – interest		

197,531
83,530
2,292

135,822
88,839
3,945

–
–
–

–
–
–

		
Management fees
23 (b)
Performance fees
23 (b)
Interest expense – other
3 (b)
General and administrative expenses
3 (c)

283,353
(7,905)
–
(29,265)
(4,819)

228,606
(9,795)
(16,544)
(28,967)
(3,296)

–
–
–
–
(1,490)

–
–
–
–
(954)

Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax and Loan Notes Interest		
Interest expense – Loan Notes 		

241,364
(138,364)

170,004
(137,390)

(1,490)
–

(954)
–

Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax Attributable to
Stapled Securityholders		
Income tax benefit /(expense)
4

103,000
19,548

32,614
(23,161)

(1,490)
450

(954)
286

Net Profit/(Loss) attributable to Stapled Securityholders		

122,548

9,453

(1,040)

(668)

Other Comprehensive Income:
Cash flow hedges – gains/(losses) on interest rate swaps		
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income:
– gain/(loss) on hedges		
– actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans		
Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income		

13,638

(30,062)

–

–

60,169
50,909
(37,415)

(122,332)
(135,462)
57,655

–
–
–

–
–
–

Other comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

87,301

(230,201)

–

–

Total Comprehensive Income for the Financial Year		

209,849

(220,748)

(1,040)

(668)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to Stapled Securityholders:
– equity holders of the parent entity		
– minority interests in other Spark Infrastructure stapled entities		

9,935
112,613

16,858
(7,405)

(1,040)
–

(668)
–

		

122,548

9,453

(1,040)

(668)

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:
– equity holders of the parent entity		
– minority interests in other Spark Infrastructure stapled entities		

31,763
55,538

(97,343)
(132,859)

		

209,849

(220,748)

19

12.08¢

0.94¢

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Security (cents)

(Diluted earnings per security are the same as basic earnings per security).
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 23 – 41.

–
–
(1,040)
–

–
–
(668)
–
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

26 (a)
5
6

114,349
11,466
744

53,343
13,367
783

–
–
77

–
–
73

Total Current Assets		

126,559

67,493

77

73

7 (d)
8
4
9

1,470,848
745,927
–
–

1,265,057
792,698
11,278
–

–
–
8,149
186,213

–
–
7,790
186,213

Total Non-Current Assets		

2,216,775

2,069,033

194,362

194,003

Total Assets		

2,343,334

2,136,526

194,439

194,076

Current Liabilities
Payables
10
Loan Notes interest payable to Stapled Securityholders		
Interest bearing liabilities
11
Other financial liabilities
14

4,321
70,465
225,000
2,906

4,148
68,975
–
–

14,133
–
–
–

12,730
–
–
–

Total Current Liabilities		

302,692

73,123

14,133

12,730

12
13
4
14

1,256,792
200,000
6,588
1,052

1,231,515
423,623
–
17,596

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Total Non-Current Liabilities		

1,464,432

1,672,734

–

–

Total Liabilities		

1,767,124

1,745,857

14,133

12,730

Net Assets		

576,210

390,669

180,306

181,346

Equity
Equity attributable to the Parent Entity
– Issued capital
– Reserves
– Retained earnings

182,983
(11,161)
32,500

182,983
(35,507)
15,148

182,983
–
(2,677)

182,983
–
(1,637)

		

204,322

162,624

180,306

181,346

Equity attributable to minority interests (i.e. other Stapled Entities)
– Issued capital
– Reserves
– Retained earnings

15
16
17

246,825
2,561
122,502

271,133
(35,361)
(7,727)

–
–
–

–
–
–

		

371,888

228,045

–

–

Total Equity 		

576,210

390,669

180,306

181,346

Total Equity Attributable to Stapled Securityholders is as follows:
–	Equity Holders of the Parent Entity		
–	Minority Interests in Other Stapled Entities

204,322
371,888

162,624
228,045

180,306
–

181,346
–

Total Equity		
–	Loan Notes Attributable to Stapled Securityholders		

576,210
1,256,792

390,669
1,231,515

180,306
–

181,346
–

Total Equity and Loan Notes		

1,833,002

1,622,184

180,306

181,346

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables from associates
Other current assets

Non-Current Assets
Investments in associates:
– Investments accounted for using the equity method
– Loans to associates
Deferred tax assets
Other financial assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Loan Notes attributable to Stapled Securityholders
Interest bearing liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 23 – 41.

15
16
17
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
		
Issued	Hedging	Retained
		Capital	Reserve	Earnings	Total
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
CONSOLIDATED
Balance at 1 January 2008		

110,885

663,463

Net profit for the financial year		
–
–
9,453
Cashflow hedges – loss on interest rate swaps		
–
(30,062)
–
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income:					
– loss on hedges			
(122,332)
–
– actuarial loss on defined benefits plan			
–
(135,462)
Related tax		
–
35,110
22,545

9,453
(30,062)
(122,332)
(135,462)
57,655

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

–

(117,284)

(103,464)

(220,748)

Capital distributions		

(52,046)

–

–

(52,046)

Balance at 31 December 2008		

454,116

(70,868)

7,421

390,669

Balance at 1 January 2009		

454,116

(70,868)

7,421

390,669

Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges
not previously recognised		
Net profit for the financial year		
Cashflow hedges – gain on interest rate swaps		
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income:
– gain on hedges		
– actuarial gain on defined benefits plan		
Related tax		
Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

506,162

46,416

–
–
–

10,603
–
13,638

(10,603)
122,548
–

–
–
–

60,169
–
(22,142)

–
50,909
(15,273)

–

51,665

158,184

–

–

Capital distributions		

(24,308)

Balance at 31 December 2009		

429,808

company
Balance at 1 January 2008		

182,983

Net loss for the financial year		

60,169
50,909
(37,415)
209,849
(24,308)

155,002

576,210

–

(969)

182,014

–

–

(668)

(668)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		

–

–

(668)

(668)

Balance at 31 December 2008		

182,983

–

(1,637)

181,346

Balance at 1 January 2009		

182,983

–

(1,637)

181,346

Net loss for the financial year		

–

–

(1,040)

(1,040)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Financial Year		

–

–

(1,040)

(1,040)

Balance at 31 December 2009		

182,983

–

(2,677)

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 23 – 41.

(8,600)

–
122,548
13,638

180,306
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Cashflows from Operating Activities
Distribution from associates – Preferred Partnership Capital		
Dividend received – associates		
Interest received – associates		
Interest received – other		
Interest paid – other 		
Management fees		
Performance fees		
Other		

69,635
33,183
85,431
2,416
(27,387)
(7,678)
–
(5,448)

69,826
1,957
90,894
4,383
(28,072)
(10,818)
(16,544)
(3,793)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,402)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,027)

(1,402)

(1,027)

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) Related to
Operating Activities

26 (c)

150,152

107,833

Cashflows from Investing Activities
Repayment of borrowings by associates		
Amounts repaid – other		

46,771
–

50,275
23,769

–
–

–
–

Net Cash Inflow Related to Investing Activities		

46,771

74,044

–

–

Cashflows from Financing Activities
Repayment of external borrowings		
Proceeds from external borrowings		
Payment for external borrowing costs		
Amounts advanced by related parties		
Proceeds from issue of Loan Notes		
Distributions to Stapled Securityholders:
– Loan Note interest		
– Capital distributions		

–
–
–
–
25,266

(200,000)
200,000
(963)
–
–

–
–
–
1,402
–

–
–
–
1,027
–

(136,875)
(24,308)

(137,378)
(52,046)

–
–

–
–

Net Cash (Outflow)/Inflow Related
to Financing Activities		

(135,917)

(190,387)

1,402

1,027

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
for the Financial Year		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Financial Year		

61,006
53,343

(8,510)
61,853

–
–

–
–

114,349

53,343

–

–

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end
of the Financial Year
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 23 – 41.

26 (a)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
1. Summary of Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
This financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, accounting standards and
interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.
This report includes separate financial statements of the Company
and the consolidated financial statements of Spark Infrastructure.
This financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical
cost, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. Cost
is based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for
assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless
otherwise noted.
The Financial Statements comply with Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance
with A-IFRS ensures that the Financial Statements and notes comply
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on
25 February 2010.
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have
been adopted in the current financial year and have affected the
amounts reported in these financial statements.

(a) Basis of Consolidation
Spark Infrastructure is a stapled structure where in one ordinary share
in SIH No. 1, one ordinary share in SIH No. 2, one CHESS Depositary
Interest (“CDI”) representing one share in Spark International, one
ordinary unit in Spark Trust and one Loan Note issued by the responsible
entity of Spark Trust, have been stapled pursuant to a Stapling
Agreement. The stapled securities are listed and trade on the ASX,
as if they were a single security.
Principles of Consolidation
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for Spark
Infrastructure, SIH No. 1 has been identified as the parent entity on
the basis that it has issued the largest amount of ordinary equity. As
SIH No. 1 does not own any shares or units in other stapled entities,
the entire amount of the issued shares and units of those entities has
been reflected as a minority interest in the consolidated Statement
of Financial Position. The minority interests are attributable to the
Stapled Securityholders.
(b) Acquisition of Assets
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of
assets. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given up,
equity issued or liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition plus
incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

AASB 8 Operating Segments
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
AASB 8 is a disclosure Standard that has resulted in a redesignation
of Spark Infrastructure’s reportable segments as disclosed in Note 2,
but has had no impact on the reported results or financial position of
Spark Infrastructure.

(c) Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at
amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss
over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

AASB 101 (revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
The revised Standard has introduced a number of terminology
changes and has resulted in a number of changes in presentation and
disclosure. However, the revised Standard has had no impact on the
reported results or financial position of Spark Infrastructure.

(d) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised and added to the cost of these assets, until such time
that the assets are ready for their intended use or sale.

Standards Not Yet Effective
Certain standards, amendments and interpretations that are on
issue but not yet effective have not been applied in the preparation
of this report. The principal standards that have not been applied in
preparation of this report are:
• AASB 3 (revised 2008) “Business Combinations” and AASB 27
(revised 2008) “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” –
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009.
As a consequence of the amendment to the above AASB, stapling
arrangements such as Spark Infrastructure will be covered under
the standards. AASB Interpretation 1002 “Post-date of Transition
Stapling Arrangements” will be superseded. As existing stapling
arrangements will not be impacted, there are no financial or
disclosure implications for Spark Infrastructure.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations that are on issue
are not likely to have a material impact on Spark Infrastructure.
Significant Accounting Policies
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the
preparation and presentation of this report:

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and
investments in money market instruments.
(f) Creditors and Accruals
Trade creditors and accruals are recognised when there is an obligation
to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.
(g) Derivative Financial Instruments
Spark Infrastructure enters into a variety of derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk, including
interest rate swaps. Further details are disclosed in Note 27.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised immediately in the Income Statement unless the derivative
is designated and is effective as a hedging instrument, in which event
the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedge relationship. Spark Infrastructure designates certain
derivatives as hedges of the fair value of recognised assets, liabilities
or firm commitments (“fair value hedges”), or hedges of highly probable
forecast transactions (“cashflow hedges”).
The fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current
asset/liability if the remaining maturity of the hedge relationship is
more than 12 months and as a current asset/liability if the remaining
maturity is less than 12 months.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
1.

Summary of Accounting Policies continued

(g)

Derivative Financial Instruments continued

Hedge Accounting
At the inception of the hedge relationship, Spark Infrastructure
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and
hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, Spark
Infrastructure documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the hedged item.
Note 27 contains details of the fair values of the derivative instruments
used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve in
equity are also detailed in Note 16.
Fair Value Hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify
as fair value hedges are recorded in profit and loss immediately,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or
liability that is attributable to the hedged risk.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge instrument expires or
is sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from
the hedged risk is amortised to profit and loss from that date.
Cashflow Hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in the hedging
reserve recorded in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss in the same line of
the income statement as the recognised hedged item. However, when
the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses
previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included
in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was
deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
(h) Financial Instruments
Debt and Equity Instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the
equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the
costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those
equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those
instruments not been issued.
Interest, Dividends and Distributions
Interest, dividends and distributions are classified as expenses,
distributions of profit or a return of capital consistent with the
Statement of Financial Position classification of the related debt
or equity instruments.
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(i) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of goods and services tax (“GST”), except:
• where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
• for receivables and payables, which are recognised exclusive
of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cashflows on a gross basis.
The GST component of cashflows arising from investing and financing
activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is classified as operating cashflows.
(j) Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets
At each reporting date, Spark Infrastructure reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, Spark Infrastructure estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell,
and value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future
cashflows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cashflows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
(k) Income Tax
Current Tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes
payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for
the year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for
current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the
extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet
liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
Financial Statements and the corresponding tax base of those items.
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Income Tax continued

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be
available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax
losses and tax offsets can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination)
which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to
taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in associates except where
Spark Infrastructure is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year(s) when the asset and liability giving
rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which Spark
Infrastructure expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and each Stapled
Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
Current and Deferred Tax
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the
income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the
determination of goodwill or excess.
Income tax expense is not brought to account in respect of Spark Trust, as
pursuant to the Australian taxation laws Spark Trust is not liable for income
tax provided that its taxable income (including any assessable realised
capital gains) is fully distributed to the Stapled Securityholders each year.
Tax Consolidation Legislation
Tax consolidated groups have been formed within Spark Infrastructure,
whereby wholly owned Australian resident entities have combined
together to form a tax consolidated group that will be taxed under
Australian taxation law as if it was a single entity. Tax expense/
income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from
temporary differences of members of a tax consolidated group are
recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of
the tax consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’
approach. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of
the tax consolidated group are recognised by the head entity in the
relevant tax consolidated group. Further details are provided in Note 4.
(l) Investments in Associates
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. The associates are entities over which Spark Infrastructure
has significant influence and that are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures.
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Under the equity method, investments in the associates are carried
in the Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition
changes in share of net assets of the associates. After application
of the equity method, Spark Infrastructure determines whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to its net
investment in associates.
Spark Infrastructure’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of postacquisition movements in equity (such as actuarial gains) is recognised
in reserves/retained earnings, as appropriate. The cumulative postacquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. Dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the
individual entity’s income statement.
(m) Loans and Receivables
Loans to associates and other receivables are recorded at amortised
cost less any impairment.
(n) Revenue Recognition
Dividend and Interest Revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the right to
receive payment has been established.
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount.
(o) Investments in Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost.
(p) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of this report required the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and exercises judgement in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including reasonable expectation of future events. The
Directors believe the estimates and judgements are reasonable. Actual
results in the future may differ from those reported.
The key accounting estimates and judgements used in the preparation
of this report are as follows:
• Accounting for Acquisitions
On 15 December 2005, Spark Infrastructure acquired a 49% interest
in each of three electricity distribution businesses, CitiPower and
Powercor in Victoria (combined business referred to as CHEDHA)
and ETSA in South Australia. Spark Infrastructure is required to
reflect its equity accounted investments in the three businesses by
reference to its share of fair value of net assets of the businesses.
This assessment of fair value by Spark Infrastructure resulted in
a notional increase in the carrying value of certain depreciable
assets and amortisable intangible assets (i.e. licences), which
are depreciated/amortised over the estimated useful life of such
assets, extending up to 200 years. As a result of this, the share of
Spark Infrastructure’s equity accrued profits has been adjusted by
additional depreciation and amortisation arising from the increase
in the carrying value; and
• Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, Spark Infrastructure tests whether there are
any indicators of impairment in accordance with Note 1(j). Each Asset
Company, being ETSA and CHEDHA are regarded as separate cash
generating units for the purposes of such testing. If any indicators
are established, a discounted cashflow analysis is undertaken.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements continued

Substantial changes to external market conditions over the past
two years and the regulatory reset processes currently underway
have the potential to impact asset values and Spark Infrastructure
regards this as a potential indicator of impairment. Accordingly,
impairment testing was undertaken to confirm that the carrying
values of assets do not exceed their respective recoverable values.
The following key parameters were used in testing for impairment:
• cashflow projections, based on financial forecasts approved by
management containing assumptions about business conditions,
growth in Regulated Asset Base (“RAB”) and future regulatory
returns, over a period of 10 years with an appropriate terminal
value based on RAB multiples for regulated activities and
EBITDA multiples for unregulated activities;
• growth rates for volume of electricity delivered are based
on observed historical values and studies undertaken by
independent experts; and
• appropriate discount rates specific to the individual assets.
Cashflow projections for a 10 year period are deemed appropriate
as electricity distribution assets are long life assets.
ETSA and CHEDHA submitted their five year regulatory proposals
to the Australian Energy Regulator (“AER”) on 1 July 2009 and 30
November 2009 respectively. The AER issued a draft electricity
distribution determination in relation to the ETSA proposal on 30
November 2009, and is due to issue a draft in relation to CHEDHA’s
two businesses (Citipower and Powercor) in May 2010.
The impact of the draft determination in relation to ETSA’s
submission for the five year regulatory period commencing on 1
July 2010 has been considered in the impairment calculation. The
regulatory submissions of CHEDHA’s two businesses, which were
both submitted to the AER on 30 November 2009, have also been
taken into consideration in the analysis. Final determinations are
scheduled to be issued for ETSA and CHEDHA in April and October
2010 respectively, at which point the underlying forecasts may need
to be adjusted.
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• Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there are sufficient taxable amounts available against which
deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax
offsets can be utilised and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2009, an amount of
$79,066,000 (2008: $127,292,000) has not been recognised
on the basis that the above recognition criteria was not met.
(q) Working Capital Deficiency
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. Spark Infrastructure currently has a working capital deficiency
of $176,133,000 as at 31 December 2009, primarily due to part of
the Group’s borrowings ($225,000,000) being reclassified as current
liabilities, as they mature on 16 December 2010. Spark Infrastructure
has commenced discussions with both new and existing lenders with
a view to either extending or replacing this facility. The Directors are
confident that the borrowings will be extended or replaced in the
normal course of business. Spark Infrastructure had $114,349,000
of cash on hand at 31 December 2009, and has received further
distributions from its Asset Companies subsequent to year end. This
cash, the further distributions and the unused financing facilities
($100,000,000 at 31 December 2009) are available to meet Spark
Infrastructure’s loan note distribution due for payment in March 2010
and any expected equity contributions to the Asset Companies in 2010
to fund their organic growth opportunities. In addition, any excess
cash reserves, if considered prudent, could be applied to reduce the
refinancing requirement due in December 2010.
(r) Rounding of Amounts
As Spark Infrastructure is an entity of the kind referred to in ASIC Class
Order 98/0100, relevant amounts in the financial report and Directors’
Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless
otherwise indicated.

2. Segment Information
Spark Infrastructure has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments with effect from 1 January 2009. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of Spark Infrastructure that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (AASB 114 Segment
Reporting) required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s
system of internal financial reporting to key management personnel serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments.
As a result, following the adoption of AASB 8, the process of identifying Spark Infrastructure’s reportable segments has changed.
As a result, two segments are now reported, being: CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”) – which represents the 49% interest in two
electricity distribution businesses in Victoria (i.e. CitiPower and Powercor) and ETSA Utilities – which represents the 49% interest in the electricity
distribution business in South Australia.
	CHEDHA	ETSA Utilities	Corporate	Total
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

132,202

141,169

102,818

95,552

(13,126)

(31,155)

221,894

205,566

Net interest paid							

(24,971)

(23,689)

Total Operating and
Investing Cashflows							

196,923

181,877

Segment Cashflows
Net cashflows
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Segment Information continued

	CHEDHA	ETSA Utilities	Corporate	Total
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

29,322
83,530

38,935
88,839

168,209
–

96,887
–

–
–

–
–

197,531
83,530

135,822
88,839

112,852

127,774

168,209

96,887

–

–

281,061

224,661

Interest revenue							

2,292

3,945

Total Revenue							

283,353

228,606

268,337

195,026

Net Interest expense							

(26,973)

(25,022)

Profit for the period before Loan
Note Interest and Income Tax 							

241,364

170,004

Segment Revenue
Share of equity
accounted profits
Interest income – associates
Segment revenue

Segment Results				
Segment contribution

112,852

127,774

168,209

96,887

(12,724)

(29,635)

Interest on Loan Notes							 (138,364)
Income tax benefit/(expense)							
19,548
Net Profit							

(137,390)
(23,161)
9,453

122,548

	CHEDHA	ETSA Utilities	Corporate	Total
Dec 2009
$’000

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000

Segment Assets
Investment accounted using
equity method
Loan to Associates
Receivables from Associates
Other

252,434
745,927
11,466
–

191,375 1,218,414
792,698
–
13,367
–
–
–

1,073,682
–
–
–

Total Segment Assets

1,009,827

997,440 1,218,414

1,073,682

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000

Dec 2008
$’000

–
–
–
744

– 1,470,848
– 745,927
–
11,466
783
744

1,265,057
792,698
13,367
783

744

783 2,228,985

2,071,905

Unallocated Assets
Cash and cash equivalents						
Deferred tax assets							
Total Assets						

114,349
–

53,343
11,278

2,343,334

2,136,526

	CHEDHA	ETSA Utilities	Corporate	Total
Dec 2009
$’000
Segment Liabilities
Liabilities

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000

Unallocated Liabilities
Loan Notes							 1,256,792
Bank facilities							 425,000
Other liabilities							
75,701
Deferred tax liabilities						
6,588

1,231,515
423,623
87,798
–

Total Liabilities							 1,767,124

1,745,857

3,043

2,921

Dec 2008
$’000
2,921

–

–

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000
3,043

–

–

Dec 2008 Dec 2009
$’000
$’000
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(a)	Income
Income from associates:
– Share of equity accounted profits		
– Interest income		

197,531
83,530

135,822
88,839

–
–

–
–

		

281,061

224,661

–

–

(b)	Expenses
Interest expense – other:
– Interest and other associated costs on senior debt		

29,265

28,967

–

–

(c) General and Administrative Expenses
Directors’ fees – short term benefits		
Directors’ fees – post-employment benefits		
Other expenses		

1,032
43
3,744

932
32
2,332

344
14
1,132

311
10
633

		

4,819

3,296

1,490

954

(a)	Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss
Tax (benefit)/expense comprises:
Current tax (benefit)/expense		
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense		

(15,006)
(4,542)

27,617
(4,456)

–
(449)

–
(286)

Total tax (benefit)/expense		

(19,548)

23,161

(449)

(286)

Attributable to:
Continuing operations 		

(19,548)

23,161

(449)

(286)

The prima facie income tax (benefit)/expense on pre-tax accounting
profit/(loss) from operations reconciles to the income tax (benefit)/expense
in the Financial Statements as follows:
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 		

103,000

32,614

(1,490)

(954)

(447)
–
(2)
–

(286)
–
–
–

3.	Profit for the Financial Year

4.	Income Taxes

Income tax expense/(benefit) calculated at 30%		
Tax effect on operating results of Spark Infrastructure Trust (Note 1(k))		
Offsets from unused tax losses bought to account		
Write down of deferred tax assets		
Previously unrecognised and unused tax losses,
now recognised as deferred tax assets		

30,900
(2,219)
(24,427)
–

9,784
(2,219)
(340)
15,936

(23,802)

–

Income tax (benefit)/expense		

(19,548)

23,161

–

–

(286)

(449)

The tax rate of 30% used above is the current Australian corporate tax rate. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate during the Financial Year.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(b)	Income Tax Recognised Directly in Equity
The following deferred tax expense/(benefit) was recognised
directly in equity during the financial year:
– Revaluations of financial instruments treated as cash flow hedges		
– Share of associates’ reserves recognised directly in equity 		

4,091
33,323

(9,019)
(48,634)

–
–

–
–

		

37,414

(57,653)

–

–

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Income Taxes continued

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(c)	Deferred Tax Balances
Deferred tax assets comprise:
Tax losses – revenue		
Temporary differences 		

87,646
2,082

43,088
5,833

7,872
277

7,237
553

		

89,728

48,921

8,149

7,790

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:
Temporary differences		

(96,316)

(37,643)

–

–

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset recognised in the financial statements		
Taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following:
Gross deferred tax assets:
Cashflow hedges (movement)		
Share issue costs		

(6,588)

11,278

8,149

7,790

1,187
895

5,279
554

–
277

–
553

		

2,082

5,833

277

553

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Investment in associates		

(96,316)

(37,643)

–

–

		

(96,316)

(37,643)

–

–

(d)	Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances
The following deferred tax assets have not been brought
to account as assets:
Tax losses – revenue		

79,066

127,295

–

–

Tax Consolidation
Relevance of Tax Consolidation to Spark Infrastructure
SIH No. 1 and SIH No. 2 and their wholly owned Australian resident entities have each formed a tax consolidated group and therefore each group
is taxed as a single entity. The head entity within each tax consolidated group is SIH No. 1 and SIH No. 2 respectively. The members of the tax
consolidated groups are identified in Note 25.
Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Agreements
Entities within each tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement with their respective head
entities. Under the terms of the funding agreement, SIH No. 1 and SIH No. 2 and each of the entities in the relevant tax consolidated group have
agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts
are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group.
The tax sharing agreement between members of the tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in
respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the agreement is considered remote at this time.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

11,466

13,367

–

–

GST recoverable		
Prepayments		
Other receivables		

281
296
167

335
164
284

77
–
–

73
–
–

		

744

783

77

73

5.	Receivables from Associates
CHEDHA 		
Receivables from Associates relates to interest receivable on loans.

6.	Other Current Assets

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE

30

7.	Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method
(a)	Investments in Associates
			Country of
		Ownership	Incorporation/
Name of Entity	Principal Activity	Interest (%)	Formation
CHEDHA
ETSA Utilities Partnership

Ownership of electricity distribution networks in Victoria
Ownership of an electricity distribution network in South Australia

2009

2008

49
49

49
49

Australia
Australia

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(b) Share of Assets and Liabilities of Associates
Current assets		
Non-current assets

491,327
4,774,188

226,637
4,682,075

–
–

–
–

Total assets		

5,265,515

4,908,712

–

–

Current liabilities		
Non-current liabilities

700,847
3,566,688

244,532
3,877,699

–
–

–
–

Total liabilities		

4,267,535

4,122,231

–

–

Net assets before ETSA Utilities Preferred Partnership Capital		
ETSA Utilities Preferred Partnership Capital 		

997,980
622,300

786,481
622,300

–
–

–
–

Net assets applicable to Spark Infrastructure		

1,620,280

1,408,781

–

–

(c) Share of Revenue and Expenses of Associates
Revenue – distribution		
Revenue – unregulated		

578,377
285,006

551,380
252,111

–
–

–
–

Operating revenue		
Revenue – transmission		

863,383
166,344

803,491
165,117

–
–

–
–

Expenses		

1,029,727
(845,774)

968,608
(871,068)

–
–

–
–

Profit before income tax		
Income tax (expense)/benefit		

183,953
(16,225)

97,540
8,398

–
–

–
–

Net profit accounted for using the equity accounting method		
Additional share of profits from Preferred Partnership Capital a		

167,728
35,514

105,938
35,611

–
–

–
–

		
Additional depreciation/ amortisation charge b		

203,242
(5,711)

141,549
(5,727)

–
–

–
–

		

197,531

135,822

–

–

a
b

Under the partnership agreement, Spark Infrastructure is entitled to an additional share of profit in the ETSA partnership.
Relates to depreciation and amortisation of the fair value on uplift of assets on acquisition.
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(d)	Movement in Carrying Amounts
Carrying amount at beginning of the Financial Year		
Share of profits after income tax		
Preferred Partnership distribution received		
Dividend received – Associates		
Share of associates’ income/(expense) recognised directly in equity		

1,265,057
197,531
(69,635)
(33,183)
111,078

1,458,811
135,822
(69,826)
(1,957)
(257,793)

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Carrying amount at end of the Financial Year		

1,470,848

1,265,057

–

–

(e)	Commitments for Expenditure and Contingent Liabilities
Spark Infrastructure’s share of commitments for expenditure and contingent liabilities are provided in Note 21 and Note 22 respectively.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

745,927

792,698

–

–

–

–

186,213

186,213

Payables to related parties 		
Other payables		

2,229
2,092

2,002
2,146

14,133
–

12,730
–

		

4,321

4,148

14,133

12,730

225,000

–

–

–

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year 		
Issue of Loan Notes under distribution reinvestment plan		
Write back of deferred discount a		

1,231,515
25,266
11

1,231,515
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year		

1,256,792

1,231,515

–

–

8.	Loans to Associates
Loans to associates – interest bearing 		
100 year loan to CHEDHA at a fixed interest rate of 10.85% per annum.
The loan is repayable at the discretion of the borrower.

9.	Other Financial Assets
Shares in controlled entities at cost (Note 25)		

10.	Payables

11.	Interest Bearing Liabilities
Syndicated bank loan at amortised cost 		
The loan is unsecured and expires on 16 December 2010.

12.	Loan Notes Attributable to Stapled Securityholders

a

The deferred discount represents the difference between the Loan Notes face value of $1.25 and the price of securities issued under the distribution reinvestment plan in
September 2009 of $1.0862. The deferred discount is written back over the remaining term of the Loan Notes.
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

200,000

423,623

–

–

2,906
1,052

–
17,596

–
–

–
–

13.	Interest Bearing Liabilities
Syndicated bank loan at amortised cost 		
The loan is unsecured and expires on 15 June 2011.

14.	Other Financial Liabilities
Fair value of interest rate swaps (current)		
Fair value of interest rate swaps (non-current)		

15.	Issued Capital
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year		
Capital distribution		
Issue of shares under distribution reinvestment plan		

454,116
(24,308)
–

506,162
(52,046)
–

182,983
–
–

182,983
–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year		

429,808

454,116

182,983

182,983

Disclosed in the financial statements as:
Attributable to the Parent Entity		
Attributable to minority interests		

182,983
246,825

182,983
271,133

182,983
–

182,983
–

		

429,808

454,116

182,983

182,983

Under the terms of the Loan Note Trust Deed, the application price for a stapled security is first allocated to the principal amount of a Loan Note.
Fully Paid Stapled Securities		

No.’000

No.’000

No.’000

No.’000

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year
Issue of Stapled Securities under distribution reinvestment plan		

1,008,651
23,260

1,008,651
–

1,008,651
23,260

1,008,651
–

Balance at end of Financial Year		

1,031,911

1,008,651

1,031,911

1,008,651

The ordinary shares and units carry one vote per share and the right to distributions.
Each share in SIH No. 1 is “stapled” to one share in SIH No. 2, one unit in Spark Trust, one Loan Note issued by the responsible entity of Spark Trust
and one CDI representing one share in Spark International. The stapled securities are quoted as if they are a single security.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(70,868)
10,603

46,416
–

–
–

–
–

13,638
(4,091)

(30,062)
9,019

–
–

–
–

		
Share of associates’ gains/(losses) on hedges a
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit		

9,547
60,169
(18,051)

(21,043)
(122,330)
26,089

–
–
–

–
–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year 		

(8,600)

(70,868)

–

–

Attributable to Stapled Securityholders as:
Equity holders of the Parent Entity		
Minority interests in other Stapled Entities		

(11,161)
2,561

(35,507)
(35,361)

–
–

–
–

16.	Reserves
Hedging Reserve
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year		
Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges not previously recognised
Gain/(loss) recognised:
Interest rate swaps a		
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit		

a

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of the cashflow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge is
recognised in profit or loss when the hedge transaction impacts the profit or loss.
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

7,421

110,885

(1,637)

(969)

(10,603)
122,548

–
9,453

–
(1,040)

–
(668)

50,909
(15,273)

(135,462)
22,545

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

17.	Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year		
Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges not
previously recognised		
Net profit/(loss) after tax for the Financial Year		
Share of associates’ actuarial gain/(loss) recognised
directly in retained earnings a		
Related tax 		
Balance at end of the Financial Year		

155,002

7,421

Attributable to Stapled Securityholders as:
Equity holders of the Parent Entity		
Minority interests in other Stapled Entities		

32,500
122,502

15,148
(7,727)

a

–
–

–
–
(2,677)

(1,637)
–
–

–
–

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit superannuation plans operated by CHEDHA and ETSA (the Associates) are recognised directly in Retained Earnings.

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Audit and review of financial report 		
Tax advice		
Other accounting services		

218,660
69,719
31,000

203,280
138,900
5,250

83,220
–
–

80,912
–
–

		

319,379

347,430

83,220

80,912

18.	Remuneration of External Auditor

The auditor of Spark Infrastructure and the Company is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

241,364
1,014,531
23.79¢

170,004
1,008,651
16.85¢

–
–
–

–
–
–

122,548

9,453

–

–

12.08¢

0.94¢

–

–

19.	Earnings per Security (“EPS”) a
Profit before income tax and Loan Note interest per security		
Weighted average number of securities (‘000)b		
Basic earnings per security before income tax and Loan Notes interest (cents)
Earnings used to calculate EPS
Basic earnings per security based on net profit attributable to Stapled
Securityholders (cents)		
a
b

Basic EPS is the same as diluted EPS.
The weighted average number of securities has been calculated on the basis that quotation on the new stapled securities on the ASX commenced on 30 September 2009.
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Cents
per Security

Total
$’000

Cents
per Security

Total
$’000

Distribution Paid:
Interim distribution in respect of year ended 31 December 2009
paid on 15 September 2009 (2008: 15 September 2008):
Interest on Loan Notes		
Capital distribution		

6.72
–

67,781
–

6.77
2.48

68,286
25,015

		

6.72

67,781

9.25

93,301

Distribution Payable:
Final distribution in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009
payable on 15 March 2010 (2008: 13 March 2009):
Interest on Loan Notes a		
Capital distribution b		

6.84
–

70,583
–

6.85
2.41

69,093
24,308

		

6.84

70,583

9.26

93,401

Total paid and payable		

13.56

138,364

18.51

186,702

20.	Distribution Paid and Payable

The distributions are unfranked and are made by Spark Infrastructure Trust.
a
b

Recognised amount.
Unrecognised amount.

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

27,479
90,020

2,095
–

–
–

–
–

117,499

2,095

–

–

(b) Other Expenditure Commitments
Share of associates’ other expenditure commitments:
– Not longer than 1 year		
– Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years		
– Longer than 5 years		

2,500
10,042
15,425

2,485
9,865
17,818

–
–
–

–
–
–

		

27,967

30,168

–

–

21.	Commitments for Expenditure
(a)	Capital Expenditure Commitments
Share of associates’ capital expenditure commitments:
– Not longer than 1 year		
– Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years		

There are no capital expenditure or other expenditure commitments in Spark Infrastructure.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Contingent Liabilities
Share of associates’ contingent liabilities 		

13,794

12,557

–

–

		

13,794

12,557

–

–

22.	Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

The contingent liabilities relate to guarantees provided to various parties by CHEDHA and ETSA. There are no contingent liabilities or contingent
assets in any of the Spark Infrastructure Stapled Entities.
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23.	Related Party Disclosures
(a)	Directors
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate Director for Mr Kam).
Remuneration
The aggregate remuneration paid to Directors of Spark Infrastructure is set out below:
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$

2008
$

2009
$

2008
$

Directors’ fees – short term benefits		
Director’s fees – post employment benefits		

1,032,203
43,002

932,439
31,561

344,067
14,335

310,813
10,520

		

1,075,205

964,000

358,402

321,333

The remuneration paid to Directors is shared equally by the three operating companies in the stapled group.
In addition to the Directors’ fees set out under Remuneration of Directors, Ms Cheryl Bart, Ms Anne McDonald and Dr Keith Turner were entitled
to Directors’ fees as representatives of Spark Infrastructure on the ETSA and CHEDHA Boards (the Asset Company Boards) as set out below. These
fees were paid by the Asset Companies.
During the period Ms Bart was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the ETSA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $15,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of $10,000
During the period Ms McDonald was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the CHEDHA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Member of Audit Committee – annual fee of $10,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $5,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of $10,000
From 17 November 2009 Dr Keith Turner was entitled to annual Directors’ fees of $150,000 as a director on the ETSA and CHEDHA boards
comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director of the CHEDHA boards – annual fee of $75,000
• Non-executive Director of the ETSA boards – annual fee of $75,000
In addition, from the date of his appointment as a director on the Spark Infrastructure Boards until 17 November 2009, Dr Keith Turner was
appointed as a consultant by the Spark Infrastructure Board to attend the Asset Company Board meetings by invitation. A consultancy agreement
on standard terms and conditions was prepared to reflect this arrangement. Dr Turner was paid a fee of $102,842 for both Boards (being a prorated
amount of $75,000 per annum for each Board).
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23. Related Party Disclosures continued

Security Holdings
The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure for the Financial Year is as follows:
	Opening Balance	Net Movement	Closing Balance
1 January 2009
Acquired/(Disposed)
31 December 2009
Directors
(No.)
(No.)
(No.)
Mr Stephen Johns		
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO		
Mr John Dorrian		
Mr Andrew Hunter		
Mr Hing Lam Kam		
Mr Timothy Keith		
Ms Anne McDonald a		
Mr Don Morley		
Dr Keith Turner b		
Mr Dominic Chan c		
a
b
c

355,000		
125,000		
136,428		
–		
–		
–		
–		
225,000		
–		
–		

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.

The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure in respect of the previous financial year was as follows:

Directors
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Mr Shaun Mays d
Mr Don Morley
Mr Dominic Chan e
Mr Peter St George f
d
e
f

Opening Balance
1 January 2008
(No.)

Net Movement
Acquired/(Disposed)
(No.)

355,000		
125,000		
162,150		
–		
–		
–		
–		
225,000		
–		
71,400		

Closing Balance
31 December 2008
(No.)

–		
–		
(25,722)		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
71,400

Resigned on 17 March 2008.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.
Resigned on 31 December 2008.

(b)	Manager
Spark Infrastructure has entered into a Management Agreement with the Manager to provide management services, as set out in the agreement.
The services provided include development of financial and investment strategy, preparation of investment proposals for approval by the Board,
development of proposals for debt and equity raising and management of day-to-day operations.
The term of the Management Agreement is 25 years and is terminable by Spark Infrastructure or the Manager under certain circumstances.
The Manager is entitled to a base fee and a performance fee. The base fee is calculated at 0.5% of enterprise value of Spark Infrastructure up to
$2.443 billion plus 1.0% of any amount over $2.443 billion.
During the Financial Year, an amount of $7,905,000 (2008: $9,795,000) was payable to the Manager in base fees.
Performance Fee
No Performance Fee was payable in the current year (2008: $16,544,000). The Performance Fee is an incentive fee payable for market
outperformance and is not related to the operational performance of the Asset Companies. The outperformance is measured each half year by the
movement in the Spark Accumulation Index relative to the benchmark index, which is the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation Index. The fee
represents 20% of the outperformance.
During the half year ended 30 June 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s Accumulation Index underperformed the benchmark index by 5.9%, reflecting a
deficit for the half year period of $67,978,000. Accordingly, no Performance Fee was payable at 30 June 2009.
During the half year ended 31 December 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s Accumulation Index outperformed the benchmark index by 2.0%, reflecting a
surplus of $20,594,000 for the half year period. After taking into account the brought forward deficit at 31 December 2008 of $34,819,000 and the
movement in the two half year periods, the carried forward deficit at 31 December 2009 is $82,203,000.
The Manager is jointly owned by CKI and RREEF.
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23. Related Party Disclosures continued

(c)	Responsible Entity
The responsible entity of Spark Trust is Spark RE. During the Financial Year, an amount of $100,000 (2008: $100,000) was paid to Spark RE
for acting as trustee.
(d) Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)
KMP are those having the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of an entity. The Directors meet the definition
of KMP. Since the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling activities has not been delegated to the Manager, there are no other
KMP in Spark Infrastructure. The Stapled Entities have no employees.
(e)	Other Related Parties
The other related parties include:
• associates;
• subsidiaries; and
• entities within Spark Infrastructure.
Associates
The details of ownership interests in associates are provided in Note 7. The details of loans provided to associates and interest receivable are
detailed in Notes 8 and 5 respectively. Details of interest income on these loans are detailed in Note 3(a).
Subsidiaries
The details of ownership interest in subsidiaries are provided in Note 25. The details of amounts owing at the end of the Financial Year are provided
in Note 10. The terms of the tax sharing and tax funding agreements entered into by SIH No. 1 and SIH No. 2 with their subsidiaries are provided in
Note 4.
Entities within Spark Infrastructure
There are no loan receivables to the Company from other entities within Spark Infrastructure. The loan payable from the Company relates to an
intercompany transaction with Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited.

24. Subsequent Events
There were no events, other than those described in this report, that have arisen since the end of the Financial Year that have significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operations of Spark Infrastructure.

25.	Controlled Entities
				
2009
				
Equity
			Country of	Holdings
Entity			Incorporation
(%)

2008
Equity
Holdings
(%)

Controlled entities of SIH No. 1a
– Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited b			

Australia

100

100

Controlled entities of SIH No. 2
– Spark Infrastructure (South Australia) Pty Limited c			
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No 1) Pty Limited c			
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No 2) Pty Limited c			
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No 3) Pty Limited c			

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

a

a
b
c

Head entity of a tax consolidated group.
An entity within a tax consolidated group with SIH No. 1 as the head entity.
An entity within a tax consolidated group with SIH No. 2 as the head entity.

There has been no change in controlled entities during the Financial Year.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE

38

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$

2008
$

2009
$

2008
$

(a)	Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market
instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents
as at the end of the Financial Year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash on hand and at bank		
Cash at call		
Cash on deposit		

4,161
–
110,188

1,540
16,620
35,183

–
–
–

–
–
–

Cash and Cash Equivalents		

114,349

53,343

–

–

(b)	Financing Facilities
Syndicated unsecured bank loan facility:
– Amount used		
– Amount unused		

425,000
–

425,000
–

–
–

–
–

		

425,000

425,000

–

–

Unsecured working capital facilities, reviewed annually and payable at call:
– Amount used		
– Amount unused		

–
100,000

–
100,000

–
–

–
–

		

100,000

100,000

–

–

(c)	Reconciliation of Profit/(loss) for the
	Financial Year to Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow)
	Related to Operating Activities:
Net profit/(loss) after tax 		
Loan Note interest expense		
Non-cash interest expense		
Non-cash amortisation expense		
(Decrease)/increase in tax balances		
Share of profits of associates (less dividends/distribution)		
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in current receivables		
Increase/(decrease) in current payables		

122,548
138,364
1,377
11
(19,548)
(94,713)

9,453
137,390
576
–
23,161
(64,039)

(1,040)
–
–
–
(359)
–

(668)
–
–
–
(286)
–

1,941
172

2,559
(1,267)

(3)
–

(73)
–

Net cash inflow/(outflow) related to operating activities		

150,152

107,833

(1,402)

(1,027)

26.	Notes to the Statement of Cashflows

27.	Financial Instruments
(a)	Financial Risk Management Objectives
Spark Infrastructure’s treasury function manages the financial risks and co-ordinates access to financial markets.
Spark Infrastructure does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by Spark Infrastructure’s treasury policy, approved by the Board, which has written principles on the use of
financial derivatives. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a regular basis.
Spark Infrastructure’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. Spark Infrastructure enters into interest rate
swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements, including interest rate swaps, forward interest rate contracts and interest rate options.
Spark Infrastructure has no exposure to foreign currency.
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27. Financial Instruments continued

(b)	Capital Risk Management
The capital structure of Spark Infrastructure comprises of debt, loan notes attributable to the Securityholders and equity. As the loan notes are a
long term instrument and subordinated, they are regarded as part of equity capital for these purposes. On this basis the total equity capital of Spark
Infrastructure as at 31 December 2009 was $1,833,002,000 (2008:$1,622,184,000) comprising $1,256,792,000 in loan notes and $576,210,000 in
equity attributable to the Stapled Securityholders.
Spark Infrastructure manages its capital through the use of a combination of debt and equity to ensure that it will be able to operate as a going
concern, and provide appropriate returns to Stapled Securityholders.
The debt covenants under senior debt facility requires, inter alia, that the gearing at Spark Infrastructure does not exceed 30% and on a
consolidated basis (including its proportionate share of debt of the Asset Companies) the gearing does not exceed 75% at any time. During the
Financial Year, Spark Infrastructure complied with all of its debt covenants.
On 29 May 2009, Spark Infrastructure announced changes to its capital management plans. This included a reduction in the level of distributions
and the activation of its Distributions Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) for the June 2009 half year distribution. The Strategic Review announced by Spark
Infrastructure in February 2010 may potentially lead to further changes in capital management plans.
Spark Infrastructure holds a 49% interest in CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”) – which represents the 49% interest in two electricity
distribution businesses in Victoria (i.e. CitiPower and Powercor) and ETSA Utilities – which represents the 49% interest in the electricity distribution
business in South Australia and as such, does not control these businesses and is not in a position to determine their distribution policy. Further,
the revenue of the Asset Companies is significantly reliant on the regulatory determinations of the Australian Energy Regulator. This could in turn
impact on distributions received by Spark Infrastructure.
(c) Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1.
(d)	Categories of Financial Instruments
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Financial assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents		
Receivables from Associates		
Loans to Associates		

114,349
11,466
745,927

53,343
13,367
792,698

–
–
–

–
–
–

Financial liabilities
Payables		
Loan Note interest payable		
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships		
Loans at amortised cost		
Loan Notes at amortised cost		

4,321
70,465
3,958
425,000
1,256,792

4,148
68,975
17,596
423,623
1,231,515

14,133
–
–
–
–

12,730
–
–
–
–

(e)	Financial Market Risk
The principal financial market risk that Spark Infrastructure is exposed to is interest rate risk. Note (f) below discusses the strategy adopted to
manage this risk. Spark Infrastructure does not have any other financial market risk.
Further, the revenue of the Asset Companies is significantly reliant on the regulatory determinations of the Australian Energy Regulator. This could
in turn impact on distributions received by Spark Infrastructure.
(f)	Interest Rate Risk Management
Spark Infrastructure is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds at floating interest rates. The risk is managed principally through the use
of interest rate swap contracts.
Interest Rate Swap Contracts
Under interest rate swap contracts, Spark Infrastructure agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts
calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable Spark Infrastructure to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on
debt held. The fair values of interest rate swaps are based on market values of equivalent instruments at the reporting date and are disclosed
below. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the Financial Year.
As Spark Infrastructure’s interest bearing liabilities are either at a fixed rate of interest or are currently fully hedged to a fixed rate of interest,
any movement in interest rates in the Financial Year would have had a minimal impact on the net profit attributable to Spark Infrastructure.
The sensitivity analysis contained in the table below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and nonderivative instruments at reporting date. The impact of a 200 basis points (“bps”) movement has been selected as this is considered reasonable
given the current level of both short and long term AUD interest rates.
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27. Financial Instruments continued

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
	Consolidated
Net Profit	Other Comprehensive
($’000)	Income ($’000)
200 bps Increase in Interest Rate		

2009

2008

2009

2008

Variable Rate		
Derivatives in hedging relationships		

8,500
(8,500)

8,500
(8,500)

–
10,230

–
20,230

–

10,230

20,230

Total		

–

Company – nil
The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at reporting date:
Average Contracted	Notional Principal	Fair Value
Spark Infrastructure	Fixed Interest Rate
Amount
Amount
Outstanding Floating for		
Fixed Contracts

2009
(%)

2008
(%)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Less than 1 year
1 to 2 years
2 to 5 years

6.00
5.30
–

–
6.00
5.30

225,000
200,000
–

–
225,000
200,000

(2,906)
(1,052)
–

–
(10,348)
(7,248)

			

425,000

425,000

(3,958)

(17,596)

All interest rate swap contracts on behalf of Spark Infrastructure have been entered into by a subsidiary of SIH No. 1.
The interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated and effective as cashflow
hedges. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (“BBSY”), which is used as the basis of pricing financial
instruments in Australia. Spark Infrastructure settles the difference between fixed and floating interest rates on a net basis.
(g)	Credit Risk Management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Spark Infrastructure.
Spark Infrastructure’s credit risk arises from cash held on deposit. Spark Infrastructure has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and establishing and maintaining limits, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Spark Infrastructure’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the transactions are spread amongst approved counterparties
to minimise risk to any single counterparty.
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.
(h)	Liquidity Risk Management
Spark Infrastructure manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash reserves and banking facilities (including undrawn working capital facilities)
and monitoring continuously forecast and actual cashflows. Details of undrawn facilities are provided in Note 26.
Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables
The following tables detail Spark Infrastructure’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cashflows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which Spark Infrastructure can be required to
make payment. The tables include undiscounted amounts for both interest and principal cashflows.
	Weighted						
Average						
	Effective	Less than
1–3
3 Months
2–5
5+
Consolidated	Interest Rate
1 Month	Months
to 1 Year	Years	Years	Total
2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

4,321

–

–

–

4,321

6.46

–

1,278

251,159

337,188

–

589,625

10.85

–

70,583

69,344

559,709

14,023,263

14,722,900

Total		

–

76,182

320,503

896,897

14,023,263

15,316,846

Payables
Interest bearing
liabilities a
Loan Notes
attributable to
Securityholders b
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27. Financial Instruments continued

	Weighted						
Average						
	Effective	Less than
1–3
3 Months
2–5
5+
Consolidated	Interest Rate
1 Month	Months
to 1 Year	Years	Years	Total
2008

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

4,148

–

–

–

4,148

6.46

–

1,229

27,014

562,275

–

590,518

10.85

–

69,093

68,296

548,556

13,837,926

14,523,871

Total		

–

74,470

95,310

1,110,831

13,837,926

15,118,537

Payables
Interest bearing
liabilities a
Loan Notes
attributable to
Securityholders b

a
b

Effective interest rate reflects fully hedged rate.
The Loan Notes have a term of 100 years, maturing in 2105. The interest on Loan Notes is fixed at 10.85% per annum on a notional principal balance of $1.25 per Loan
Note for the period to 30 November 2010; and for periods thereafter interest is based on the relevant swap rate plus a margin of 4%. In the above tables the Loan Note
interest rate of 10.85% has been assumed for the remaining 95 years of the Loan Notes post 30 November 2010, however the rate will be subject to finalisation at a later
date. The amounts disclosed in the tables above reflect undiscounted amounts for interest for the remaining 95 years of the Loan Notes plus the outstanding principal due
to be repaid in 2105. The Responsible Entity may defer interest payments, by notice to the Note Trustee and Noteholders. Interest continues to accrue on any outstanding
amount. All outstanding interest must be paid on the next reset date, except to the extent that monies are owing by a Stapled Entity to any bank, financial institution or other
entity providing financial accommodation (secured or unsecured) for over $5,000,000. Deferral of interest payments, and non payment on a reset date in the circumstances
described above, does not constitute a default.

	Weighted
Average						
	Effective	Less than
1–3
3 Months
2–5
5+
Company	Interest Rate
1 Month	Months
to 1 Year	Years	Years	Total
2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Payables

–

–

–

14,133

–

–

14,133

Total

–

–

–

14,133

–

–

14,133

	Weighted
Average						
	Effective	Less than
1–3
3 Months
2–5
5+
Company	Interest Rate
1 Month	Months
to 1 Year	Years	Years	Total
2008

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Payables

–

–

–

12,730

–

–

12,730

Total

–

–

–

12,730

–

–

12,730

(i)	Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements approximates their
fair values.
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market prices;
• the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cashflow analysis; and
• the fair values of derivative instruments, included in hedging assets and liabilities, are calculated using market values. Where such prices are
not available, use is made of discounted cashflow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments.
The only financial instruments measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair values are the Loan Notes. The fair value measurements are
derived from observable inputs other than quoted prices. These are deemed to be level 2 fair value measurements in accordance with AASB 139.

28. Additional Company Information
SIH No. 1 was incorporated in Australia.
The registered office of business of SIH No. 1 is as follows:
Level 6, 255 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia.

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE

42

Directors’ Declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable;
(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including
compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company and the
Consolidated Entity; and
(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director
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independent auditor’s report
to the members of spark infrastructure group

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Spark Infrastructure Group, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2009, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year
ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration
of the consolidated entity comprising Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.1 Limited (the parent entity) and the entities it controlled (including the
stapled entities of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited, Spark International Holdings Limited and Spark Infrastructure Trust) (collectively
“Spark Infrastructure Group”) at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 19 to 42.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Spark Infrastructure Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2009 and of their performance for
the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 16 to 17 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009. The directors of
the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations
Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Spark Infrastructure Group for the year ended 31 December 2009, complies with section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

S C Gustafson
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Sydney, 25 February 2010

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

SPARK
INFRASTRUCTURE
TRUST
Financial Report for the Year ended 31 December 2009
(ARSN 116 870 725)

Spark Infrastructure comprises Spark Infrastructure Trust, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited
and Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited.
Each Unit in Spark Infrastructure Trust is stapled to one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, one share in Spark Infrastructure
Holdings No. 2 Limited, one CHESS Depositary Interest representing one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited and one loan
note issued by Spark Infrastructure Trust. The stapled Securities trade on the Australian Securities Exchange.
This financial report relates to the performance of Spark Infrastructure Trust only. As the Securities are held by investors in
a stapled structure, the financial results of Spark Infrastructure (as lodged with the Australian Securities Exchange on 26
February 2010) represent the most concise information regarding the performance of investors’ funds.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Spark Infrastructure RE Limited (“Spark RE”) as
responsible entity of Spark Infrastructure Trust (“Trust”) provide this
financial report for the year ended 31 December 2009 (“Financial Year”).
In order to comply with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,
the Directors report as follows:
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date
of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate director for Mr Kam).
The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
are provided below:
Mr Stephen Johns BEc, FCA
Chairman and independent director (since November 2005)
Mr Johns had a long executive career with Westfield where he held
a number of positions including that of Finance Director from 1985 to
2002. He was appointed an executive Director of Westfield Holdings
Limited and Westfield Trust in 1985 and Westfield America Trust upon
its listing in 1996. He became a non-executive Director of the three
Westfield boards in October 2003. He is currently a non-executive
Director of the Westfield Group, which resulted from the merger of
the three listed entities in July 2004.
Mr Johns was a non-executive Director of Brambles Industries Limited
and Brambles Industries plc from August 2004 to December 2006, at
which time he became a non-executive Director of Brambles Limited,
the new holding company of the Brambles Group following a corporate
reorganisation which became effective in December 2006.
Mr Johns was appointed to the Board of Leighton Holdings Limited on
21 December 2009.
He is also a Director of Sydney Symphony Limited.
Mr Johns has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Brambles Limited
Westfield Group:
– Westfield Holdings Limited
– Westfield America Trust (Director
of responsible entity, Westfield
America Management Limited)
– Westfield Trust (Director of
responsible entity,
Westfield Management Limited)
Leighton Holdings Limited

August 2006 to current
November 1985 to current

February 1996 to current

November 1985 to current
21 December 2009 to current

Ms Cheryl Bart AO, BCom, LLB, FAICD
Independent director (since November 2005)
Ms Bart is a lawyer and has been a non-executive Director on the
board of ETSA Utilities (“ETSA”) since 1995.
She has significant utilities industry experience and is Chairman
of the Audit Committee of ETSA and a member of its Risk and
Compliance Committee.
Ms Bart is Chairman of ANZ Trustees Limited, the Environment
Protection Authority (EPA), the South Australian Film Corporation,
the Adelaide Film Festival and the Adelaide Film Festival
Investment Fund and Deputy Chair of the Alcohol Education
and Rehabilitation Foundation.
Her other current directorship positions include the William Buckland
Foundation and Global Properties Limited.
Her previous directorships include the Economic Development Board
(SA), Sydney Ports Corporation, the Australian Sports Foundation,
Soccer Australia, the Information Economy Advisory Board and Defence
Industries Advisory Board (DIAB).
Ms Bart is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
(“ARMC”).
Ms Bart was awarded the Order of Australia in the Australia Day
Honours in January 2009.
Ms Bart has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Global Properties Limited
ANZ Trustees Limited

2004 to current
2006 to current

Mr John D Dorrian BA, FCA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since August 2007)
John Dorrian is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG, Head
of RREEF Alternative Investments Australia and Head of RREEF
Infrastructure Investments, Asia Pacific. RREEF is the alternative
investment management division of Deutsche Asset Management,
a member of the Deutsche Bank Group.
He is an Executive Director of Deutsche Asset Management (Australia)
Limited and a non executive director of a number of Australian
companies including, Australia Pacific Airports Corporation Limited,
CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”), the holding company of
CitiPower and Powercor Australia (“Powercor”), CitiPower, Powercor
and ETSA. He is also a director of DWS Global Agricultural Land and
Opportunities Fund Limited.
Mr Dorrian is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Dorrian has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
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Mr Andrew Hunter MA, MBA, MICAS, MHKICPA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2006)
Mr Hunter is currently an executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of Cheung Kong Infrastructure (“CKI”). In addition, he serves
as Chief Financial Officer of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited and is
an executive Director of Hong Kong Electric (Holdings) Limited.
Mr Hunter has more than 24 years experience in accounting and
financial management and holds a range of directorships in CKI
related companies.
He is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
Mr Hunter was also an alternate Director for Mr Kam on the Spark
Infrastructure Group Boards up until 13 February 2009.
Mr Hunter is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Hunter has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Mr Hing Lam Kam BSc, MBA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2005)
Mr Kam has been Managing Director of CKI since its incorporation
in May 1996 and the Deputy Managing Director of Cheung Kong
(Holdings) Limited since February 1993. He has played a leading role in
developing the Cheung Kong Group’s corporate and strategic direction.
Mr Kam is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of CK Life
Sciences International (Holdings) Inc. and an executive Director of
Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Hong Kong Electric Holdings Limited.
In Australia, Mr Kam is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor,
ETSA and Aqua Tower.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

1999 to August 2007

Ms Anne McDonald BEc, FCA
Independent Director (since January 2009)
Ms McDonald served as a partner of Ernst & Young for 15 years until
2005. She has broad based business and financial experience, gained
through working with a wide cross section of international and local
companies, assisting them with audit, transaction due diligence and
regulatory and accounting requirements. She was a Board member of
Ernst & Young Australia for 7 years.
Ms McDonald is a non-executive Director of listed entities, including
the GPT Group and Speciality Fashion Group Limited. She is also a
non-executive Director of Westpac Bank’s Life and General Insurance
businesses, St Vincent’s Health Australia and Health Super.
Ms McDonald is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower and Powercor. In
addition, she is Chairman of the Audit Committee of CHEDHA and a
member of its Risk and Compliance Committee.
Ms McDonald is a member of the ARMC and the Compliance Committee.
Ms McDonald has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
GPT Group
Specialty Fashion Group Limited

2006 to current
2007 to current
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Mr Don Morley BSc MBA, Hon. FAustIMM
Independent Director (since November 2005)
Mr Morley is the Chairman of Alumina Limited (since 2002) and an
independent Director of Iluka Resources Limited (since 2002).
He was previously a Director of Finance at WMC Limited with over
30 years of service.
Mr Morley is the Chairman of the ARMC.
Mr Morley has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Alumina Limited
Iluka Resources Limited

2002 to current
2002 to current

Dr Keith Turner BE(Hons), ME, PhD ElecEng
Independent Director (since March 2009)
Dr Turner was appointed to the Spark Infrastructure Boards on
13 March 2009.
Dr Turner possesses extensive experience in the New Zealand energy
sector. Most recently, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Meridian
Energy Limited from 1999 to 2008. Prior to that, he worked as a
private energy expert advising a range of large corporate clients and
Government. He has previously served in a number of senior roles in
establishing Contact Energy, and in the Electricity Corporation of New
Zealand, and the New Zealand Electricity Department, as well as many
industry reform roles.
He is currently the Deputy Chairman of Auckland International Airport
and is Chairman of Flight Experience Group, Oceania Dairy Group and
Waitaki Wind.
Dr Turner was appointed as a Director of ETSA, CHEDHA, CitiPower
and Powercor on 17 November 2009. Prior to that, Dr Turner served
as a consultant to the Spark Infrastructure Board attending ETSA and
CHEDHA Board meetings by invitation from March 2009.
Dr Turner has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Auckland International Airport Limited 2004 to current
Mr Dominic Loi Shun Chan FCPA, FCCA
Alternate Director to Mr Hing Lam Kam (since December 2008)
Mr Chan currently is Chief Financial Officer of CKI and has over
20 years experience in the accounting profession.
In Australia, Mr Chan is a Director of Envestra Limited. He is an
alternate Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
In the UK, Mr Chan is a Director of Cambridge Water plc.
Mr Chan has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity
Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

2005 to current

Mr Timothy B Keith BA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since March 2008 – resigned 15 March 2010)
Mr Keith is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG and the
Chief Executive Officer of RREEF Infrastructure and Private Equity
Investments, based in New York. He is responsible for managing
the global operations of these businesses for RREEF Alternative
Investments, which is the fiduciary investment operation within
Deutsche Asset Management.
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Stapled Securities

Prior to taking this position, he was the Global Chief Investment Officer
of RREEF Infrastructure and Head of Business Development of RREEF
Alternative Investments and the co-chair of the RREEF Alternative
Assets Investment Committee. Formerly, Mr Keith was a partner of
RREEF America LLC prior to its acquisition by Deutsche Bank; Chief
Executive Officer of Cabot Industrial Trust after its privatisation and
de-listing; and Regional Vice President of Meridian Industrial Trust.
Mr Keith has over 14 years experience in the funds management
industry and managing public companies and over 20 years’ experience
in investment markets. He has specialised in real estate markets for
most of his career, with substantial experience in direct investments,
formation of long term operating partnerships, initial public offerings
and privatisations of public companies. He has had executive
management and investment roles in infrastructure for five years.
Mr Keith is a non-executive Director of Maher Terminals LLC.
Mr Keith has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.

The Spark Infrastructure Group is a stapled structure, wherein:
• one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings (No. 1) Limited (“SIH No. 1”);
• one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings (No. 2) Limited (“SIH No. 2”);
• one Unit in the Trust;
• one CHESS Depositary Interest representing one share in Spark
Infrastructure Holdings International Limited (Spark International); and
• one Loan Note issued by the responsible entity of the Trust
are “stapled” and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX”) as if they were a single security.

Review of Operations
The Trust made a profit after tax of $7,397,000 (2008: $7,397,000)
during the Financial Year.

Capital Management, Distributions and
Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”)

Company Secretary

On 29 May 2009, Spark Infrastructure provided updated distribution
guidance for 2009 and information on its capital funding plans. This
included a reduction in the level of distributions and the activation of
its DRP for the June 2009 half year distribution. The Directors believe that
these two measures should be sufficient to meet Spark Infrastructure’s
funding requirements until the end of 2010 for the increased growth
capital expenditure requirements of the Asset Companies.
An interim cash distribution of 6.72 cents per security (“cps”) was paid
on 15 September 2009 and was fully comprised of interest on the Loan
Notes for the half year ended 30 June 2009. Approximately 37.3%
of stapled securities participated in the DRP and were issued with
23,260,086 stapled securities at a VWAP of $1.0862 per security, which
included a discount of 2.5%, totalling $25,266,000.
The Directors have declared a final distribution of 6.84 cps which will be
paid on 15 March 2010 taking the aggregate distribution for the year to
13.56 cps. The final distribution comprises interest on the Loan Notes only.
The DRP has been suspended as of 25 February 2010.

Ms Alexandra Finley Dip Law, MLM
Ms Finley is an experienced corporate governance professional with over
15 years legal and commercial experience gained in private practice
and in-house. Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, she spent almost
10 years with National Australia Bank/MLC in various senior legal and
commercial roles, most recently as Company Secretary of the MLC
Group of Companies.
Ms Finley has extensive experience in the financial services sector
including mergers and acquisitions, risk management and regulatory
compliance and has held strategic, operational and management
roles. As a senior lawyer and senior associate in private practice, her
experience includes property and construction, banking and finance,
workplace relations and corporate advisory.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Trust during the Financial Year was
providing loans to related parties.

Distributions paid to Securityholders during the year were:
	Final 2008	Interim 2009	Total
distribution paid
distribution paid 	Distribution
13 March 2009
15 September 2009	Paid
Cents per		
security
$’000
Interest on loan notes
Capital distribution

Cents per		
security
$’000

$’000

6.85
2.41

69,093
24,308

6.72
–

67,781
–

136,874
24,308

Total
Distributions reinvested

9.26
–

93,401
–

6.72
–

67,781
(25,266)

161,182
(25,266)

Total (net of DRP)

9.26

93,401

6.72

42,515

135,916

Distributions paid and payable to Securityholders in respect of the year were:
2009
		
		

2008

Cents per		
security
$’000

Cents per
security

$’000

Interim distribution paid		
Final distribution proposed		

6.72
6.84

67,781
70,583

9.25
9.26

93,301
93,401

Total		

13.56

138,364

18.51

186,702

All distributions were unfranked and made by the Trust.
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Outlook and Strategic Review

Future Developments

Spark Infrastructure has also announced it will undertake a Strategic
Review with the view to maximising Securityholder value in light of
changing market conditions. The review follows steps taken by the
Board in May 2009 to address capital and regulatory developments.
Spark Infrastructure and its 51% partners at the Asset Company level
(Cheung Kong Infrastructure and Hong Kong Electric) are reviewing
business plans for the three Asset Companies. In doing so, Spark
Infrastructure recognises that the environment for infrastructure
investment (particularly in the listed market) has changed significantly
in the past 18–24 months as has the approach to the funding of
investment and capital expenditure post the global financial crisis. In
addition, the total amount of required capital expenditure of the Asset
Companies is expected to roughly double in the next regulatory period.
The Asset Companies have indicated their desire to retain a greater
proportion of cash from operations to modestly reduce their gearing
levels and to contribute to the funding of this capital expenditure.
This would limit their cash distributions to their shareholders during
the next regulatory period. In turn, this would affect the level of
distributions Spark Infrastructure is able to pay to its Securityholders
from the cash it receives from the Asset Companies. Notwithstanding
the impact that this would have on the cash resources of Spark
Infrastructure, it is important to note that the increased capital
expenditure enhances the long term value of the Asset Companies
through a higher revenue base.
As part of the Strategic Review, it is expected that a wide range of
options will be explored and evaluated. These options include changes
in corporate structure, changes in capital structure, capital raisings
and proposals that involve asset sales or a change of control of Spark
Infrastructure. Future distribution policy will be subject to the outcomes
of the Strategic Review and therefore guidance for 2010 cannot be
provided at this stage. The Strategic Review is likely to take several
months and the Board will keep the market appropriately informed of
developments in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations.

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the
operations of the Trust not otherwise disclosed elsewhere in this
report is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice. Accordingly,
such information has not been disclosed in this report.

Information Applicable to Registered Schemes
The fees paid to Spark RE, the responsible entity of the Trust, and
its associates (including Directors) are disclosed in Note 15 to the
Financial Statements.
Spark RE does not hold any Stapled Securities. The number of Stapled
Securities at the beginning and end of the Financial Year are disclosed
in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.

Changes in State of Affairs
There has been no change in the activities of the Trust during the
Financial Year.

Environmental Regulations
The Trust is not subject to any environmental regulations.
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Events Occurring after Reporting Date
The Directors of Spark RE are not aware of any other matter or
circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report that has
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations or the
state of affairs in the period since 31 December 2009.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
The Directors and former Directors of Spark RE and the officers of
Spark RE are indemnified under Spark RE’s constitution against all
liabilities to another person that may arise from their position as
directors or officers of Spark RE subject to the limitations imposed by
the Corporations Act 2001.
During the Financial Year, the Trust paid a premium in respect of a
contract of insurance indemnifying the Directors against a liability
incurred as such a Director to the extent permitted by the Corporations
Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature
of the liability and the amount of the premium.
The entities have not otherwise, during or since the end of the
Financial Year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor
of the Trust or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred
as such an officer or auditor, except to the extent permitted by law.

Options over Securities
No options have been granted over the unissued Units of the Trust or
Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure.

Directors’ Meetings
The business of the Trust is carried out by the responsible entity,
Spark RE.
The following table sets out the number of meetings of Directors of
Spark RE held during the Financial Year and the number of meetings
attended by each Director for which they were eligible to attend (i.e.
in the case of Directors, while they were appointed and where they
were not disqualified from attending due to observation of processes
to guard against any perceived conflict of interests, and in the case of
Alternate Directors, while they were appointed and meetings for which
they were nominated to attend as alternate).
During the Financial Year, 7 Board meetings, 2 Board Sub-Committee
meetings, 5 ARMC meetings and 4 Compliance Committee meetings
of the Company were held. References to meetings “Held” means the
number of meetings a director was eligible to attend.
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Audit and Risk
		Board	Management	Compliance
	Board of Directors
Sub-Committee	Committee (‘ARMC’)	Committee d
Directors

Held

Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a d
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
(as alternate Director)
a
b
c
d

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
6

7
7
7
5
2
6
7
7
6

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

–
5
5
5
–
–
5
5
–

–
5
5
2
–
–
5
5
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

5

3

–

–

–

–

–

–

Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009.
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.
During the year, Ms McDonald was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a Committee of the Board).

Directors’ Stapled Security Holdings
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the Stapled Securities as at the date of this report:
		
Directors 	Opening Balance (No.)
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
a
b
c

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Net Movement
Acquired/(Disposed) (No.)	Closing Balance (No.)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–
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Remuneration Report
Remuneration of Directors
The Directors’ fees are reviewed by the Board and are subject to an aggregate fees pool limit of $2,000,000 per annum (inclusive of
superannuation). Any increase to this limit will be submitted to the Stapled Security Holders at an annual general meeting for approval.
The Trust’s share of remuneration (including superannuation) of each Director paid or accrued in respect of the Financial Year is set out below:
			
Short term 	Post			Employment	Employment
			Benefits 	Benefits
			Directors’ Fees
Directors			
$
Chairman
Mr Stephen Jones		
		
Non-executive Directors
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO		
		
Mr John Dorrian a 		
		
Mr Andrew Hunter a		
		
Mr Hing Lam Kam a		
		
Mr Timothy Keith a b		
		
Mr Shaun Mays a b		
		
Ms Anne McDonald c		
		
Mr Don Morley 		
		
Dr Keith Turner d		
		
Mr Peter St George e		
		

Superannuation	Total
$
$

2009
2008

70,299
70,521

4,701
4,479

75,000
75,000

2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008
2009
2008

33,639
32,569
36,667
35,500
36,667
35,500
33,333
33,333
33,333
26,374
–
6,960
36,697
–
36,697
34,556
26,735
–
–
35,500

3,028
2,931
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
3,303
–
3,303
3,111
–
–
–
–

36,667
35,500
36,667
35,500
36,667
35,500
33,333
33,333
33,333
26,374
–
6,960
40,000
–
40,000
37,667
26,735
–
–
35,500

Total		

2009

344,067

14,335

358,402

		

2008

310,813

10,251

321,334

a
b
c
d
e

The Directors’ fees for Mr Kam and Mr Hunter were paid to CKI, while the fees for Mr Keith, Mr Dorrian and Mr Mays were paid to RREEF Infrastructure.
Mr Mays resigned on 17 March 2008. Mr Keith was appointed on the same date.
Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009. She was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a Committee of the Board).
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009 (see also Note 15 Related Party Disclosures).
Mr St George resigned on 31 December 2008.

Board and Committee Remuneration Policy
The remuneration of Spark Infrastructure’s Directors is benchmarked to the remuneration of Directors of comparable enterprises periodically using
an independent external consulting firm. A broad cross section of parameters are used by the external firms in determining comparable entities,
including:
• Market capitalisation;
• Revenue; and
• Total assets.
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The Directors’ remuneration also takes into consideration the following matters:
• Fee levels for all non-executive Directors to be positioned between the median and the 75th percentile of the general market comprising comparable
board roles in listed companies within the range of half to twice the market capitalisation, revenue and total assets of Spark Infrastructure;
• The Chairman’s fee to be in the range of 2.0 and 2.5 times that of non-executive Directors;
• The Chairman of board committees (other than the Chairman of the Board) shall be eligible to receive a committee chair fee in addition to the
base non-executive Director fee;
• Members of board committees shall be eligible to receive a committee membership fee in addition to the base non-executive Director fee, set at
half the fee of the committee chair (excluding the Compliance Committee which has an external chair); and
• In setting the fees applicable to committee chairs and committee members, the Board is to consider the relative workloads of committees.
The Directors and Board Committee members are paid a fixed remuneration as disclosed above. None of the remuneration is linked to the financial
performance of Spark Infrastructure or its security price.
The annual remuneration, including post-employment benefits payable to Directors, is as follows:
Role

$

Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Additional fee for enhanced responsibility:
– Chairman of ARMC
– ARMC member
– Chairman of Compliance Committee (External specialist appointment and not a Spark Director)
– Compliance Committee Member (External specialist appointment and not a Spark Director)
– Compliance Committee Member (Independent Director on the Board)

225,000
100,000
20,000
10,000
35,000
30,000
10,000

The table includes remuneration paid to external specialist members of the Compliance Committee who are appointed to provide specialist
knowledge and expertise and to meet the independence requirements for the Committee under the Corporations Act.
Remuneration of Executives
The Trust does not have any employees. Spark Infrastructure Management Limited (the “Manager”), as the manager of Spark Infrastructure,
makes employees (including senior executives) available under the Management Agreement. The Trust is not liable for expenses referable to the
executives. Accordingly, executive remuneration details are not provided in this report.
Performance of the Trust
The following table provides details of Trust’s performance for the last three years:
	Financial Year Ended 31 December
			
			

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Profit before Loan Note Interest			
Profit after tax attributable to Securityholders 			
Security Price a ($)			
Distribution per security (cents)			

145,761
7,397
1.38
13.56

144,787
7,397
1.30
18.51

144,412
7,398
1.98
18.06

a

Security price is based on last trading day of each year for Spark Infrastructure.

Management Fees

Rounding of Amounts

Spark RE was paid a management fee of $100,000 (2008: $100,000).

As permitted by ASIC Class Order 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998,
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to
section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C
of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 54.

S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director

auditor’s independence declaration
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
				
			
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Interest income from related parties				
Other income from related parties			
Other income – interest 				

138,364
9,149
24

137,390
8,526
103

				
General and administrative expenses 			
3

147,537
(1,776)

146,019
(1,232)

Profit before Income Tax and Loan Notes Interest Expense				
Interest expense – Loan Notes 				

145,761
(138,364)

144,787
(137,390)

Profit before Income Tax Attributable to Stapled Securityholders			
Income tax expense			
4

7,397
–

7,397
–

Net Profit Attributable to Stapled Securityholders				

7,397

7,397

Other comprehensive income				

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year				

7,397

7,397

Earnings per Unit
Weighted average number of Units (No’000)			
Profit before Income Tax and Loan Notes Interest ($’000)				
Basic Earnings per Unit before Income Tax and Loan Notes Interest (cents)			
13

1,014,531
145,761
14.37¢

1,008,651
144,787
14.35¢

Earnings used to calculate Earnings per Unit ($’000)				
Basic Earnings per Unit (cents)				

7,397
0.73¢

7,397
0.73¢

(Diluted Earnings per Unit is the same as Basic Earnings per Unit).
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 59 – 67.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2009
				
			
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

17
5
6

20
119,351
63,647

59
143,659
54,738

Total Current Assets				

183,018

198,456

7

1,288,070

1,262,804

Total Non-Current Assets				

1,288,070

1,262,804

Total Assets				

1,471,088

1,461,260

Current Liabilities
Payables 			
8
Loan Notes interest payable to Stapled Securityholders				

400
70,465

428
68,975

Total Current Liabilities				

70,865

69,403

9

1,256,792

1,231,515

Total Non-Current Liabilities				

1,256,792

1,231,515

Total Liabilities				

1,327,657

1,300,918

143,431

160,342

10
11

113,653
29,778

137,961
22,381

Total Equity				

143,431

160,342

Attributable to Stapled Securityholders as:
– Total equity				
– Loan notes 				

143,431
1,256,792

160,342
1,231,515

Total Equity and Loan Notes				

1,400,223

1,391,857

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents			
Loans to related parties			
Other receivables from related parties			

Non-Current Assets
Loan to related party			

Non-Current Liabilities
Loan Notes attributable to Stapled Securityholders			

Net Assets			
Equity
Equity attributable to Stapled Securityholders			
Retained earnings			

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 59 – 67.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
			
			
		
Notes

Ordinary
Units
$’000

Retained
Earnings
$’000

Total
Equity
$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2008			
Net profit for the Financial Year		
11
Capital distributions		
10

190,007
–
(52,046)

14,984
7,397
–

204,991
7,397
(52,046)

Balance at 31 December 2008			

137,961

22,381

160,342

Balance as at 1 January 2009			
Net profit for the Financial Year		
11
Capital distributions		
10

137,961
–
(24,308)

22,381
7,397
–

160,342
7,397
(24,308)

Balance at 31 December 2009			

113,653

29,778

143,431

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 59 – 67.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
				
			
Notes
Cash Flows Related to Operating Activities
Interest received from related parties				
Other income – related party				
Interest received – other 				
Other expenses				
Net Cash Inflow Related to Operating Activities			

17(b)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

136,874
9,150
24
(1,793)

137,378
8,526
103
(877)

144,255

145,130

Cash Flows Related to Investing Activities
Amounts advanced to related party				
Repayment of related party loans				
Loans advanced to related party				

(7,419)
24,308
(25,266)

(7,720)
52,047
–

Net Cash (Outflow)/Inflow Related to Investing Activities				

(8,377)

44,327

Cash Flows Related to Financing Activities
Proceeds from issue of Loan Notes				
Distributions to Stapled Securityholders:
– Loan Notes interest				
– Capital distribution				

(136,875)
(24,308)

(137,378)
(52,046)

Net Cash Outflow Related to Financing Activities			

(135,917)

(189,424)

(39)
59

33
26

20

59

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Financial Year				
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the Financial Year			
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 59 – 67.

17(a)

25,266

–
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
1. Summary of Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
This financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, accounting standards and
interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.
This financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost,
except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. Cost is
based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for assets.
The financial statements comply with Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance
with A-IFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes comply
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors of Spark
RE on 25 February 2010.
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have
been adopted in the current period and have affected the amounts
reported in these financial statements.
AASB 8 Operating Segments
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
AASB 8 is a disclosure Standard that has resulted in a redesignation
of Spark Infrastructure’s reportable segments as disclosed in Note 2,
but has had no impact on the reported results or financial position
of the Trust.
AASB 101 (revised 2007) Presentation
of Financial Statements
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
The revised Standard has introduced a number of terminology changes
and has resulted in a number of changes in presentation and disclosure
of the financial statements. However, the revised Standard has had no
impact on the reported results or financial position of the Trust.
Standards Not Yet Effective
Certain standards, amendments and interpretations that are on
issue but not yet effective have not been applied in the preparation
of this report. The principal standards that have not been applied in
preparation of this report are:
• AASB 3 (revised 2008) “Business Combinations” and AASB 27
(revised 2008) “Consolidated and separate financial statements” –
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009.
As a consequence of the amendment to the above AASB, stapling
arrangements such as Spark Infrastructure will be covered under
the standards. AASB Interpretation 1002 “Post-date of Transition
Stapling Arrangements” will be superseded. As existing stapling
arrangements will not be impacted, there are no financial or
disclosure implications for the Trust.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations that are on issue
are not likely to have a material impact on the Trust.
Significant Accounting Policies
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the
preparation and presentation of this report:
(a) Acquisition of Assets
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of
assets. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given up,
equity issued or liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition plus
incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

(b) Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured
at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and
loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest
rate method.
(c) Borrowing Costs
Borrowings costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of these assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and
investments in money market instruments.
(e) Creditors and Accruals
Trade creditors and accruals are recognised when there is an
obligation to make future payments resulting from the purchase
of goods and services.
(f) Financial instruments
Debt and Equity Instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement.
Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the
equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are
the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of
those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred
had those instruments not been issued.
Interest, Dividends and Distributions
Interest, dividends and distributions are classified as expenses,
distributions of profit or a return of capital consistent with the
Statement of Financial Position classification of the related debt
or equity instruments.
(g) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of goods and services tax (“GST”), except:
• where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
• for receivables and payables, which are recognised exclusive
of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cashflows on a gross
basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.
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Summary of Accounting Policies continued

(h) Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets
At each reporting date, the Trust reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the Trust estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and
value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit

or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
(i) Taxes
Income tax expense and deferred taxes are not brought to account in
respect of the Trust, as pursuant to the Australian taxation law, the
Trust is not liable for income tax, provided that its taxable income
(including any assessable realised capital gains) is fully distributed
to the Stapled Securityholders each year.
(j) Loans and Receivables
Loans to associates and other receivables are recorded at amortised
cost less any impairment.
(k) Revenue Recognition
Dividend and Interest Revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the right to
receive payment has been established.
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
(l) Rounding of Amounts
As the Trust is an entity of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order
98/0100, relevant amounts in the financial report and Directors’
Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless
otherwise indicated.

2. Segment Information
The Trust has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments with effect from 1 January 2009. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on
the basis of internal reports about components of the Trust that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to the segment and to assess its performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (AASB 114 Segment Reporting) required an entity
to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s system of internal financial
reporting to key management personnel serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments. As a result, following the adoption
of AASB 8, the process of identifying the Trust’s reportable segments has changed. However, as the Trust operates in only one business segment,
being lending funds to related parties, there is no change in the reportable segments and no additional segment information is required to be provided.
				
				

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

General and Administrative Expenses
Management fee – Spark RE				
Directors’ fees				
Other expenses				

100
358
1,318

100
321
811

				

1,776

1,232

Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations
reconciles to the income tax expense in the Financial Statements as follows:
Profit from continuing operations 				

7,397

7,397

Income tax expense calculated at 30%				
Tax effect on operating results of the Trust (Note 1(i))				

2,219
(2,219)

2,219
(2,219)

3.	Profit for the Financial Year

4.	Income Taxes

Income tax expense/(benefit)				
The tax rate of 30% used above is the current Australian corporate tax rate.
There has been no change in the corporate tax rate during the Financial Year.

–

–
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Income Taxes continued

				
				

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

119,351

143,659

Related party receivable				

63,647

54,738

				

63,647

54,738

1,288,070

1,262,804

Payables to related parties
– GST payable				
– Other				

375
25

366
62

				

400

428

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year				
Issue of Loan Notes under distribution reinvestment plan				
Write back of deferred discount b				

1,231,515
25,266
11

1,231,515
–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year				

1,256,792

1,231,515

5.	Loans to Related Parties
Non-interest bearing loan 				
The loan is repayable on written demand of the lender.

6.	Other Receivables

7. 	Loans to Related Parties
Interest bearing loan				
100 year loan to a related party within Spark Infrastructure at an interest rate
of 10.85% per annum unless agreed otherwise.

8.	Payables

9.	Loan Notes Attributable to Stapled Securityholders a

a
b

Loan Notes (term of 100 years) carry an interest rate of 10.85% per annum on a notional principal balance of $1.25 per Loan Notes for the period to 30 November 2010 and
for periods thereafter interest will be based on the relevant swap rate plus a 4% margin.
The deferred discount represents the difference between Loan Note face value of $1.25 and the price of securities issued under the distribution reinvestment plan in
September 2009 of $1.0862. The deferred discount is written back over the remaining term of the Loan Notes.

				
				

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

10.	Unitholders’ Funds
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year				
Capital distribution				
Issue of units under distribution reinvestment plan 				

137,961
(24,308)
–

190,007
(52,046)
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year				

113,653

137,961

Under the terms of the Loan Note Trust Deed, the application price for a Stapled
Security is first allocated to the principal amount of the Loan Note.
Fully paid Units				No.’000

No.’000

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year 				
Issue of units under distribution reinvestment plan				

1,008,651
23,260

1,008,651
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year				

1,031,911

1,008,651

Each ordinary Unit carries one vote and the right to distributions.
Each Unit in the Trust is “stapled” to one share in SIH (No. 1), one share in SIH (NO. 2), one Loan Note issued by Spark RE and one CHESS
Depositary Interest representing one share in Spark International. The Stapled Securities are quoted as if they are a single security.
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2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year				
Net profit for the Financial Year				

22,381
7,397

14,984
7,397

Balance at end of the Financial Year				

29,778

22,381

				
				

2009
$

2008
$

Audit and review of financial report				

101,220

80,911

				
				

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Net profit after tax used to calculate EPU				
Weighted average number of Units (’000)				
Earnings per Unit (cents)				

7,397
1,014,531
0.73¢

7,397
1,008,651
0.73¢

Profit before income tax and Loan Note interest per Unit				
Weighted average number of Units (’000)				
Profit before income tax and Loan Note interest per Unit (cents)				

145,761
1,014,531
14.37¢

144,787
1,008,651
14.35¢

11.	Retained Earnings

12.	Remuneration of External Auditor

The auditor of the Trust is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

13.	Earnings per Unit (“EPU”)

Basic EPU is the same as diluted EPU.
2008

2009
		
		

Cents
Per Unit

Total
$’000

Cents
Per Unit

Total
$’000

Distributions Paid:
Interim distribution in respect of year ended 31 December 2009
paid on 15 September 2009 (2008: 15 September 2008)
Interest on Loan Notes		
Capital distribution		

6.72
–

67,781
–

6.77
2.48

68,286
25,015

		

6.72

67,781

9.25

93,301

Distribution Payable:
Final distribution in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009
payable on 15 March 2010 (2008: 13 March 2009)
Interest on Loan Notes a		
Capital distribution b		

6.84
–

70,583
–

6.85
2.41

69,093
24,308

		

6.84

70,583

9.26

93,401

Total paid and payable		

13.56

138,364

18.51

186,702

14.	Distributions Paid and Payable

a
b

Recognised amount
Unrecognised amount

The distributions are unfranked.
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15.	Related Party Disclosures
(a)	Directors
The persons listed below were Directors of Spark RE as at the date of this report except where otherwise stated:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate director for Mr Kam).
Remuneration
The Trust bears a proportionate share of remuneration paid to the Directors of Spark Infrastructure. The share of remuneration borne by the Trust is
as follows:
				
2009
2008
				
$
$
Directors’ fees – Short term benefits				
Directors’ fees – Post employment benefits				

344,067
14,335

310,813
10,521

				

358,402

321,334

In addition to the Directors’ fees set out under Remuneration of Directors, Ms Cheryl Bart, Ms Anne McDonald and Dr Keith Turner were entitled to
Directors’ fees as representatives of Spark on the ETSA and CHEDHA Boards (the Asset Company Boards) as set out below. These fees were paid by
the Asset Companies.
During the period Ms Bart was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the ETSA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $15,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of $10,000
During the period Ms McDonald was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the CHEDHA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Member of Audit Committee – annual fee of $10,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $5,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of A$10,000
From 17 November 2009 Dr Turner was entitled to annual Directors’ fees of $150,000 as a director on the ETSA and CHEDHA boards comprised as
follows.
• Non-executive Director of the CHEDHA boards – annual fee of $75,000
• Non-executive Director of the ETSA boards – annual fee of $75,000
In addition, from the date of his appointment as a director on the Spark Infrastructure Boards until 17 November 2009, Dr Turner was appointed as
a consultant by the Spark Infrastructure Board to attend the Asset Company Board meetings by invitation. A consultancy agreement on standard
terms and conditions was prepared to reflect this arrangement. Dr Turner was paid a fee of $102,842 for both Boards (being a prorated amount of
$75,000 per annum for each Board).
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15. Related Party Disclosures continued

Security Holdings
The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure for the financial year is as follows:

Directors

Opening Balance	Net Movement	Closing Balance
1 January 2009
Acquired/(Disposed)
31 December 2009
(No.)
(No.)
(No.)

Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO	
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
a
b
c

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.

The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure in respect of the previous year was as follows:

Directors
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Mr Don Morley
Mr Dominic Chan a
Mr Shaun Mays b
Mr Peter St George c
a
b
c

Opening Balance
1 January 2008
(No.)

Net Movement
Acquired/(Disposed)
(No.)

Closing Balance
31 December 2008
(No.)

355,000
125,000
162,150
–
–
–
225,000
–
–
71,400

–
–
(25,722)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
225,000
–
–
71,400

Alternate Director for Mr Kam (appointed 11 December 2008).
Resigned on 17 March 2008.
Resigned on 31 December 2008.

(b)	Responsible Entity
The responsible entity of Spark Trust is Spark RE. During the Financial Year, an amount of $100,000 (2008: $100,000) was paid for acting as trustee.
(c) Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)
KMP are those having the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The Directors meet the definition of
KMP. Since the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling activities has not been delegated to the Manager, there are no other KMP
in the Trust. The Trust has no employees.
(d)	Other Related Parties
The other related parties of the Trust are primarily entities within Spark Infrastructure and their wholly owned controlled entities.
During the Financial Year, the Trust earned $147,514,000 (2008: $145,916,000) from Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited, comprising
of interest income of $138,364,000 (2008: $137,390,000) and $9,150,000 (2008: $8,526,000) in fees associated with provision of debt.
As at 31 December 2009, $119,351,000 in non-interest bearing loans, $1,288,070,000 in interest bearing loans and $63,647,000 in current
receivables were due from Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited, comprising of $70,465,000 in interest receivable offset by $6,818,000 in
current payables.
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16. Subsequent Events
There were no events, other than those described in this report, that have arisen since the end of the Financial Year that have significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operations of the Trust.
				
2009
2008
				
$’000
$’000

17.	Notes to the Statement of Cashflows
(a)	Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand
and in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the Financial Year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows
is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash on hand and at bank				

20

59

Cash and cash equivalents				

20

59

7,397
138,364
11

7,397
137,390
–

(b)	Reconciliation of Profit for the Financial Year
to Net Cash Inflow Related to Operating Activities
Net profit after tax for the Financial Year				
Loan note interest expense				
Non-cash amortisation expense				
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in current receivables				
(Decrease)/increase in current payables				
Net cash inflow related to operating activities				

(1,490)
(27)
144,255

(11)
354
145,130

18.	Financial Instruments
(a)	Financial Risk Management Objectives
The Spark Infrastructure treasury function manages the financial risks and co-ordinates access to financial markets.
The Trust does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The use of
financial derivatives is governed by Spark Infrastructure’s policies approved by the Board, which has written principles on the use of financial
derivatives. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis.
The Trust’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. Where appropriate, the Trust enters into a variety of
derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate movements, including interest rate swaps, forward interest rate contracts
and interest rate options. To date, the Trust has not entered into any such arrangements.
(b)	Capital Risk Management
The capital structure of the Trust comprises of debt, loan notes attributable to Stapled Security Holders and equity. As the loan notes are a long
term instrument and subordinated, they are regarded as part of equity capital for these purposes.
The Trust manages its capital through the use of a combination of debt and equity to ensure that it will be able to operate as a going concern, and
provide appropriate returns to unit holders.
On 29 May 2009, Spark Infrastructure announced changes to its capital management plans. This included a reduction in the level of distributions
and the activation of its Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) for the June 2009 half year distribution. The Strategic Review announced by Spark
Infrastructure in February 2010 may potentially lead to further changes in capital management plans.
(c) Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1.
(d)	Financial Market Risk
The Trust does not have any significant financial market risk as its loans are issued to other entities in the Spark Infrastructure Group and its loan
notes are issued to securityholders and have a term of 100 years.
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18. Financial Instruments continued

(e)	Interest Rate Risk Management
As the Trust’s interest bearing assets and liabilities are predominantly fixed rate, a change in interest rates would not have significantly changed the
Trust’s profit and loss and equity position.
The following table details the Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 respectively:
Weighted	Fixed Maturity Dates
average Variable	Less					Non2–5
5+	Interest
effective	Interest
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
interest rate	Rate	Month	Months – 1 Year	Years	Years	Bearing	Total
2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.75

20

–

–

–

–

–

–

20

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

119,351

119,351

10.85
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

– 1,288,070
–
–

– 1,288,070
63,647
63,647

		

20

–

–

–

– 1,288,070

182,998 1,471,088

Payables
–
Loan note interest payable
–
Loan note attributable to
Stapled Security Holders
10.85

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–

– 1,256,792

– 1,256,792

		

–

–

–

–

– 1,256,792

70,865 1,327,657

Cash & cash equivalents
Loans to related parties –
non interest bearing
Loans to related parties –
interest bearing
Other receivables

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.75

59

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10.85
–

–
–

–
–

		

59

–

2008
Cash & cash equivalents
Loans to related parties –
non interest bearing
Loans to related parties –
interest bearing
Other receivables

–
–

Fixed Maturity Dates
Less					
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
2–5
5+
Month
Months
– 1 Year
Years
Years

400
70,465

400
70,465

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

–

59

–

–

–

143,659

143,659

–
–

–
–

–
–

1,262,804
–

–
54,738

1,262,804
54,738

–

–

–

1,262,804

198,397

1,461,260

									
Payables
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
428
428
Loan note interest payable
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
68,975
68,975
Loan note attributable to
Stapled Security Holders
10.85
–
–
–
–
– 1,231,515
– 1,231,515
		

–

–

–

–

–

1,231,515

69,403

1,300,918
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18. Financial Instruments continued

(f)	Liquidity Risk Management
The Trust manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash reserves and banking facilities and monitoring continuously the forecast and actual
cashflows. No significant risks have been identified for the Trust. The undiscounted cashflow of financial liabilities are as disclosed in the Statement
of Financial Position with the exception of Loan Notes attributable to Stapled Securityholders. The details of the undiscounted amounts for interest
and principal cashflows in respect of the Loan Notes are disclosed below:
Weighted	Fixed Maturity Dates
average Variable	Less					Non2–5
5+	Interest
effective	Interest
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
interest rate	Rate	Month	Months
– 1 Year	Years	Years	Bearing	Total
2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Loans Notes a

10.85

–

–

70,583

69,344

559,709 14,023,263

– 14,722,899

–

–

–

70,583

69,344

559,709 14,023,263

– 14,722,899

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

2008

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Loans Notes a

10.85

–

–

69,093

68,296

–

–

–

69,093

68,296

a

$’000

$’000

Fixed Maturity Dates
Less					
3 Months
2–5
5+
than 1
1– 3
Month
Months
– 1 Year
Years
Years

$’000

$’000

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

548,556

13,837,926

–

14,523,871

548,556

13,837,926

–

14,523,871

The Loan Notes have a term of 100 years, maturing in 2105. The interest on Loan Notes is fixed at 10.85% per annum on a notional principal balance of $1.25 per Loan
Note for the period to 30 November 2010; and for periods thereafter interest is based on the relevant swap rate plus a margin of 4%. In the above tables the Loan Note
interest rate of 10.85% has been assumed for the remaining 95 years of the Loan Notes post 30 November 2010, however the rate will be subject to finalisation at a later
date. The amounts disclosed in the tables above reflect undiscounted amounts for interest for the remaining 95 years of the Loan Notes plus the outstanding principal due
to be repaid in 2105. The Responsible Entity may defer interest payments, by notice to the Note Trustee and Noteholders. Interest continues to accrue on any outstanding
amount. All outstanding interest must be paid on the next reset date, except to the extent that monies are owing by a Stapled Entity to any bank, financial institution or other
entity providing financial accommodation (secured or unsecured) for over $5,000,000. Deferral of interest payments, and non payment on a reset date in the circumstances
described above, does not constitute a default.

(g)	Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements approximates their
fair values.
The fair values financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market prices;
• the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis; and
• the fair values of derivative instruments, included hedging assets and liabilities, are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not
available, use is made of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments.
The only financial instruments measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair values are the Loan Notes. The fair value measurements are
derived from observable inputs other than quoted prices. These are deemed to be level 2 fair value measurements in accordance with AASB 139.

19. Additional Information
The registered office of business of the Trust is as follows:
Level 6, 255 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

spark infrastructure trust

Directors’ Declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable;
(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including
compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Trust; and
(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director
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auditor’s independence declaration
to the members of spark infrastructure trust

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Spark Infrastructure Trust (the “Trust”), which comprises the statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2009, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year
ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration
as set out on pages 55 to 68.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the trustee company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Spark Infrastructure Trust is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Trust’s financial position as at 31 December 2009 and of its performance for the year ended on that date;
and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 8 to 9 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009. The directors
of the trustee company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Spark Infrastructure Trust for the year ended 31 December 2009, complies with section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

S C Gustafson
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Sydney, 25 February 2010

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Spark
Infrastructure
Holdings No. 2
Limited
Financial Report for the Year ended 31 December 2009
(ABN 16 116 940 795)

Spark Infrastructure comprises Spark Infrastructure Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited, Spark
Infrastructure Trust and Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited.
Each share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited is stapled to one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Limited, one unit in Spark
Infrastructure Trust, one CHESS Depositary Interest representing one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited and one Loan Note
issued by Spark Infrastructure Trust. The stapled securities trade on the Australian Securities Exchange.
This financial report relates to the performance of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited only. As the securities are
held by investors in a stapled structure, the financial result of Spark Infrastructure (as lodged with the Australian Securities
exchange on 26 February 2010) represents the most concise information regarding performance of investors’ funds.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Limited
(“Company”) provide this financial report for the year ended
31 December 2009 (“Financial Year”), in respect of the Company
and its controlled entities (together the “Consolidated Entity”).
In order to comply with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,
the Directors report as follows:
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date
of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate director for Mr Kam).
The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
are provided below:
Mr Stephen Johns BEc, FCA
Chairman and independent director (since November 2005)
Mr Johns had a long executive career with Westfield where he held
a number of positions including that of Finance Director from 1985 to
2002. He was appointed an executive Director of Westfield Holdings
Limited and Westfield Trust in 1985 and Westfield America Trust upon
its listing in 1996. He became a non-executive Director of the three
Westfield boards in October 2003. He is currently a non-executive
Director of the Westfield Group, which resulted from the merger of
the three listed entities in July 2004.
Mr Johns was a non-executive Director of Brambles Industries Limited
and Brambles Industries plc from August 2004 to December 2006, at
which time he became a non-executive Director of Brambles Limited,
the new holding company of the Brambles Group following a corporate
reorganisation which became effective in December 2006.
Mr Johns was appointed to the Board of Leighton Holdings Limited on
21 December 2009.
He is also a Director of Sydney Symphony Limited.
Mr Johns has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Brambles Limited
Westfield Group:
– Westfield Holdings Limited
– Westfield America Trust (Director
of responsible entity, Westfield
America Management Limited)
– Westfield Trust (Director of
responsible entity,
Westfield Management Limited)
Leighton Holdings Limited

August 2006 to current
November 1985 to current

February 1996 to current

November 1985 to current
21 December 2009 to current

Ms Cheryl Bart AO, BCom, LLB, FAICD
Independent director (since November 2005)
Ms Bart is a lawyer and has been a non-executive Director on the
board of ETSA Utilities (“ETSA”) since 1995.
She has significant utilities industry experience and is Chairman of the Audit
Committee of ETSA and a member of its Risk and Compliance Committee.
Ms Bart is Chairman of ANZ Trustees Limited, the Environment Protection
Authority (EPA), the South Australian Film Corporation, the Adelaide Film
Festival and the Adelaide Film Festival Investment Fund and Deputy Chair
of the Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation.
Her other current directorship positions include the William Buckland
Foundation and Global Properties Limited.
Her previous directorships include the Economic Development Board
(SA), Sydney Ports Corporation, the Australian Sports Foundation,
Soccer Australia, the Information Economy Advisory Board and Defence
Industries Advisory Board (DIAB).
Ms Bart is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
(“ARMC”).
Ms Bart was awarded the Order of Australia in the Australia Day
Honours in January 2009.
Ms Bart has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Global Properties Limited
ANZ Trustees Limited

2004 to current
2006 to current

Mr John D Dorrian BA, FCA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since August 2007)
John Dorrian is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG, Head
of RREEF Alternative Investments Australia and Head of RREEF
Infrastructure Investments, Asia Pacific. RREEF is the alternative
investment management division of Deutsche Asset Management,
a member of the Deutsche Bank Group.
He is an Executive Director of Deutsche Asset Management (Australia)
Limited and a non executive director of a number of Australian
companies including, Australia Pacific Airports Corporation Limited,
CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”), the holding company of
CitiPower and Powercor Australia (“Powercor”), CitiPower, Powercor
and ETSA. He is also a director of DWS Global Agricultural Land and
Opportunities Fund Limited.
Mr Dorrian is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Dorrian has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Mr Andrew Hunter MA, MBA, MICAS, MHKICPA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2006)
Mr Hunter is currently an executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of Cheung Kong Infrastructure (“CKI”). In addition, he serves
as Chief Financial Officer of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited and is
an executive Director of Hong Kong Electric (Holdings) Limited.
Mr Hunter has more than 24 years experience in accounting and financial
management and holds a range of directorships in CKI related companies.
He is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
Mr Hunter was also an alternate Director for Mr Kam on the Spark
Infrastructure Group Boards up until 13 February 2009.
Mr Hunter is a member of the ARMC.
Mr Hunter has not held any directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.

Directors’ Report continued

Mr Hing Lam Kam BSc, MBA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2005)
Mr Kam has been Managing Director of CKI since its incorporation
in May 1996 and the Deputy Managing Director of Cheung Kong
(Holdings) Limited since February 1993. He has played a leading role in
developing the Cheung Kong Group’s corporate and strategic direction.
Mr Kam is also the President and Chief Executive Officer of CK Life
Sciences International (Holdings) Inc. and an executive Director of
Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Hong Kong Electric Holdings Limited.
In Australia, Mr Kam is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor,
ETSA and Aqua Tower.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

1999 to August 2007

Ms Anne McDonald BEc, FCA
Independent Director (since January 2009)
Ms McDonald served as a partner of Ernst & Young for 15 years until
2005. She has broad based business and financial experience, gained
through working with a wide cross section of international and local
companies, assisting them with audit, transaction due diligence and
regulatory and accounting requirements. She was a Board member of
Ernst & Young Australia for 7 years.
Ms McDonald is a non-executive Director of listed entities, including
the GPT Group and Speciality Fashion Group Limited. She is also a
non-executive Director of Westpac Bank’s Life and General Insurance
businesses, St Vincent’s Health Australia and Health Super.
Ms McDonald is a Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower and Powercor. In
addition, she is Chairman of the Audit Committee of CHEDHA and a
member of its Risk and Compliance Committee.
Ms McDonald is a member of the ARMC and the Compliance Committee.
Ms McDonald has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
GPT Group
Specialty Fashion Group Limited

2006 to current
2007 to current

Mr Don Morley BSc, MBA, Hon. FAustIMM
Independent Director (since November 2005)
Mr Morley is the Chairman of Alumina Limited (since 2002) and an
independent Director of Iluka Resources Limited (since 2002).
He was previously a Director of Finance at WMC Limited with over
30 years of service.
Mr Morley is the Chairman of the ARMC.
Mr Morley has held the following directorships of other Australian
listed entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Alumina Limited
Iluka Resources Limited

2002 to current
2002 to current

Dr Keith Turner BE(Hons), ME, PhD ElecEng
Independent Director (since March 2009)
Dr Turner was appointed to the Spark Infrastructure Boards on
13 March 2009.
Dr Turner possesses extensive experience in the New Zealand energy
sector. Most recently, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Meridian
Energy Limited from 1999 to 2008. Prior to that, he worked as a
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private energy expert advising a range of large corporate clients and
Government. He has previously served in a number of senior roles in
establishing Contact Energy, and in the Electricity Corporation of New
Zealand, and the New Zealand Electricity Department, as well as many
industry reform roles.
He is currently the Deputy Chairman of Auckland International Airport
and is Chairman of Flight Experience Group, Oceania Dairy Group and
Waitaki Wind.
Dr Turner was appointed as a Director of ETSA, CHEDHA, CitiPower
and Powercor on 17 November 2009. Prior to that, Dr Turner served
as a consultant to the Spark Infrastructure Board attending ETSA and
CHEDHA Board meetings by invitation from March 2009.
Dr Turner has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Auckland International Airport Limited 2004 to current
Mr Dominic Loi Shun Chan FCPA, FCCA
Alternate Director to Mr Hing Lam Kam (since December 2008)
Mr Chan currently is Chief Financial Officer of CKI and has over 20 years
experience in the accounting profession.
In Australia, Mr Chan is a Director of Envestra Limited. He is an
alternate Director of CHEDHA, CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA.
In the UK, Mr Chan is a Director of Cambridge Water plc.
Mr Chan has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Envestra Limited

2005 to current

Mr Timothy B Keith BA
RREEF Infrastructure Board appointee and non-executive
Director (since March 2008 – resigned 15 March 2010)
Mr Keith is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG and the
Chief Executive Officer of RREEF Infrastructure and Private Equity
Investments, based in New York. He is responsible for managing
the global operations of these businesses for RREEF Alternative
Investments, which is the fiduciary investment operation within
Deutsche Asset Management.
Prior to taking this position, he was the Global Chief Investment Officer
of RREEF Infrastructure and Head of Business Development of RREEF
Alternative Investments and the co-chair of the RREEF Alternative
Assets Investment Committee. Formerly, Mr Keith was a partner of
RREEF America LLC prior to its acquisition by Deutsche Bank; Chief
Executive Officer of Cabot Industrial Trust after its privatisation and delisting; and Regional Vice President of Meridian Industrial Trust.
Mr Keith has over 14 years experience in the funds management
industry and managing public companies and over 20 years’ experience
in investment markets. He has specialised in real estate markets for
most of his career, with substantial experience in direct investments,
formation of long term operating partnerships, initial public offerings
and privatisations of public companies. He has had executive
management and investment roles in infrastructure for five years. Mr
Keith is a non-executive Director of Maher Terminals LLC.
Mr Keith has not held any directorships of any other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
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Company Secretary
Ms Alexandra Finley Dip Law, MLM
Ms Finley is an experienced corporate governance professional with
over 15 years legal and commercial experience gained in private
practice and in-house. Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, she spent
almost 10 years with National Australia Bank/MLC in various senior
legal and commercial roles, most recently as Company Secretary of
the MLC Group of Companies.
Ms Finley has extensive experience in the financial services sector
including mergers and acquisitions, risk management and regulatory
compliance and has held strategic, operational and management
roles. As a senior lawyer and senior associate in private practice, her
experience includes property and construction, banking and finance,
workplace relations and corporate advisory.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the Financial
Year was investment in an electricity distribution business in South
Australia. There has been no significant change in the activities during
the financial year.
Stapled Securities
The Spark Infrastructure Group is a stapled structure, wherein:
• one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings (No. 1) Limited (“SIH No. 1”);
• one share in the Company;
• one unit in Spark Infrastructure Trust (“the Trust”);
• one Loan Note issued by the responsible entity of the Trust; and
• one CHESS Depositary Interest (“CDI”) representing one share in
Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited
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expenditure enhances the long term value of the Asset Companies
through a higher revenue base.
As part of the Strategic Review, it is expected that a wide range of options
will be explored and evaluated. These options include changes in corporate
structure, changes in capital structure, capital raisings and proposals that
involve asset sales or a change of control of Spark Infrastructure.
Future distribution policy will be subject to the outcomes of the
Strategic Review and therefore guidance for 2010 cannot be provided
at this stage. The Strategic Review is likely to take several months and
the Board will keep the market appropriately informed of developments
in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations.

Changes in State of Affairs
There has been no change in the activities of the Consolidated Entity
during the Financial Year.

Subsequent Events
The Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not
otherwise dealt with in this report that has significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations or the state of affairs in the
period since 31 December 2009.

Environmental Regulations
The Consolidated Entity is not subject to any environmental
regulations. However, ETSA is subject to various environmental
regulations. The Directors are not aware of any material breaches
of those regulations by ETSA.

Future Developments

are “stapled” and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange as
if they were a single security.

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the
operations of the Consolidated Entity not otherwise disclosed
elsewhere in this report is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice.
Accordingly, such information has not been disclosed in this report.

Review of Operations

Events Occurring after Reporting Date

The Consolidated Entity made a profit of $105,215,000 (2008: Loss
$14,803,000) principally due to a higher share of equity profits, and a
tax benefit that was recognised during the current year as a result of
items recognised directly in equity. No dividends have been declared
during or in respect of the Financial Year (2008 year: nil).

The Directors of the Company are not aware of any other matter
or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report that has
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations or
the state of affairs in the period since 31 December 2009.

Outlook and Strategic Review

Details of amounts paid or payable to the external auditor for non-audit
services provided during the Financial Year are outlined in Note 11 to
the Financial Statements.
The Directors are satisfied that the non-audit services provided by the
auditor are compatible with the general standard of independence for
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are also
of the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 11 to the Financial
Statements do not compromise the external auditor’s independence,
based on advice received from the Audit and Risk Management
Committee (“ARMC”), for the following reasons:
• non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that
they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and
comply with Spark Infrastructure’s policy on auditor independence;
and
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating
to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES
110, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, which
includes reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in
a management or decision-making capacity, acting as an advocate
or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards of the Company.

Spark Infrastructure has also announced it will undertake a Strategic
Review with the view to maximising Securityholder value in light of
changing market conditions. The review follows steps taken by the
Board in May 2009 to address capital and regulatory developments.
Spark Infrastructure and its 51% partners at the Asset Company level
(Cheung Kong Infrastructure and Hong Kong Electric) are reviewing
business plans for the three Asset Companies. In doing so, Spark
Infrastructure recognises that the environment for infrastructure
investment (particularly in the listed market) has changed significantly
in the past 18–24 months as has the approach to the funding of
investment and capital expenditure post the global financial crisis. In
addition, the total amount of required capital expenditure of the Asset
Companies is expected to roughly double in the next regulatory period.
The Asset Companies have indicated their desire to retain a greater
proportion of cash from operations to modestly reduce their gearing
levels and to contribute to the funding of this capital expenditure.
This would limit their cash distributions to their shareholders during
the next regulatory period. In turn, this would affect the level of
distributions Spark Infrastructure is able to pay to its Securityholders
from the cash it receives from the Asset Companies. Notwithstanding
the impact that this would have on the cash resources of Spark
Infrastructure, it is important to note that the increased capital

Non-Audit Services
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Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
The Company’s Constitution permits the Company, to the extent
permitted by law, to indemnify any current or former Directors or
officers against liability incurred by them in that capacity and indemnify
them for all legal costs incurred in defending or resisting proceedings,
whether civil or criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature,
in which they become involved because of that capacity. The Company
may pay a premium for a contract insuring a Director or officer against
such liability, unless prohibited by law. The Company may enter into
an agreement with a Director or officer in respect of such matters
and including provisions relating to rights of access to books of the
Company.
During the Financial Year, the Company paid a premium in respect of
a contract of insurance indemnifying the Directors against a liability
incurred as such a Director to the extent permitted by the Corporations
Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature
of the liability and the amount of the premium.
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the
Financial Year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor
of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability
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incurred as such an officer or auditor, except to the extent permitted
by law. The Company has entered into Deeds of Access, Indemnity and
Insurance with Directors.

Options over Securities
No options have been granted over the shares of the Company or the
stapled securities of Spark Infrastructure.

Directors’ Meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors meetings held
during the Financial Year and the number of meetings attended by
each Director for which they were eligible to attend (i.e. in the case
of Directors, while they were appointed and where they were not
disqualified from attending due to observation of processes to guard
against any perceived conflict of interests, and in the case of Alternate
Directors (if any), while they were appointed and meetings for which
they were nominated to attend as alternate). During the Financial
Year, 7 Board meetings, 2 Board Sub-Committee meetings, 5 ARMC
meetings and 4 Compliance Committee meetings of the Company were
held. References to meetings “Held” means the number of meetings a
director was eligible to attend.

			
Audit and Risk
		Board	Management	Compliance
	Board of Directors
Sub-Committee	Committee (‘ARMC’)	Committee d
Directors		Held
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a d
Mr Don Morley		
Dr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
(as alternate Director)
a
b
c
d

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended	Held

Attended

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
6

7
7
7
5
2
6
7
7
6

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

2
–
1
–
–
–
1
1
–

–
5
5
5
–
–
5
5
–

–
5
5
2
–
–
5
5
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
4
–
–

5

3

–

–

–

–

–

–

Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009.
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.
During the year, Ms McDonald was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a Committee of the Board).

Directors’ Stapled Security Holdings
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure as at the date of this report:
		Net Movement
Directors	Opening Balance (No.)
Acquired/(Disposed) (No.)	Closing Balance (No.)
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart. AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald a
Mr Don Morley
Mr Keith Turner b
Mr Dominic Chan c
a
b
c

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Appointed as Alternate Director on 11 December 2008.

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Directors’ Report continued
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Remuneration Report
Remuneration of Directors
The fees and payments to Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities as the Directors.
The Directors’ fees are reviewed annually by the Board and are subject to an aggregate fees pool limit of $2,000,000 per annum (inclusive
of superannuation). Any increase to this limit will be submitted to the Stapled Security Holders at an annual general meeting for approval.
The Directors do not receive securities, options or any performance related incentives. The Alternative Directors are not paid any fees.
Details of remuneration (including superannuation) of each Director paid or accrued in respect of the Financial Year are set out below.
The remuneration paid to Directors is shared equally by the three operating entities in Spark Infrastructure. The Company’s share of the
remuneration was $358,402 for the Financial Year (2008: $321,334).
			
Short term	Post-Employment
			Employment Benefits 	Benefits
			Directors’ Fees
Directors			
$
Chairman				
Mr Stephen Jones		
2009
70,299
		
2008
70,521
Non-executive Directors
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO		
2009
33,639
		
2008
32,569
2009
36,667
Mr John Dorrian a 		
		
2008
35,500
Mr Andrew Hunter a 		
2009
36,667
		
2008
35,500
Mr Hing Lam Kam a 		
2009
33,333
		
2008
33,333
Mr Timothy Keith a b		
2009
33,333
		
2008
26,374
Mr Shaun Mays a b 		
2009
–
		
2008
6,960
Ms Anne McDonald c 		
2009
36,697
		
2008
–
Mr Don Morley 		
2009
36,697
		
2008
34,556
Dr Keith Turner d 		
2009
26,735
		
2008
–
Mr Peter St George e		
2009
–
		
2008
35,500

Superannuation	Total
$
$
4,701
4,479

75,000
75,000

3,028
2,931
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
3,303
–
3,303
3,111
–
–
–
–

36,667
35,500
36,667
35,500
36,667
35,500
33,333
33,333
33,333
26,374
–
6,960
40,000
–
40,000
37,667
26,735
–
–
35,500

Total		

2009

344,067

14,335

358,402

		

2008

310,813

10,251

321,334

a
b
c
d
e

The Directors’ fees for Mr Kam and Mr Hunter were paid to CKI, while the fees for Mr Keith, Mr Dorrian and Mr Mays were paid to RREEF Infrastructure.
Mr Mays resigned on 17 March 2008. Mr Keith was appointed on the same date.
Ms McDonald was appointed on 1 January 2009. She was also a member of the Compliance Committee (a Committee of the Board).
Dr Turner was appointed on 13 March 2009 (see also Note 16 Related Party Disclosures).
Mr St George resigned on 31 December 2008.

Directors’ Report continued

Board and Committee Remuneration Policy
The remuneration of Spark Infrastructure’s Directors is benchmarked to
the remuneration of Directors of comparable enterprises periodically
using an independent external consulting firm. A broad cross section
of parameters is used by the external firms in determining comparable
entities, including:
• Market capitalisation;
• Revenue; and
• Total assets.
The Directors’ remuneration also takes into consideration the
following matters:
• Fee levels for all non-executive Directors to be positioned
between the median and the 75th percentile of the general market
comprising comparable board roles in listed companies within the
range of half to twice the market capitalisation, revenue and total
assets of Spark Infrastructure;
• The Chairman’s fee to be in the range of 2.0 and 2.5 times that of
non-executive Directors;
• The Chairman of board committees (other than the Chairman of the
Board) shall be eligible to receive a committee chair fee in addition
to the base non-executive Director fee;
• Members of board committees shall be eligible to receive a
committee membership fee in addition to the base non-executive
Director fee, set at half the fee of the committee chair (excluding
the Compliance Committee which has an external chair); and
• In setting the fees applicable to committee chairs and committee
members, the Board is to consider the relative workloads of
committees.
The Directors and Board Committee members are paid a fixed
remuneration as disclosed above. None of the remuneration is linked to
the financial performance of Spark Infrastructure or its security price.
The annual remuneration, including post-employment benefits payable
to Directors, is as follows:
Role
$
Chairman
225,000
Non-Executive Director
100,000
Additional fee for enhanced responsibility:
– Chairman of ARMC
20,000
– ARMC member
10,000
– Chairman of Compliance Committee (External specialist
appointment and not a Spark Director)
35,000
– Compliance Committee Member (External specialist
appointment and not a Spark Director)
30,000
– Compliance Committee Member (Independent Director
on the Board)
10,000
The table includes remuneration paid to external specialist members
of the Compliance Committee who are appointed to provide specialist
knowledge and expertise and to meet the independence requirements
for the Committee under the Corporations Act.

spark infrastructure holdings no.2 limited

78

Remuneration of Executives
The Consolidated Entity does not have any employees. Spark
Infrastructure Management Limited (“the Manager”), as the manager
of Spark Infrastructure, makes employees (including senior executives)
available under the Management Agreement. The Company is not
liable for expenses referable to the executives. Accordingly, executive
remuneration details are not provided in this report.
Performance of the Consolidated Entity
The following table provide details of the Consolidated Entity’s
performance for the past three years:
	Financial Year
	Ended 31 December
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Profit before income tax
81,413
Profit/(Loss) after tax
105,215
1.38
Security Price a ($)
b
Distribution per security (cents) 13.56

1,133
(14,803)
1.30
18.51

21,315
37,251
1.98
18.06

a
b

Security price is based on last trading day of each year for Spark Infrastructure.
Represents the distribution made by Spark Infrastructure.

Management Fees
The Consolidated Entity paid a management fee of $3,952,000 in
2009 (2008: $4,897,000), being its share of the management fee.
No performance fee was payable in 2009 (2008: $8,272,000).

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 79.

Rounding off of Amounts
As permitted by ASIC Class Order 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998,
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant
to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director

auditor’s independence declaration
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Income from associates:
– share of equity profits
4 (c)
Other income – interest 		

168,210
1

96,887
2

–
1

–
2

		
Management fees		
Performance fees		
Interest expense – related party
2 (b)
General and administrative expenses
2 (c)

168,211
(3,952)
–
(81,340)
(1,506)

96,889
(4,897)
(8,272)
(81,562)
(1,025)

1
–
–
–
(1,491)

2
–
–
–
(946)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 		
Income tax benefit/(expense)
3 (a)

81,413
23,802

1,133
(15,936)

(1,490)
40,333

(944)
(33,180)

Net Profit/(Loss) for the Financial Year		

105,215

(14,803)

38,843

(34,124)

Other comprehensive income:
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income		
Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income		

79,340
(23,802)

(148,793)
15,936

–
–

–
–

Other comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

55,538

(132,857)

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

160,753

(147,660)

38,843

(34,124)

Earnings per Share
Weighted average number of shares (No’000)		

1,014,531

1,008,651

1,014,531

1,008,651

Earnings/(loss) used to calculate earnings per share ($’000)		
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents)
12

105,215
10.37¢

(14,803)
(1.47) ¢

–
–

–
–

(Diluted earnings per security is the same as basic earnings per share)
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 84 – 97.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents		
Receivables		

154
288

8
302

154
77

8
73

Total Current Assets		

442

310

231

81

4 (d)
3 (c)
5

1,218,414
–
–

1,073,682
–
–

–
75,475
136,556

–
35,142
136,556

Total Non-Current Assets		

1,218,414

1,073,682

212,031

171,698

Total Assets		

1,218,856

1,073,992

212,262

171,779

6
7

57,305
183,422

73,194
183,422

7,434
68,323

5,794
68,323

Total Current Liabilities		

240,727

256,616

75,757

74,117

Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related party – interest bearing

7

749,673

749,673

–

–

Total Non-Current Liabilities		

749,673

749,673

–

–

Total Liabilities		

990,400

1,006,289

75,757

74,117

Net Assets		

228,456

67,703

136,505

97,662

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings

133,172
(8,042)
103,326

133,172
(35,361)
(30,108)

133,172
–
3,333

133,172
–
(35,510)

228,456

67,703

136,505

97,662

Non-Current Assets
Investments in associates:
– Investments accounted for using the equity method
Deferred tax asset
Other financial assets

Current Liabilities
Payables – related parties
Loan from related party – non-interest bearing

8
9
10

Total Equity		
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 84 – 97.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
		
		
		
Consolidated
Balance at 1 January 2008		

Ordinary	Retained
Shares	Earnings
$’000
$’000
133,172

66,048

Hedge 	Total
Reserve
Equity
$’000
$’000
16,143

215,363

Net (loss) for the Financial Year		
–
(14,803)
–
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income:					
– loss on hedges		
–
(90,370)
–
– actuarial loss on defined benefits plan		
–
–
(58,423)
Related tax		
–
9,017
6,919

(14,803)
(90,370)
(58,423)
15,936

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

–

(96,156)

(51,504)

(147,660)

Balance at 31 December 2008		

133,172

(30,108)

(35,361)

67,703

Balance at 1 January 2009		

133,172

(30,108)

(35,361)

67,703

Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges
not previously recognised		
–
(10,603)
10,603
Net profit for the Financial Year		
–
105,215
–
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income:					
– gain on hedges		
–
40,313
–
– actuarial gain on defined benefits plan		
–
–
39,027
Related tax		
–
(12,094)
(11,708)

–
105,215
40,313
39,027
(23,802)

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

–

133,434

27,319

160,753

Balance at 31 December 2009		

133,172

92,723

2,561

228,456

		
Issued	Retained
		Capital	Earnings
		
$’000
$’000

Hedge 	Total
Reserve
Equity
$’000
$’000

Company
Balance at 1 January 2008		

133,172

(1,386)

–

131,786

Net (loss) for the Financial Year		

–

(34,124)

–

(34,124)

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

–

(34,124)

–

(34,124)

Balance at 31 December 2008		

133,172

(35,510)

–

97,662

Balance at 1 January 2009		

133,172

(35,510)

–

97,662

Net profit for the Financial Year		

–

38,843

–

38,843

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year		

–

38,843

–

38,843

Balance at 31 December 2009		

133,172

3,333

–

136,505

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 84 – 97.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
	Consolidated	Company
		
Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Cash Flows Related to Operating Activities
Income from associate – preferred partnership capital		
Dividends received – associate		
Interest received – other 		
Interest paid – related party		
Management fees
Performance fees		
Other		

69,635
33,183
–
(102,818)
(3,952)
–
(1,490)

69,826
1,957
2
(71,783)
(4,898)
(8,272)
(1,334)

–
–
1
–
–
–
(1,494)

–
–
2
–
–
–
(1,019)

19 (b)

(5,442)

(14,502)

(1,493)

(1,017)

Cash Flows Related to Investing Activities
Loans received – other		
Amounts received from/(paid to) related party		

–
5,588

23,769
(9,329)

–
1,639

–
955

Net Cash Inflow Related to Investing Activities		

5,588

14,440

1,639

955

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and
Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of Financial Year		

146
8

Net Cash (Outflow) Related to Operating Activities

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end
of the Financial Year
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 84 – 97.

19 (a)

154

(62)
70
8

146
8
154

(62)
70
8
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
1. Summary of Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
This financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, accounting standards and
interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.
The financial report includes the separate financial statements
of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the
Consolidated Entity.
This financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical
cost, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. Cost
is based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for
assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless
otherwise noted.
The financial report complies with Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance
with A-IFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes comply
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statement was authorised for issue by the Directors on
25 February 2010.
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have
been adopted in the current financial year and have affected the
amounts reported in these Financial Statements:
AASB 8 Operating Segments
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
AASB 8 is a disclosure Standard that has resulted in a redesignation
of the Company’s reportable segments (see note 15) and had no impact
on the reported results or financial position of the Company and
Consolidated Entity.
AASB 101 (revised 2007) Presentation
of Financial Statements
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
The revised Standard has introduced a number of terminology changes
and has resulted in a number of changes in presentation and disclosure
of the financial statements. However, the revised Standard has had no
impact on the reported results or financial position of the Company and
Consolidated Entity.
Standards Not Yet Effective
Certain standards, amendments and interpretations that are on
issue but not yet effective have not been applied in the preparation
of this report. The principal standards that have not been applied in
preparation of this report are:
• AASB 3 (revised 2008) “Business Combinations” and AASB 27
(revised 2008) “Consolidated and separate financial statements”
– effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009.
As a consequence of the amendment to the above AASB, stapling
arrangements such as Spark Infrastructure will be covered under
the standard. AASB Interpretation 1002 “Post-date of Transition
Stapling Arrangements” will be superseded. As existing stapling
arrangements will not be impacted, there are no financial or disclosure
implications for the Company and the Consolidated Entity.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations that are on
issue are not likely to have a material impact on the Company and the
Consolidated Entity.

Working Capital Deficiency
The net current liabilities at 31 December 2009 are $240,285,000
(2008: $256,306,000). The Directors consider the application of the
going concern principle to be appropriate to the Consolidated Entity
as payables are due to related parties within Spark Infrastructure,
who share the same Directors as the Consolidated Entity, and
therefore it is expected that continual financial support would be
provided when required.
Significant Accounting Policies
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the
preparation and presentation of this report:
(a) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the
financial statements of all entities that comprise the Consolidated
Entity, being the Company and its subsidiaries as defined in AASB 127
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.
(b) Acquisition of Assets
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of
assets. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given up,
equity issued or liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition plus
incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
(c) Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at
amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss
over the year of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.
(d) Borrowing Costs
Borrowings costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of these assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and
investments in money market instruments.
(f) Creditors and Accruals
Trade creditors and accruals are recognised when there is an obligation
to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and
services.
(g) Financial Instruments
Debt and Equity Instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the
equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are
the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of
those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred
had those instruments not been issued.
Interest, Dividends and Distributions
Interest, dividends and distributions are classified as expenses,
distributions of profit or a return of capital consistent with the
Statement of Financial Position classification of the related debt
or equity instruments.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Summary of Accounting Policies continued

(h) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of goods and services tax (“GST”), except:
• where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
• for receivables and payables, which are recognised exclusive
of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cashflows on a gross
basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.
(i) Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets
At each reporting date, the Consolidated Entity reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the Consolidated Entity estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and
value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
(j) Income Tax
Current Tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes
payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for
the year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax
for current and prior years is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the
extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Tax Consolidation Legislation
A tax consolidation group has been formed within the Consolidated
Entity, whereby wholly owned Australian resident entities have
combined together to form a tax consolidated group that will be taxed
under Australian taxation law as if it was a single entity. Tax expense/
income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from
temporary differences of members of a tax consolidated group are
recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of
the tax consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’
approach. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of
the tax consolidated group are recognised by the head entity in the
relevant tax consolidated group. Further details are provided in Note 3.
(k) Investments in Associates
Investments in Associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. The associates are entities over which the Consolidated
Entity has significant influence and that are neither subsidiaries nor
joint ventures.
Under the equity method, investments in the associates are carried
in the Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition
changes in share of net assets of the associates. After application of
the equity method, the Consolidated Entity determines whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to its net
investment in associates.
The Consolidated Entity’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in equity such as actuarial
gains are recognised in reserves/retained earnings, as appropriate.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends receivable from
associates are recognised in the individual entity’s income statement.
(l) Loans and Receivables
Loans to associates and other receivables are recorded at amortised
cost less any impairment.
(m) Revenue Recognition
Dividend and Interest Revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the right to
receive payment has been established.
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount.
(n) Investments in Subsidiaries
The investments in subsidiaries are recorded for at cost.
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Summary of Accounting Policies continued

(o) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of this report required the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and exercises judgement in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including reasonable expectation of future events.
The Directors believe the estimates and judgements are reasonable.
Actual results in the future may differ from those reported.
The key accounting estimate and judgement used in the preparation
of this report is as follows:
• Accounting for Acquisition
On 15 December 2005, the Consolidated Entity acquired a 49%
interest in the distribution business of ETSA Utilities in South
Australia. The Consolidated Entity is required to reflect its equity
accounted investment in the business by reference to its share of fair
value of net assets of the business. This assessment of fair value by
the Consolidated Entity resulted in a notional increase in the carrying
value of certain depreciable assets and amortisable intangible assets
(i.e. licences), which are depreciated/amortised over the estimated
useful life of such assets, extending up to 200 years. As a result of
this, the share of the Consolidated Entity’s equity accounted profits
has been adjusted by additional depreciation and amortisation arising
from the increase in the carrying value.
• Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, Spark Infrastructure tests whether there
are any indicators of impairment in accordance with Note 1(i). The
Asset Company, being ETSA Utilities is regarded as a separate cash
generating unit for the purpose of such testing. If any indicators are
established, a discounted cashflow analysis is undertaken.
Substantial changes to external market conditions over the past two
years and the regulatory reset process currently underway have the
potential to impact asset values and Spark Infrastructure regards
this as a potential indicator of impairment. Accordingly, impairment
testing was undertaken to confirm that the carrying value of the asset
does not exceed their respective recoverable values. The following
key parameters were used in testing for impairment:

– Cashflow projections, based on financial forecasts approved by
management containing assumptions about business conditions,
growth in asset base and future regulatory returns, over a
period of 10 years with an appropriate terminal value based on
regulated asset base (“RAB”) multiples for regulated activities
and EBITDA multiples for unregulated activities;
– Growth rates for volume of electricity delivered are based
on observed historical values and studies undertaken by
independent experts; and
– Appropriate discount rates specific to the individual assets.
Cashflow projections for a 10 year period are deemed
appropriate as electricity distribution assets are long life assets.
• ETSA submitted their 5-year regulatory proposals to the Australian
Energy Regulator (“AER”) on 1 July 2009. The AER issued a draft
distribution electricity determination in relation to the ETSA
proposal on 30 November 2009.
• The impact of the draft determination in relation to ETSA’s
submission for the 5 year regulatory period commencing on
1 July 2010 has been considered in the impairment calculation.
Final determinations are to be scheduled to be issued for ETSA
in April 2010 at which point the underlying forecasts may need
to be adjusted.
• Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there are sufficient taxable amounts available against which
deductable temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax
offsets can be utilised and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2009, a net amount of
$79,066,000 (2008: $127,292,000) has not been recognised on
the basis that the above recognition criteria was not met.
(p) Rounding of Amounts
The Consolidated Entity is an entity of the kind referred to in ASIC
Class Order 98/0100, relevant amounts in the financial report and
Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars,
unless otherwise indicated.

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(a)	Income
Income from associates:
− Share of equity accounted profits		

168,210

96,887

–

–

(b)	Expenses
Interest expense:
− Interest on related party debt		

81,340

81,562

–

–

(c) General and Administrative Expenses
Directors’ fees – short term benefits		
Directors’ fees – post employment benefits		
Other expenses 		

344
14
1,148

311
10
704

344
14
1,133

311
10
625

		

1,506

1,025

1,491

946

2.	Profit for the Financial Year
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Profit for the Financial Year continued

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

81,413

1,133

(1,490)

(944)

3.	Income Taxes
(a) Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss
The prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) on pre-tax accounting
profit/(loss) from operations reconciles to the income tax
expense/(benefit) in the financial statements as follows:
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 		
Income tax expense/(benefit) calculated at 30%		
Offsets from unused tax losses brought to account		
Write down of deferred tax assets		
Previously unrecognised and unused tax losses now
recognised as deferred tax assets

24,424
(24,424)
–

340
(340)
15,936

(446)
446
–

(283)
283
33,180

(23,802)

–

(40,333)

–

Income tax (benefit)/expense		

(23,802)

15,936

(40,333)

33,180

(b)	Income Tax Recognised Directly in Equity
The following deferred tax expense/(benefit) was recognised directly
in equity during the Financial Year
– Share of associates’ reserves recognised directly in equity		

23,802

(15,936)

–

–

(c) Deferred Tax Balances
Deferred Tax Assets comprise:
– Tax losses		

75,475

35,143

75,475

35,142

Deferred Tax Liabilities comprise:
–	Temporary differences		

(75,475)

(35,143)

–

–

–

–

75,475

35,142

79,066

127,292

–

–

The tax rate of 30% used above is the current Australian corporate tax rate.
There has been no change in the corporate tax rate during the Financial Year.

Net deferred tax recognised in the financial statements		
(d) Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances
The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:
– Tax losses – revenue		

An amount of $75,468,000 (2008: $35,135,000) has been recognised in deferred tax liabilities and offset against available tax losses, resulting in
net unrecognised deferred tax asset of $79,066,000 (2008: $127,292,000).
Tax Consolidation
The Company and its wholly owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax consolidated group and are taxed as a single entity. The Company
is head entity of the tax consolidated group. The members of the tax consolidated group are identified in Note 18.
Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Agreements
Entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement. Under the terms of the funding
agreement, the Company and each of the entities in the tax consolidated group have agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head
entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other
entities in the tax consolidated group.
The tax sharing agreement between members of the tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in
respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote at this time.
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4.	Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method
(a) Investments in Associates				
			Country of
			Incorporation/
Name of Entity	Principal Activity	Ownership Interest (%)	Formation
ETSA Utilities
Partnership

Ownership of an electricity distribution network
in South Australia

2009

2008

49

49

Australia

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(b) Share of Associate’s Assets and Liabilities 								
Current assets		
325,438
62,681
–
Non-current assets		
2,181,248
2,102,001
–

–
–

Total assets		

2,506,686

2,164,682

–

–

Current liabilities		
Non-current liabilities		

477,448
1,391,117

108,920
1,563,187

–
–

–
–

Total liabilities		

1,868,565

1,672,107

–

–

Net assets of ETSA Utilities before
Preferred Partnership Capital
Preferred Partnership Capital 		

638,121
622,300

492,575
622,300

–
–

–
–

1,260,421

1,114,875

–

–

(c) Share of Associate’s Revenue and Expenses
Revenue – distribution		
Revenue – unregulated/other		

263,849
153,547

250,696
137,314

–
–

–
–

Operating revenue
Revenue – transmission		

417,396
94,518

388,010
86,842

–
–

–
–

		
Expenses		

511,914
(378,404)

474,852
(412,760)

–
–

–
–

Profit before income tax		
Income tax benefit/(expense)		

133,510
–

62,092
–

–
–

–
–

Net profit accounted for using the equity accounting method		
Additional share of profits from preferred partnership capital a		

133,510
35,514

62,092
35,611

–
–

–
–

		
Additional depreciation/amortisation charge b		

169,024
(814)

97,703
(816)

–
–

–
–

		

168,210

96,887

–

–

Net assets applicable to the Consolidated Entity

a
b

Under the Partnership agreement, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No 2 Limited is entitled to an additional share of profits in the ETSA partnership.
Relates to depreciation and amortisation of the fair value on uplift of assets on acquisition.
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Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method continued

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(d)	Movement in Carrying Amounts									
Carrying amount at beginning of the Financial Year		
1,073,682
1,197,371
–
Share of profits after income tax		
168,210
96,887
–
Preferred partnership distribution received		
(69,635)
(69,826)
–
Dividends received – associates 		
(33,183)
(1,957)
–
Share of associate’s income/(expense) recognised directly in equity		
79,340
(148,793)
–
Other movements		
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Carrying amount at the end of the Financial Year		

–

–

1,218,414

1,073,682

(e)	Commitments for Expenditure and
	Contingent Liabilities
The share of the Consolidated Entity’s capital and commitments for expenditure are provided in Notes 13 and 14 respectively.

5.	Other Financial Assets
Shares in controlled entities – at cost (note 18)		

–

–

136,556

136,556

57,305

73,194

7,434

5,794

183,422
–

183,422
–

–
68,323

–
68,323

183,422

183,422

68,323

68,323

749,673

749,673

–

–

6.	Payables
Payables to related parties 		
Payables are repayable on demand.

7.	Loans from Related Parties
Loans (current) – non-interest bearing a 		
Loans – other 		

Loans (non current) – interest-bearing b		
a
b

The lender, a related party within Spark Infrastructure, may recall the loan at its discretion or cancel the loan upon such payment.
100 year loan from a related party within Spark Infrastructure at an interest rate of 10.85% per annum.

8.	Issued Capital
Balance at beginning of Financial Year		
Issue of stapled securities under distribution reinvestment plan		

133,172
–

133,172
–

133,172
–

133,172
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year		

133,172

133,172

133,172

133,172

No.’000	No.’000

No.’000

Fully Paid Shares		No.’000
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year
Issue of stapled securities under distribution reinvestment plan		

1,008,651
23,260

1,008,651
–

1,008,651
23,260

1,008,651
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year

1,031,911

1,008,651

1,031,911

1,008,651

The ordinary shares and units carry one vote per share and the right to distributions.
Each share in SIH (No. 2) is “stapled” to one share in SIH (No. 1), one unit in the Trust, one loan note issued by the responsible entity of the Trust
and one Chess Depository Interest representing one share in Spark International. The stapled securities are quoted on the ASX and trade as if they
are a single security. Under the terms of the Loan Note Trust Deed, the application price for a stapled security is first allocated to the principal
amount of a Loan Note.
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Hedging Reserve
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year		
Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges not previously recognised
Share of associates’ gain/(losses) on hedges a		
Related tax		

(35,361)
10,603
39,027
(11,708)

16,143
–
(58,423)
6,919

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year		

2,561

(35,361)

–

–

9.	Reserves

a

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges of ETSA. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge is
recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss.

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(35,510)
–
38,843

(1,386)
–
(34,124)

10.	Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year		
Transfer of income tax benefit on cashflow hedges not previously recognised
Net profit/(loss)for the year		
Share of associate’s actuarial gain/(losses) recognised directly in
Retained Earnings a		
Related tax		

(30,108)
(10,603)
105,215

66,048
–
(14,803)

40,313
(12,094)

(90,370)
9,017

–
–

–
–

Balance at end of the Financial Year		

92,723

(30,108)

3,333

(35,510)

a

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit superannuation plans operated by ETSA (the Associate) are recognised directly in Retained Earnings.

	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Audit and review of financial report 		
Tax advice		

83,220
34,859

80,912
60,465

83,220
–

80,912
–

		

118,079

141,377

83,220

80,912

11.	Remuneration of External Auditor

The auditor of the Consolidated Entity and Company is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

105,215
1,014,531
10.37¢

(14,803)
1,008,651
(1.47) ¢

–
–
–

–
–
–

12.	Earnings per Share (“EPS”)
Net profit/(loss) after tax used to calculate EPS		
Weighted average number of shares (’000)		
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)		
Basic EPS is the same as diluted EPS.
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	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

13.	Commitments for Expenditure									
(a)	Capital Expenditure commitments									
Share of associate’s capital expenditure commitments
– Not longer than 1 year		
2,961
2,095
–

–

		

2,961

2,095

–

–

(b)	Other Expenditure Commitments
Share of associate’s other expenditure commitments
– Not longer than 1 year		
– Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years		
– Longer than 5 years		

130
64
116

126
66
1

–
–
–

–
–
–

		

310

193

–

–

Share of associate’s contingent liabilities 		

7,681

6,774

–

–

		

7,681

6,774

–

–

14.	Contingent Liabilities

The contingent liabilities relate to guarantees provided to various parties by ETSA. There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets in the
Consolidated Entity.

15. Segment Information
The Company has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments with effect from 1 January 2009. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reports about components of the Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to
allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (AASB 114 Segment Reporting) required
an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s system of internal
financial reporting to key management personnel serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments. As a result, following
the adoption of AASB 8, the process of identifying the Company’s reportable segments has changed. However, as the Company only operates in
one segment, being ownership of an electricity distribution business in South Australia, there is no change in the reportable segments and no
additional segment information is required to be provided.
Company operates in one segment, being ownership of an electricity distribution business in South Australia.

16.	Related Party Disclosures
(a)	Directors
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Ms Anne McDonald (appointed 1 January 2009)
Mr Don Morley
Dr Keith Turner (appointed 13 March 2009)
Mr Dominic Chan (alternate Director for Mr Kam).
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16. Related Party Disclosures continued

Remuneration
The Company bears a proportionate share of remuneration paid to the directors of Spark Infrastructure. The share of remuneration borne by the
Company is as follows:
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Directors’ fees – short term benefits		
Directors’ fees – post employment benefits		

344,067
14,335

310,813
10,521

344,067
14,335

310,813
10,521

		

358,402

321,334

358,402

321,334

In addition to the Directors’ fees set out under Remuneration of Directors, Ms Cheryl Bart, Ms Anne McDonald and Dr Keith Turner were entitled
to Directors’ fees as representatives of Spark on the ETSA and CHEDHA Boards (the Asset Company Boards) as set out below. These fees were
paid by the Asset Companies.
During the period Ms Bart was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the ETSA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $15,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of $10,000
During the period Ms McDonald was entitled to Director’s fees totalling $100,000 as a director on the CHEDHA boards comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director – annual fee of $75,000
• Member of Audit Committee – annual fee of $10,000
• Chair of Audit Committee – additional annual fee of $5,000
• Member of Risk Management & Compliance Committee – annual fee of $10,000
From 17 November 2009 Dr Keith Turner was entitled to annual Directors’ fees of $150,000 as a director on the ETSA and CHEDHA boards
comprised as follows.
• Non-executive Director of the CHEDHA boards – annual fee of $75,000
• Non-executive Director of the ETSA boards – annual fee of $75,000
In addition, from the date of his appointment as a director on the Spark Infrastructure Boards until 17 November 2009, Dr Keith Turner was
appointed as a consultant by the Spark Infrastructure Board to attend the Asset Company Board meetings by invitation. A consultancy agreement
on standard terms and conditions was been prepared to reflect this arrangement. Dr Turner was paid a fee of $102,842 for both Boards (being a
prorated amount of $75,000 per annum for each Board).
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16. Related Party Disclosures continued

Security Holdings
The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure for the financial year is as follows:
	Opening Balance	Net Movement	Closing Balance
1 January 2009
Acquired/(Disposed)
31 December 2009
Directors
(No.)
(No.)
(No.)
Mr Stephen Johns		
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO		
Mr John Dorrian		
Mr Andrew Hunter		
Mr Hing Lam Kam		
Mr Timothy Keith		
Ms Anne McDonald a		
Mr Don Morley		
Dr Keith Turner b		
Mr Dominic Chan c		
a
b
c

355,000		
125,000		
136,428		
–		
–		
–		
–		
225,000		
–		
–		

–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
–
225,000
–
–

Appointed 1 January 2009.
Appointed 13 March 2009.
Alternate Director for Mr Kam.

The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure in respect of the previous year is as follows:

Directors
Mr Stephen Johns
Ms Cheryl Bart, AO
Mr John Dorrian
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Hing Lam Kam
Mr Timothy Keith
Mr Don Morley
Mr Dominic Chan a
Mr Shaun Mays b
Mr Peter St George c
a Alternate Director for Mr Kam.
b Resigned on 17 March 2008.
c Resigned on 31 December 2008.

Opening Balance
1 January 2008
(No.)

Net Movement
Acquired/(Disposed)
(No.)

355,000		
125,000		
162,150		
–		
–		
–		
225,000		
–		
–		
71,400		

Closing Balance
31 December 2008
(No.)

–		
–		
(25,722)		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		
–		

355,000
125,000
136,428
–
–
–
225,000
–
–
71,400
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16. Related Party Disclosures continued

(b)	Manager
Spark Infrastructure has entered into a Management Agreement with Spark Infrastructure Management Limited (“the Manager”) to provide
management services, as set out in the agreement. The services provided include development of financial and investment strategy, preparation of
investment proposals for approval by the Board, development of proposals for debt and equity raising and management of day to day operations.
The term of the Management Agreement is 25 years and is terminable by Spark Infrastructure or the Manager under certain circumstances.
The Manager is entitled to a base fee and a performance fee. The base fee is calculated at 0.5% of enterprise value of Spark Infrastructure up to
$2.443 billion plus 1.0% of any amount over $2.443 billion.
During the Financial Year, an amount of $7,905,000 (2008: $9,795,000) was payable to the Manager in base fees, of which $3,952,000 (2008:
$4,897,000) was allocated to the Consolidated Entity.
Performance Fee
No Performance Fee was payable in the current year (2008: $16,544,000). Nil (2008: $8,272,000) was allocated to the Consolidated Entity during
the year. The Performance Fee is an incentive fee payable for market outperformance and is not related to the operational performance of the Asset
Companies. The outperformance is measured each half year by the movement in the Spark Accumulation Index relative to the benchmark index,
which is the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation Index. The fee represents 20% of the outperformance.
During the half year ended 30 June 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s Accumulation Index underperformed the benchmark index by 5.9%, reflecting a
deficit for the half year period of $67,978,000. Accordingly no Performance Fee was payable at 30 June 2009.
During the half year ended 31 December 2009, Spark Infrastructure’s Accumulation Index outperformed the benchmark index by 1.8%, reflecting a
surplus of $20,594,000 for the half year period. After taking into account the brought forward deficit at 31 December 2008 of $34,819,000 and the
movements in the two half periods, the carried forward deficit at 31 December 2009 is $82,203,000.
The Manager is jointly owned by CKI and DB RREEF.
(c) Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)
KMP are those having the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of an entity. The Directors meet the definition of
KMP. Since the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling activities has not been delegated to the Manager, there are no other KMP
within the Consolidated Entity.
(d)	Other Related Parties
The other related parties include:
• Associates;
• Subsidiaries; and
• Entities within Spark Infrastructure.
Associates
The details of ownership interests in the Associate entity are provided in Note 4(a). An amount of $11,637,000 was outstanding in respect of
accumulated distributions on preferred partnership capital at 31 December 2009 (2008: $11,637,000).
Subsidiaries
The details of the ownership interest in subsidiaries are provided in Note 18. The terms of the tax sharing and funding agreements entered into
between by SIH (No. 2) with its controlled entities are provided in Note 3. There were no amounts outstanding at the end of the financial year from
the controlled entities of the Company.
Entities within Spark Infrastructure
As at the end of the Financial Year, an amount of $990,400,000 was outstanding to Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of SIH(No. 1). This was comprised of $933,095,000 in loans (2008: $956,865,000) and $57,305,000 in other payables (2008: $73,194,000).
During the Financial Year, an amount of $81,340,000 was payable in interest on the loans (2008: $81,562,000) and $5,458,000 for other payables
(2008: $14,194,000).
The term of the loans have been disclosed in Note 7.

17. Subsequent Events		
There were no events, other than those described in this report, that have arisen since the end of the Financial Year that have significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity.
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18.	Controlled Entities		
					
Equity
				Country of	Holdings
Entity				Incorporation
(%)
Controlled Entities – SIH (No. 2) a				
– Spark Infrastructure (SA) Pty Limited b				
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No1) Pty Limited b 				
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No2) Pty Limited b 				
– Spark Infrastructure SA (No3) Pty Limited b 				
a
b

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

100
100
100
100
100

Head entity of a tax consolidated group.
An entity within the tax consolidated group.

There has been no change in the controlled entities during the year.
	Consolidated	Company
		
		

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(a)	Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market instruments,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of
the Financial Year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is reconciled to the
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:						
Cash on hand and at bank		
154
8

154

8

8

154

8

2009
$’000

19.	Notes to the Statement of Cashflows

Cash and cash equivalents		
(b)	Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to
	Net Cashflow related to Operating Activities
Net profit/(loss) after tax for the year 		
Share of losses of Associates (less dividends/distributions)		
Movement in tax balance		
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
Increase in current receivables		
(Decrease) in current payables		
Net cash (outflow)/inflow related to Operating Activities		

154

105,215
(65,391)
(23,802)

(14,803)
(25,104)
15,936

38,843
–
(40,333)

(34,124)
–
33,180

14
(21,478)

–
9,469

–
(3)

–
(73)

(5,442)

(14,502)

(1,493)

(1,017)

20. Financial Instruments
(a)	Financial Risk Management Objectives
Spark Infrastructure’s treasury function manages the financial risks and co-ordinates access to financial markets.
The Consolidated Entity does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
The use of financial derivatives is governed by Spark Infrastructure’s treasury policy, approved by the Board, which has written principles on the use
of financial derivatives. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis.
The Consolidated Entity has no exposure to interest rate risk or foreign currency risk.
(b)	Capital Risk Management
The capital structure of the Consolidated Entity comprises of debt and equity. The Consolidated Entity manages its capital through the use of a
combination of debt and equity to ensure that it will be able to operate as a going concern, and provide appropriate returns to shareholders. There
has been no change in the capital management strategy during the Financial Year.
On 29 May 2009, Spark Infrastructure announced changes to its capital management plans. This included a reduction in the level of distributions
and the activation of its Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) for the June 2009 half year distribution. The Strategic Review announced by Spark
Infrastructure in February 2010 may potentially lead to further changes in capital management plans.
The Company holds a 49% interest in ETSA Utilities and as such, does not control this business and is not in a position to determine the distribution
policy. Further, the revenue of ETSA Utilities is significantly reliant on the regulatory determinations of the Australian Energy Regulator. This could in
turn impact on distributions received by the Company.
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20. Financial Instruments continued

(c) Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on
which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1.
(d)	Financial Market Risk
The Consolidated Entity and the Company do not have any financial market risk as interest rates are fixed. The revenue of the Asset Companies is
predominantly reliant on regulatory determinations of the Australian Energy Regulator. This could in turn impact on distributions by the Consolidated Entity.
(e)	Interest Rate Risk Management
As the Consolidated Entity has only fixed rate interest bearing liabilities, the change in interest rates would have no impact on its profit or loss and
equity position.
(f)	Credit Risk Exposures
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Consolidated Entity.
The Consolidated Entity’s credit risk arises primarily from cash held on deposit. The Consolidated Entity has a policy of dealing with creditworthy
counterparties only as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international ratings agencies.
(g)	Liquidity Risk Management
The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking facilities and monitoring continuously the forecast and actual
cashflows. No significant risks have been identified. The undiscounted cashflow of financial liabilities are as disclosed in the statement of financial
position with the exception of Loans from Related Parties. The details of interest and principal cashflows in respect of those loans are disclosed below:

Consolidated
Entity

Weighted	Fixed Maturity Dates
average Variable	Less					Non2–5
5+	Interest
effective	Interest
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
interest rate	Rate	Month	Months – 1 Year	Years	Years	Bearing	Total

2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.65

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

154

		

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

57,305

57,305

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

183,422

183,422

10.85

–

–

23,890

57,450

325,581 8,172,704

– 8,579,625

		

–

–

23,890

57,450

325,581 8,172,704

240,727 8,820,352

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.75

8

–

–

–

		

8

–

–

Payables
Loans to related parties –
non interest bearing
Loans to related parties –
interest bearing

–

–

–

–

–

10.85

		

Cash & cash equivalents

Payables
Loans to related parties –
non interest bearing
Loans to related parties –
interest bearing

Consolidated
Entity
2008
Cash & cash equivalents

Fixed Maturity Dates
Less					
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
2–5
5+
Month
Months
– 1 Year
Years
Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

–

8

–

–

–

–

8

–

–

–

–

73,194

73,194

–

–

–

–

–

183,422

183,422

–

–

45,369

36,193

325,135

8,254,490

–

8,661,187

–

–

45,369

36,193

325,135

8,254,490

256,616

8,917,803
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20. Financial Instruments continued

Company

Weighted	Fixed Maturity Dates
average Variable	Less					Non2–5
5+	Interest
effective	Interest
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
interest rate	Rate	Month	Months – 1 Year	Years	Years	Bearing	Total

2009

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.65

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

154

		

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

154

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,434

7,434

		

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,434

7,434

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

Fixed Maturity Dates
Less					
than 1
1 – 3 3 Months
2–5
5+
Month
Months
– 1 Year
Years
Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

% pa

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3.75

8

–

–

–

–

–

–

8

		

8

–

–

–

–

–

–

8

									
Payables
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
5,795

5,795

		

5,795

Cash & cash equivalents

Payables

Company
2008
Cash & cash equivalents

–

–

–

–

–

–

5,795

(h)	Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their
fair values.
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market prices;
• the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis; and
• the fair values of derivative instruments, included in hedging assets and liabilities, are calculated using market values. Where such prices are
not available, use is made of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments.

21. Additional Company Information
SIH (No. 2) is registered in Australia.
The registered office of business SIH (No. 2) is:
Level 6, 255 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia
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Directors’ Declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable;
(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including
compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company and the
Consolidated Entity; and
(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

S Johns				D Morley

Chairman				
Sydney
25 February 2010

Director
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auditor’s independence declaration
to the members of spark infrastructure holdings no.2 limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited, which comprises the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2009, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity
for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’
declaration of the consolidated entity comprising Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited (the parent entity) and the entities it controlled at the
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 80 to 98.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 31 December 2009 and of its performance for the year ended on that
date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 77 to 88 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009. The directors of
the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations
Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited for the year ended 31 December 2009, complies with section
300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

S C Gustafson
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Sydney, 25 February 2010

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Spark Infrastructure
Holdings
International Limited
Financial Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2009
(ARBN 117 034 492)

Spark Infrastructure comprises Spark Infrastructure Trust, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.1 Limited, Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited
and Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited.
One CHESS Depositary Interest representing one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited is stapled to one unit in Spark
Infrastructure Trust, one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.1 Limited, one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Limited and one loan
note issued by Spark Infrastructure Trust. The stapled securities trade on the Australian Securities Exchange.
This financial report relates to the performance of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited only. As the securities
are held by investors in a stapled structure, the financial result of Spark Infrastructure (as lodged with the Australian Securities
Exchange on 26 February 2010) represents the most concise information regarding the performance of investors’ funds
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited
(“the Company”) provide this financial report for the year ended
31 December 2009 (the “Financial Year”).
In order to comply with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,
the Directors report as follows:
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company as at the date
of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns (Chairman)
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Timothy B. Keith
The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
are provided below:
Mr Stephen Johns BEc, FCA
Chairman and independent director (since November 2005)
Mr Johns had a long executive career with Westfield where he held
a number of positions including that of Finance Director from 1985 to
2002. He was appointed an executive Director of Westfield Holdings
Limited and Westfield Trust in 1985 and Westfield America Trust upon
its listing in 1996. He became a non-executive Director of the three
Westfield boards in October 2003. He is currently a non-executive
Director of the Westfield Group, which resulted from the merger of the
three listed entities in July 2004.
Mr Johns was a non-executive Director of Brambles Industries Limited
and Brambles Industries plc from August 2004 to December 2006, at
which time he became a non-executive Director of Brambles Limited,
the new holding company of the Brambles Group following a corporate
reorganisation which became effective in December 2006.
Mr Johns was appointed to the Board of Leighton Holdings Limited on
21 December 2009.
He is also a Director of Sydney Symphony Limited.
Mr Johns has held the following directorships of other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Listed Entity 	Period directorship held
Brambles Limited
Westfield Group:
– Westfield Holdings Limited
– Westfield America Trust (Director
of responsible entity, Westfield
America Management Limited)
– Westfield Trust (Director of
responsible entity,
Westfield Management Limited)
Leighton Holdings Limited

August 2006 to current
November 1985 to current

February 1996 to current

November 1985 to current
21 December 2009 to current

Mr Andrew Hunter MA, MBA, MICAS, MHKICPA
CKI Board appointee and non-executive Director (since
December 2006)
Mr Hunter is currently an executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of Cheung Kong Infrastructure (“CKI”). In addition, he serves
as Chief Financial Officer of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited and is an
executive Director of Hong Kong Electric (Holdings) Limited.
Mr Hunter has more than 24 years experience in accounting and financial
management and holds a range of directorships in CKI related companies.
He is a Director of CHEDHA Holdings Pty Limited (“CHEDHA”),
CitiPower, Powercor and ETSA Utilities (“ETSA”).
Mr Hunter was also an alternate Director for Mr Kam on the Spark
Infrastructure Group Boards up until 13 February 2009.
Mr Hunter is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
(“ARMC”).
Mr Hunter has not held any directorships of any other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.
Mr Timothy B Keith BA
RREEF Infrastructure Board Appointee and Non-executive
Director (since March 2008 – resigned 15 March 2010)
Mr Keith is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank AG and the
Chief Executive Officer of RREEF Infrastructure and Private Equity
Investments, based in New York. He is responsible for managing
the global operations of these businesses for RREEF Alternative
Investments, which is the fiduciary investment operation within
Deutsche Asset Management.
Prior to taking this position, he was the Global Chief Investment Officer
of RREEF Infrastructure and Head of Business Development of RREEF
Alternative Investments and the co-chair of the RREEF Alternative
Assets Investment Committee. Formerly, Mr Keith was a partner of
RREEF America LLC prior to its acquisition by Deutsche Bank; Chief
Executive Officer of Cabot Industrial Trust after its privatisation and
de-listing; and Regional Vice President of Meridian Industrial Trust.
Mr Keith has over 14 years experience in the funds management
industry and managing public companies and over 20 years’ experience
in investment markets. He has specialised in real estate markets for
most of his career, with substantial experience in direct investments,
formation of long term operating partnerships, initial public offerings
and privatisations of public companies. He has had executive
management and investment roles in infrastructure for five years.
Mr Keith is a non-executive Director of Maher Terminals LLC.
Mr Keith has not held any directorships of any other Australian listed
entities within the last three years.

Company Secretary
Ms Alexandra Finley Dip Law, MLM
Ms Finley is an experienced corporate governance professional with
over 15 years legal and commercial experience gained in private
practice and in-house. Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, she spent
almost 10 years with National Australia Bank/MLC in various senior
legal and commercial roles, most recently as Company Secretary of the
MLC Group of Companies.
Ms Finley has extensive experience in the financial services sector
including mergers and acquisitions, risk management and regulatory
compliance and has held strategic, operational and management
roles. As a senior lawyer and senior associate in private practice, her
experience includes property and construction, banking and finance,
workplace relations and corporate advisory.
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Principal Activities

Future Developments

The principal activity of the Company is to invest in infrastructure
assets outside Australia. There has been no change in the principal
activity during the Financial Year.

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the
operations of the Company not otherwise disclosed elsewhere in this
report is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice. Accordingly, such
information has not been disclosed in this report.

Stapled Securities
The Spark Infrastructure Group is a stapled structure, wherein:
• one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings (No. 1) Limited;
• one share in Spark Infrastructure Holdings (No. 2) Limited;
• one unit in Spark Infrastructure Trust (“Spark Trust”);
• one Loan Note issued by the responsible entity of Spark Trust; and
• one CHESS Depositary Interest (“CDI”) representing one share in
the Company
are “stapled” and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX”) as if they were a single security. The stapled entities are
referred to in this report as Spark Infrastructure.

Review of Operations
The Company was dormant during the Financial Year.

Changes in State of Affairs
There has been no change in the activities of the Company during
the Financial Year.

Environmental Regulations
The Company is not subject to any environmental regulations.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid during the Financial Year (2008: Nil).

Events Occurring after Reporting Date
The Directors of the Company are not aware of any other matter
or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report that has
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations or the
state of affairs in the period since 31 December 2009.

Options over Securities
No options have been granted over the unissued shares of the Company.

Directors’ Meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings held
during the Financial Year and the number of meetings attended by
each Director for which they were eligible to attend (i.e. in the case
of Directors, while they were appointed and where they were not
disqualified from attending due to observation of processes to guard
against any perceived conflict of interests, and in the case of Alternate
Directors, while they were appointed and meetings for which they
were nominated to attend as alternate).
During the Financial Year, 5 Board meetings were held. In addition,
a Board Sub-Committee meeting was held and attended by Stephen
Johns. References to meetings “Held” means the number of meetings
a director was eligible to attend.

		Board
	Board
Sub-Committee
Directors		Held
Mr Stephen Johns		
Mr Andrew Hunter		
Mr Timothy Keith		

Attended	Held

5
5
5

5
3
4

1
–
–

Attended
1
–
–

Directors’ Stapled Security Holdings
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure as at the date of this report:
		
Net Movement
Directors	Opening Balance (No.)
Acquired/(Disposed) (No.)	Closing Balance (No.)
Mr Stephen Johns
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Timothy Keith

355,000
–
–

–
–
–

355,000
–
–

The relevant interest of each Director in the Stapled Securities of Spark Infrastructure as at the end of the previous year was as follows:
		
Net Movement
Directors	Opening Balance (No.)
Acquired/(Disposed) (No.)	Closing Balance (No.)
Mr Stephen Johns
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Timothy Keith

355,000
–
–

–
–
–

355,000
–
–
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Remuneration Report
Directors’ Remuneration
No remuneration was paid to the Directors of the Company during the Financial Year as the Company was dormant (2008: Nil).
Remuneration of Executives
The Company does not have any employees. Spark Infrastructure Management Limited (“Manager”), as the manager of Spark Infrastructure, makes
employees (including senior executives) available under the Management Agreement. The Company is not liable for expenses referable to the
executives. Accordingly, executive remuneration details are not provided in this report.

Non-Audit Services
The auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, did not perform any non-audit services during the Financial Year.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
The Company’s Constitution permits the Company, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify any current or former Directors or officers against
liability incurred by them in that capacity and indemnify them for all legal costs incurred in defending or resisting proceedings, whether civil or
criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature, in which they become involved because of that capacity. The Company may pay a premium
for a contract insuring a Director or officer against such liability, unless prohibited by law. The Company may enter into an agreement with a
Director or officer in respect of such matters and including provisions relating to rights of access to books of the Company.
During the Financial Year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract of insurance indemnifying the Directors against a liability incurred
as such a Director to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability
and the amount of the premium.
Spark Infrastructure has not otherwise, during or since the Financial Year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company
or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor, except to the extent permitted by law.
The Company has entered into Deeds of Access, Indemnity and Insurance with Directors.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 106.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Company made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors:

S Johns				
Chairman				
		
Sydney
25 February 2010			

A Hunter
Director

25 February 2010

auditor’s independence declaration

[An auditor’s independence declaration shall be provided by the auditor]
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Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2009
				
				

2009
$

2008
$

Profit/(loss) before income tax attributable to shareholders			
Income tax (expense)/benefit				

–
–

–
–

Net profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders				
Other comprehensive income				

–
–

–
–

Total comprehensive income for the Financial Year				

–

–

Earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares (no. ‘000)				

1,014,531

1,008,651

Earnings used to calculate earnings per share ($)				
Basic earnings per share based on net profit attributable to shareholders (cents)			

–
–

–
–

(Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share)
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 111 – 112.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2009
				
			
Notes

2009
$

2008
$

Current Assets				
Non-Current Assets				

–
–

–
–

Total Assets				

–

–

Current Liabilities				
Non-Current Liabilities				

–
–

–
–

Total Liabilities				

–

–

Net Assets				

–

–

Equity					
Issued capital attributable to shareholders			
3
–
Reserves				
–
Retained earnings 				
–

–
–
–

Total Equity				

–

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 111 – 112.

–
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
			
			
			

Ordinary 	Retained	Total
Shares 	Earnings	Equity
$
$
$

2008:
Balance as at 1 January 2008			
Net result for the financial year			

–
–

–
–

–
–

Balance at 31 December 2008			

–

–

–

2009:
Balance as at 1 January 2009			
Net result for the financial year			

–
–

–
–

–
–

Balance at 31 December 2009			

–

–

–

Notes to the financial statements are included in pages 111 – 112.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
				
				

2009
$

2008
$

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) Related to Operating Activities				

–

–

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) Related to Investing Activities				

–

–

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) Related to Financing Activities				

–

–

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year			
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of the Financial Year				

–
–

–
–

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Financial Year				

–

–

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 111 – 112.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2009
1. Summary of Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
This financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, accounting standards and
interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.
As the Company was dormant during the Financial year, the following accounting policies relate to that of Spark Infrastructure which will be applied
in the future when the Company becomes operational.
This financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. Cost is based on
the fair values of consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.
The financial statements comply with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance with A-IFRS
ensures that the financial statements and notes comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statement was authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 February 2010.
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current financial year and have affected the amounts
reported in these financial statements.
AASB 101 (revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
The revised Standard has introduced a number of terminology changes and has resulted in a number of changes in presentation and disclosure.
However, the revised Standard has had no impact on the reported results or financial position of the Company.
Standards Not Yet Effective
Certain standards, amendments and interpretations that are on issue but not yet effective have not been applied in the preparation of this report.
The principal standards that have not been applied in preparation of this report are:
• AASB 3 (revised 2008) “Business Combinations” and AASB 27 (revised 2008) “Consolidated and separate financial statements” – effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
As a consequence of the amendment to the above AASB, stapling arrangements such as Spark Infrastructure will be covered under the
standards. AASB Interpretation 1002 “Post-date of Transition Stapling Arrangements” will be superseded. As existing stapling arrangements
will not be impacted, there are no financial or disclosure implications for the Company.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations that are on issue are not likely to have a material impact on the Company.
Significant Accounting Policies
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of this report:
• Income Tax
Current Tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the
year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for current
and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).
Current and Deferred Tax
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited or debited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

2. Segment Information
During the current and the previous financial years the Company was dormant.

3. Share Capital
The authorised share capital of the Company is 5,000,000,000 shares of no par value. Of this, 1,031,911,394 shares have been issued to CHESS
Depositary Nominees Limited pursuant to an arrangement to issue CHESS Depositary Interests to the stapled security holders, which includes one
special voting share of no par value issued to Spark Infrastructure Management Limited (the Manager of the stapled entities). The special voting
share entitles its holder to various rights, which inter alia includes the right to appoint persons up to 50% of the maximum number of Directors
permitted under the constitution of the Company. Currently Spark Infrastructure Holdings International has only three Directors, Mr Stephen Johns,
Mr Andrew Hunter and Mr Timothy Keith. The Board composition of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International is of an interim nature and will be
reviewed once a decision is made to acquire offshore assets at which time the special voting share rights would come into operation.
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4.	Dividend
No dividends were declared or paid during the Financial Year (2008: Nil).

5.	Notes to the Statement of Cashflows
No notes have been presented to the Cash Flow Statement on the basis that the Company holds no cash and has not incurred any expenses in the
current or the preceding period.

6.	Financial Instruments
The Company has never traded and nor does it hold any financial instruments at the end of the financial year. Therefore, the Company has no risk
associated with financial instruments.

7.	Related Party Disclosures
(a)	Directors
The persons listed below were Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and as at the date of this report:
Mr Stephen Johns
Mr Andrew Hunter
Mr Timothy Keith
No remuneration was paid to the Directors of the Company during the Financial Year as the Company was dormant (2008: Nil).
(b) Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)
KMP are those having the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of an entity. The Directors meet the definition
of KMP. Since the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling activities has not been delegated to the Manager, there are no other
KMP in the Company. The Company has no employees.
(c)	Other Related Parties
The other related parties of the Company are primarily entities within Spark Infrastructure and their wholly owned subsidiaries. There were
no transactions with any other entity within Spark Infrastructure (2008: Nil).

8.	Remuneration of Auditors
No remuneration was paid to the auditors (2008: Nil) by the Company as the fee was borne by other entities within Spark Infrastructure.
The auditor of the Company is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

9.	Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
There were no material Contingent Liabilities or Contingent Assets as at 31 December 2009 which have not already been disclosed.

10. Subsequent Events
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than those referred to in the financial statements, or notes there to, that has arisen since the
end of the Financial Year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect, the operations of the Company, the results of these operations or
the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

11.	Company Information
The registered office of the Company is:
c/o MB & H Corporate Services
Mareva House
4 George Street
Nassau
Bahamas
The Company is incorporated in the Bahamas.

Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited

Directors’ Declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable;
(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including
compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Company and the
consolidated entity; and
(c) the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

S Johns				
Chairman				
		
Sydney
25 February 2010			

A Hunter
Director

25 February 2010
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auditor’s independence declaration
to the members of spark infrastructure holdings international limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited, which comprises the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2009, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes
in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the
directors’ declaration as set out on pages 107 to 113.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 31 December 2009 and of its performance for the year ended on that
date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in page 105 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009. The directors of the
company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Spark Infrastructure Holdings International Limited for the year ended 31 December 2009, complies with
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

S C Gustafson
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Sydney, 25 February 2010

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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ADDITIONAL ASX DISCLOSURES
ASX requires certain disclosures to be made in the annual report which are set out below.

Stapling
As a part of the usual conditions of listing a stapled structure ASX reserves the right to remove any or all of the Stapled Entities from the official
list if:
• any of the securities cease to be “stapled” to the securities of the other Stapled Entities; or
• any security is issued by any of the Stapled Entities which is not stapled to corresponding securities in the other Stapled Entities (other than the
special voting share for Spark Infrastructure Management Limited).

Securities issued to the Manager
ASX requires the disclosure of any securities issued to Spark Infrastructure Management Limited as management fees. No such securities have
been issued.

Divestment of securities
Certain provisions in the Stapled Entity constitutions permit the divestment of securities in limited circumstances. These are summarised below.
Designated Foreign Holders
In certain circumstances Spark Infrastructure may divest a foreign holder of their Stapled Securities. This may occur where Spark Infrastructure
wishes to issue or transfer a further security which is to be stapled to the already existing Stapled Securities (“New Attached Security”), but
the issue of the New Attached Security to certain foreign holders would be unreasonable in Spark Infrastructure’s opinion. In that case, rather
than issue New Attached Securities to those foreign holders, Spark Infrastructure may instead divest those foreign holders of their existing
Stapled Securities.
The circumstances under which Spark Infrastructure may cause New Attached Securities to be stapled to the existing Stapled Securities are
summarised at page 233 of the Prospectus/Product Disclosure Statement dated 18 November 2005.
The issue/transfer of a New Attached Security to a foreign holder may require compliance with legal and regulatory requirements in the foreign
jurisdiction. Subject to applicable ASIC relief, the provisions in the Stapled Entity constitutions relating to the stapling of securities provide that
Spark Infrastructure will have the ability to determine that a holder (whose address in the register is in a place other than Australia) is a Designated
Foreign Holder and divest that Designated Foreign Holder of their Stapled Securities where Spark Infrastructure determines that it is unreasonable
to issue or transfer New Attached Securities to such holders, having regard to the following criteria:
• the number of Designated Foreign Holders in the foreign place;
• the number and the value of New Attached Securities that may be transferred to the Designated Foreign Holders in the foreign place; and
• the cost of complying with legal requirements and the requirements of any relevant regulatory authority applicable to the transfer of the
New Attached Securities in the foreign place.
Where Designated Foreign Holders are divested of their Stapled Securities they will receive the proceeds of sale of those Stapled Securities
(net of transaction costs including without limitation any applicable brokerage, stamp duty and other taxes or charges) as soon as practicable after
the sale.
Stapled Securities are issued on terms under which each investor who is or becomes a Designated Foreign Holder agrees to the above terms
and irrevocably appoints each Stapled Entity as that holder’s agent and attorney to do all acts and things and execute all documents which Spark
Infrastructure considers necessary, desirable or reasonably incidental to effect the above actions.
Excluded US Persons
The Stapled Securities have not been, and will not be, registered under the US Securities Act and none of the Stapled Entities have been, or will
be, registered under the US Investment Company Act. Accordingly, the securities may not be offered, sold or resold in, the United States or to, or
for the account or benefit of US Persons except in accordance with an available exemption from, or a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the US Securities Act, the US Investment Company Act and applicable United States state securities laws. In order to at all times
qualify for the exemptions, the provisions of the Stapled Entity constitutions dealing with stapling of securities provide that where a holder is an
Excluded US Person:
• the Stapled Entities may refuse to register a transfer of Stapled Securities to that Excluded US Person; and
• the Excluded US Person may be requested to sell their Stapled Securities and if they fail to do so within 30 Business Days, to be divested of
their Stapled Securities and to receive the proceeds of sale (net of transaction costs including without limitation any applicable brokerage,
stamp duty and other taxes or charges) as soon as practicable after the sale.
In addition, the provisions in the Stapled Entity constitutions relating to the stapling of securities provide that a holder may be required to complete
a statutory declaration in relation to whether they (or any person on whose account or benefit it holds Stapled Securities) are an Excluded US
Person. Any holder who does not comply with such a request is an Excluded US Person.
Stapled Securities are issued on terms under which each holder who is or becomes an Excluded US Person agrees to the above terms and
irrevocably appoints each Stapled Entity as that holder’s agent and attorney to do all acts and things and execute all documents which Spark
Infrastructure considers necessary, desirable or reasonably incidental to effect the above actions.
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SECURITY HOLDER INFORMATION
Spark Infrastructure	Fully Paid Stapled Securities (Total) 31 Dec 2009
Top Holders Date Comparison - Ungrouped	Composition : Fpo
		
Rank Name

Units at
31 Dec 2009

% of
Units

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

142,430,279
117,258,803
96,071,473
88,035,479
47,544,755
31,808,528
21,421,071

13.80
11.36
9.31
8.53
4.61
3.08
2.08

21,275,829
15,228,600

2.06
1.48

10,609,333
9,257,264
9,077,821
8,588,000

1.03
0.90
0.88
0.83

7,058,147
6,595,208

0.68
0.64

6,381,876
6,019,765
4,138,184
3,715,734

0.62
0.58
0.40
0.36

3,167,170

0.31

Totals: Top 20 Holders Of Fully Paid Stapled Securities (Total)			 655,683,319

63.54

Total Remaining Holders Balance				 376,228,075

36.46

9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

Hsbc Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
National Nominees Limited
Cki Spark Holdings No Three Limited
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited
Deutsche Pm Nominees Pty Limited
Tasman Asset Management Ltd
<Tyndall Australian Share Whole>
Anz Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C>
Bond Street Custodians Limited
<Macq Interntl Inf Sec A/C>
Questor Financial Services Limited <Tps Rf A/C>
Anz Nominees Limited <Income Reinvest Plan A/C>
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited <Smp Accounts>
Rbc Dexia Investor Services Australia
Nominees Pty Limited <Gsjbw A/C>
Amp Life Limited
Rbc Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees
Pty Limited <Mlci A/C>
Queensland Investment Corporation
M F Custodians Ltd
Invia Custodian Pty Limited <Gsjbw Managed A/C>
Rbc Dexia Investor Services Australia
Nominees Pty Ltd <Piselect A/C>

Distribution on Holdings		
		
		

1 to
1,000

1,001 to
5,000

5,001 to
10,000

10,001 to
100,000

Holders		
Units		

1,032
6,475,552

5,605
18,473,263

4,940
39,970,968

7,935
209,619,910

100,001
or more	Total
352
763,199,701

19,864
1,031,911,394

	Number of shares
% Issued
Substantial Holders		Capital
Lazard (Institutional Group)
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited
Suncorp (Institutional Group)
Macquarie (Institutional Group)

119,765,246
88,035,479
70,053,921
61,965,197

11.61%
8.53%
6.79%
6.00%

Voting Rights
All Stapled Securities carry one vote per security except for the special voting share issued to Spark Infrastructure Management Limited which
allows it to appoint up to 50% of the maximum number of Directors permitted under the constitution of each Stapled entity.

corporate contact details
Registered Office
Spark Infrastructure
Level 6, 255 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000
Telephone: +612 9086 3600
Facsimile: +612 9086 3666
Email: info@sparkinfrastructure.com
Website: www.sparkinfrastructure.com

IN LINE

Chief Executive Officer
Laura Reed
Chief Financial Officer
Richard Francis
Investor Relations
Mario Falchoni

Security Registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street, Sydney NSW 2000
Postal Address: GPO Box 7045, Sydney NSW 2001
Telephone: (within Australia) 1300 855 080;
(outside Australia) 613 9415 4000
Facsimile: +613 8235 8150
Email: webqueries@computershare.com.au
Website: www.computershare.com
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Company Secretary
Alexandra Finley
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